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Board of Directors

Eczacıbaşı Holding Chairman 
Bülent Eczacıbaşı began his 
professional career in 1974, and 
held various positions in Eczacıbaşı 
Group companies. He also served 
in the management of a number of 
prominent business associations, 
including TÜSİAD, the Turkish Industry 
and Business Association, where 
he was Chairman of the Board 
(1991- 1993) and Chairman of the 
High Advisory Council (1997-2001); 
and the Turkish Pharmaceuticals 
Manufacturers’ Association (İEİS), 
where he was Chairman of the 
Board (2000-2008). He serves as 
chairman of several Eczacıbaşı 
Group companies. Bülent Eczacıbaşı 
continues to serve both TÜSİAD 
and İEİS as Honorary Chairman. 
He is also an Honorary Member of 
both the Foreign Economic Relations 
Board (DEİK) and Turkish Enterprise 
and Business Confederation 
(TÜRKONFED), and a member of 
the High Advisory Council of the 
Aegean Industry and Business 
Association (ESİAD).

Bülent Eczacıbaşı is also on the 
boards of various civic 
organizations. He is Chairman of 
the Board of Trustees of the 
Istanbul Modern Art Foundation, 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of the Istanbul Foundation for 
Culture and Arts (IKSV), and a 
member of the High Advisory Board 
of the Turkish Economic and Social 
Studies Foundation (TESEV), which 
he previously served as the 
Founding Chairman (1993-1997).

Bülent Eczacıbaşı graduated from 
the Department of Chemistry of the 
Imperial College of Science and 
Technology, London, and obtained 
his master’s degree in chemical 
engineering from the Massachusetts 
Institute of Technology. He has 
received French and Italian awards 
of merit, respectively the “Chevalier 
dans l'Ordre National de la Légion 
d'Honneur” and “Commendatore 
dell'Ordine della Stella d'Italia”. He 
is the author of "A Rip in the Sea: 
New Responsibilities for Business" 
(2020), a book about his experiences 
in business and the new roles and 
responsibilities of business leaders. 
Bülent Eczacıbaşı is also an avid 
photographer who loves to experience 
diverse cultures. A selection of 
photographs bearing witness to the 
people and stories he encountered 
during his travels was also published in 
2020 under the title "From the Road".

Faruk Eczacıbaşı began working 
in the Eczacıbaşı Group in 1980 
after completing his graduate 
work at Berlin Technical 
University, and for many years 
managed the Group’s 
e-transformation process.

Faruk Eczacıbaşı is President of 
the Turkish Informatics 
Foundation (TBV) which he 
co-founded in 1995. In this role, he 
contributes to the preparation of 
numerous studies on related 
issues as well as the shaping of 
public policy.

In 1996, Faruk Eczacıbaşı assumed 
his current position as Vice Chairman 
of the Eczacıbaşı Group. He serves 
as chairman or vice-chairman of 
several Eczacıbaşı Group companies. 
In 1999, he also became President 
of the Eczacıbaşı Sports Club.

Faruk Eczacıbaşı has written a 
book on the transformational 
changes taking place in Turkey 
and around the world as a result 
of new digital technologies. 
Published in Turkish in 2018, the 
book considers the challenges for 
individuals, institutions and 
societies, and discusses ways to 
prepare for the positive and 
negative aspects of the digital 
future.

Atalay Gümrah graduated from 
Galatasaray Lycée and Boğaziçi 
University’s Industrial Engineering 
Department. He received a master’s 
degree in Industrial Engineering 
from the same university.

Gümrah initiated his career in 1992 
at Ekom Eczacıbaşı Foreign Trade 
as Regional Manager. In 1994, he 
was appointed Commercial 
Manager of VitrA UK, and in 1997, 
General Manager of the Group’s 
newly established marketing and 
sales company in Russia, EBM 
Jsc., where he was given the 
responsibility of developing its 
business. In 1999, Gümrah joined 
Intema Building Materials 
Marketing and Sales, where he 
served respectively as Projects 
and Operation Manager, Sales 
Operation Manager, Assistant 
General Manager, and General 
Manager, a position he held 
between 2006 and 2011. In 
January 2011, he was appointed 
Vice President of the Eczacıbaşı 
Building Products Division 
(Bathrooms) and General Manager 
of Eczacıbaşı Building Products, 
and in October 2013, he was given 
the additional role of Executive 
Vice President of the Eczacıbaşı 
Building Products Division. A 
member of the Board of several 
Building Products Division 
companies, Gümrah was appointed 
CEO of the Eczacıbaşı Group 
e�ective as of 1 February 2017.

In addition to serving on the boards 
of several Eczacıbaşı Group 
companies, Gümrah is Chairman 
of the Clay, Ceramic, Cement and 
Glass Industry Employers’ 
Association of Turkey.

F. Bülent Eczacıbaşı R. Faruk Eczacıbaşı Atalay M. Gümrah



 

Seyfettin Sarıçam completed his 
BS in Industrial Engineering at 
Bosphorus University in 1995 and 
his MBA at New York University's 
Stern School of Business in 1999. 
 
Sarıçam started his career in the 
audit department of PwC's 
Istanbul o�ice in 1995, then 
moved into investment banking 
and advisory services. He has 
worked for JPMorgan Chase in 
New York and London o�ices as 
an Investment Banking Associate 
(1999-2001), the Istanbul-based 
corporate finance and advisory 
boutique Antika Partners as Vice 
President (2002-2006), and 
Merrill Lynch's Turkish Investment 
Banking department as Vice 
President (2006-2008) and 
Director (2008-2010). In 2010, 
Sarıçam joined Deutsche Bank’s 
Turkish Investment Banking 
department, where he became 
Head of Turkish Corporate 
Advisory in 2014. During this 
period, Sarıçam completed several 
M&As, divestitures, equity and 
bond o�erings, and financing 
transactions for corporates, private 
equity houses, and sovereign 
wealth funds in Turkey and abroad.

Sarıçam joined the Eczacıbaşı 
Group in July 2016 as Deputy 
Head of Strategic Planning and 
Finance at Eczacıbaşı Holding and 
became Head of Strategic 
Planning and Finance in October 
2016. In January 2019, he was 
appointed to his current post of 
Chief Financial O�icer. He serves 
on the boards of several 
Eczacıbaşı Group companies.

Born in Istanbul in 1946, Toker 
Alban completed his secondary 
education at Ankara College and 
his undergraduate degree in the 
Department of Finance and 
Economics of Ankara University’s 
Faculty of Political Sciences. 
Subsequently, he completed a 
postgraduate degree in 
economics at Oxford University.

Alban worked as an Economist 
and Project Specialist in the State 
Investment Bank from 1969 to 
1976 and as Education Manager, 
Assistant General Manager and 
Board Member of DESİYAB from 
1976 to 1980; he was also a 
member of the Board of Directors 
of Taksan and Testaş. In 1980, he 
joined the Eczacıbaşı Group as 
Planning and Budget Control 
Manager at Eczacıbaşı Seramik 
Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. Later, he 
moved to Eczacıbaşı Holding 
where he served respectively as 
Assistant Coordinator of the 
Building Products Division, 
Assistant General Manager, 
Planning and Finance Coordinator, 
and Head of the Strategic Planning 
and Finance Department. Alban 
retired in January 2009.

Toker Alban is an independent 
member of the Company’s and 
İntema Building Materials 
Marketing and Sales’ board of 
directors since April 2018.

Born in Çanakkale in 1954, Zühal 
Atanan completed her secondary 
education at Robert Academy, 
her undergraduate degree in 
Boğaziçi University’s Faculty of 
Administrative Sciences and 
continued her studies at the 
University of California, Berkeley, 
where she obtained an MBA.

Atanan started her business life as 
a planning specialist at Eczacıbaşı 
Holding A.Ş. Over the next 30 
years, she held numerous strategic 
planning positions at Eczacıbaşı 
Holding while also serving on the 
board of directors of various 
Eczacıbaşı Group companies. 
Atanan retired from her final post 
as Strategic Planning and Business 
Development Director in July 
2009.

Zühal Atanan is an independent 
member of the Company’s and 
İntema Building Materials Marketing 
and Sales’ board of directors since 
April 2018.

Seyfettin Sarıçam H. Toker Alban Zühal Atanan



 

Income Statement (TL Thousand)

Revenue

Gross Profit

Operating Profit

Depreciation and Amortization

Earnings Before Interest, Tax,
Depreciation and Amortization

Net Income for the Year

Balance Sheet (TL Thousand) 

Total Assets

Total Equity

Total Current Assets
 

Total Current Liabilities

Capital Expenditures

Liquidity Ratios

-Current Ratio

-Liquidity Ratio

Leverage Ratios
 
-Total Liabilities / Total Assets
 

-Total Equity / Total Assets

-Total Equity / Total Liabilities

Profitability Ratios

-Net Income for the Year / Total Equity

-Net Income for the Year / Total Assets

-Net Income for the Year / Revenue

 

2020             2019 2018 2017 2016

2020             2019 2018 2017 2016

2020             2019 2018 2017 2016

2020             2019 2018 2017 2016

2020             2019 2018 2017 2016

909,132         877,076 692,094 597,909 530,133

300,669        315,814 244,402 234,433 194,023

297,205         224,906 208,363 129,059 167,969

23,286  21,357 10,343 10,333 21,261

320,491          246,263 218,706 139,392 189,230

322,089          162,728 240,119 146,095 184,803

5,970,231    4,838,337 4,456,472 3,831,375 3,992,703

5,282,308   4,277,258 3,997,844  3,480,655 3,244,490

1,267,436     1,001,345 912,383  741,324 1,163,552

414,110       358,554 241,737 210,146 602,151

26,739 33,890 16,945 7,937 104,999

3.06  2.79 3.77 3.53 1.93

2.70  2.55 3.41 3.18 1.72

  0.12    0.12 0.10 0.09 0.19

 0.88             0.88 0.90 0.91 0.81

0.06           0.04 0.06 0.04 0.06

0.05           0.03 0.05 0.04 0.05

0.35           0.19 0.35 0.24 0.35

  7.68              7.62 8.72 9.92 4.34

Consolidated Financial Highlights



Health Real Estate Development

 

765,725

143,407

Operating Profit (TL Thousand)

Revenue (TL Thousand)

Revenue (TL Thousand)
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PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.  
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T: +90 212 326 6060, F: +90 212 326 6050, www.pwc.com.tr  Mersis Numaramız: 0-1460-0224-0500015 

CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT 
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 

To the General Assembly of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

1. Opinion

We have audited the annual report of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret 
A.Ş. (the “Company” or “EIS”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
1 January - 31 December 2020 period.

In our opinion, the financial information and the analysis made by the Board of Directors by using the 
information included in the audited financial statements regarding the Group’s position in the Board of 
Directors’ Annual Report are consistent and presented fairly, in all material respects, with the audited full 
set consolidated financial statements and with the information obtained in the course of independent 
audit. 

2. Basis for Opinion

Our independent audit was conducted in accordance with the Independent Standards on Auditing that are 
part of the Turkish Standards on Auditing (the “TSA”) issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and 
Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities in the Audit of the Board of Directors’ Annual Report section of our report. 
We hereby declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for 
Independent Auditors (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding independent audit in 
regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements. We have also fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and regulations. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a sufficient and appropriate basis 
for our opinion. 

3. Our Audit Opinion on the Full Set Consolidated Financial Statements

We expressed an unqualified opinion in the auditor’s report dated 26 February 2021 on the full set 
consolidated financial statements for the 1 January - 31 December 2020 period. 

4. Board of Director’s Responsibility for the Annual Report

The Group management’s responsibilities related to the annual report according to Articles 514 and 516 of 
Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and Capital Markets Board’s (“CMB”) Communiqué Serial II, 
No:14.1, “Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (the “Communiqué”) are as follows: 

a) to prepare the annual report within the first three months following the balance sheet date and
present it to the general assembly;

http://www.pwc.com.tr/


b) to prepare the annual report to reflect the Group’s operations in that year and the financial position

in a true, complete, straightforward, fair and proper manner in all respects. In this report financial

position is assessed in accordance with the financial statements. Also in the report, developments

and possible risks which the Group may encounter are clearly indicated. The assessments of the

Board of Directors in regards to these matters are also included in the report.

c) to include the matters below in the annual report:

- events of particular importance that occurred in the Company after the operating year,

- the Group’s research and development activities,

- financial benefits such as salaries, bonuses, premiums and allowances, travel,

accommodation and representation expenses, benefits in cash and in kind, insurance and

similar guarantees paid to members of the Board of Directors and senior management.

When preparing the annual report, the Board of Directors considers secondary legislation arrangements 

enacted by the Ministry of Trade and other relevant institutions. 

5. Independent Auditor’s Responsibility in the Audit of the Annual Report

Our aim is to express an opinion and issue a report comprising our opinion within the framework of TCC 

and Communiqué provisions regarding whether or not the financial information and the analysis made by 

the Board of Directors by using the information included in the audited financial statements in the annual 

report are consistent and presented fairly with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group 

and with the information we obtained in the course of independent audit. 

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the TSAs. These standards require that ethical requirements 

are complied with and that the independent audit is planned and performed in a way to obtain reasonable 

assurance of whether or not the financial information and the analysis made by the Board of Directors by 

using the information included in the audited financial statements in the annual report are consistent and 

presented fairly with the audited consolidated financial statements and with the information obtained in 

the course of audit. 

PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve 

Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 

Ediz Günsel, SMMM 

Partner 

Istanbul, 26 February 2021 
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Trade Name   : EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 
Trade Registration Number : Istanbul Trade Registry Office - 44943 
Contact Information  : Büyükdere Caddesi, Ali Kaya Sokak No: 5 Levent 34394, Istanbul 

Phone: (0212) 350 80 00 - 371 70 00  Fax: (0212) 371 73 99 
Website   : www.eis.com.tr, www.eczacibasi.com.tr  
Report Period  : 01.01.2020 - 31.12.2020 
 
EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (hereinafter referred to as "Eczacıbaşı 
İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar" or "Company") was established on 24th October 1951. The Company is not 
engaged in any actual manufacturing activity and it has a holding structure with its existing subsidiaries, business 
partnerships, and affiliates. As of 31 December 2020, the companies where the Company holds a direct interest in 
the capital, and shareholding ratios within such structure are shown in the table below: 
 

Trade Name Share Ratio  
(%) 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 99.92 
Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 99.49 
Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. 94.70 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 81.00 
Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 50.00 
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 37.28 
Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 26.36 
Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 25.00 
Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 11.21 

 
 
Capital and Shareholding Structure 
 
 31 December 2020  31 December 2019 
   Share Share  Share  Share 
Shareholder Ratio (%) Amount (TL)  Ratio (%)     Amount (TL) 
   

 
  Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.    50.62     346,845,460     50.62     346,845,460 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş.    29.69     203,484,584     29.67     203,294,584 
Other (the public portion) (*)    19.69     134,929,955     19.72     135,119,955 
      

Total      100.00  685,260,000          100.00        685,260,000 
 
(*)  According to the data dated 31 December 2020 reported by Central Registry Agency (CRA), outstanding 

share percentage is 19.68% (31 December 2019: 19.70%) of the Company's capital. 
 
The issued capital of the Company has been divided into 68,526,000,000 shares with a nominal value of 1 (one) 
kurus. All shares are bearer shares. There is no privileged share and each share has one voting right. The company 
has not acquired its own shares. 
 
The company's registered capital is TL 1,920,000,000, and the permission for the registered capital ceiling granted 
by the Capital Markets Board is valid from 2020 to 2024. 
 
 
Amendments made in the articles of association during the year and their reasons  
 
 At its meeting dated January 13, 2020, our Board of Directors resolved that the validity period for our 

Company's registered capital ceiling be extended and set as the period from 2020 to 2024, necessary 
applications be filed with the Capital Markets Board and Republic of Turkey Ministry of Commerce for 
amendment of article 7 of the Articles of Association entitled "Registered Capital" be changed as per the 
amendment text below, and following receipt of the said permits and approvals, the amendment to the 
Articles of Association be submitted to shareholders for approval at the next General Assembly meeting.  
 

http://www.eis.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
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Accordingly, the application made on 16 January 2020 for the amendment in the articles of association was 
approved with the letter number 29833736-110.04.04-E.1022 dated 23 January 2020 by the Capital Markets 
Board, and permission was obtained with the letter number 50035491-431.02-E-00051827625 dated 29 
January 2020 by the Ministry of Trade of the Republic of Turkey. At the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting of our Company held on 9 April 2020, it was approved and decided to amend the article 7 entitled 
"Registered Capital" of the Articles of Association according to the following amendment text. The 
amendment to the articles of association was announced in Turkish Trade Registry Gazette dated 29 April 
2020 and numbered 10068.   

 
The former and new versions of the amended article in the articles of association are as follows: 
 

FORMER TEXT NEW TEXT 

ARTICLE 7 – REGISTERED CAPITAL  
The Company preferred the registered capital system according to 
the provisions of the Capital Markets Law, and passed on to this 
system with the permission number 333 dated 16.5.1991 by the 
Capital Markets Board. 

The registered capital of the Company is TL 1,920,000,000 (one 
billion and nine hundred and twenty million) and is divided into 
192,000,000,000 shares with a nominal value of 1 (one) kurus each. 

The permission given by the Capital Markets Board for the registered 
capital ceiling is valid for 2016-2020 (for 5 years). Even if the 
permitted registered capital ceiling is not achieved at the end of 2020, 
it is compulsory for the Board of Directors to get permission from the 
general assembly for a new period not more than 5 years by means 
of getting permission from the Capital Markets Board for the ceiling 
permitted before or for a new ceiling amount, in order to decide on 
capital increase after 2020. Where the mentioned permission is not 
obtained, capital increase cannot be performed with the decision of 
the board of directors. 

The Company’s issued capital of TL 685,260,000 (six hundred eighty-
five million and two hundred sixty thousand) was totally paid in cash 
free from collusion. 

The issued capital of the Company has been divided into 
68,526,000,000 shares each with a nominal value of 1 kurus; and all 
these shares are bearer shares. 

The shares representing the capital are tracked in dematerialized 
form in accordance with dematerialization principles. 

The capital of the Company can be increased or decreased 
according to the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code and the 
Capital Market Code, when necessary. 

The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the issued capital 
where deemed necessary by issuing new shares up to the registered 
capital ceiling in accordance with the provisions of the Capital 
Markets Law, and to decide on to limit the rights of the shareholders 
to obtain new shares and to issue premium share and to issue share 
under the nominal value. The authorization to limit the rights of 
obtaining new shares cannot be used in a way to cause inequality 
among the shareholders. 

ARTICLE 7 – REGISTERED CAPITAL  
The Company preferred the registered capital system according to 
the provisions of the Capital Markets Law, and passed on to this 
system with the permission number 333 dated 16.5.1991 by the 
Capital Markets Board. 

The registered capital of the Company is TL 1,920,000,000 (one 
billion and nine hundred and twenty million) and is divided into 
192,000,000,000 shares with a nominal value of 1 (one) kurus each. 

The permission given by the Capital Markets Board for the registered 
capital ceiling is valid for 2020-2024 (for 5 years). Even if the 
permitted registered capital ceiling is not achieved at the end of 2024, 
it is compulsory for the Board of Directors to get permission from the 
general assembly for a new period not more than 5 years by means 
of getting permission from the Capital Markets Board for the ceiling 
permitted before or for a new ceiling amount, in order to decide on 
capital increase after 2024. Where the mentioned permission is not 
obtained, capital increase cannot be performed with the decision of 
the board of directors. 

The Company’s issued capital of TL 685,260,000 (six hundred eighty-
five million and two hundred sixty thousand) was totally paid in cash 
free from collusion. 

The issued capital of the Company has been divided into 
68,526,000,000 shares each with a nominal value of 1 kurus; and all 
these shares are bearer shares. 

The shares representing the capital are tracked in dematerialized 
form in accordance with dematerialization principles. 

The capital of the Company can be increased or decreased 
according to the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code and the 
Capital Market Code, when necessary. 

The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the issued capital 
where deemed necessary by issuing new shares up to the registered 
capital ceiling in accordance with the provisions of the Capital 
Markets Law, and to decide on to limit the rights of the shareholders 
to obtain new shares and to issue premium share and to issue share 
under the nominal value. The authorization to limit the rights of 
obtaining new shares cannot be used in a way to cause inequality 
among the shareholders. 

 
 
Board of Directors 
 

Name & Surname Position Start Date of 
Taking Office (*) 

Status of 
Independency 

F. Bülent Eczacıbaşı Chairman of the Board of Directors 9 April 2020 - 
R. Faruk Eczacıbaşı Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 9 April 2020 - 
Seyfettin Sarıçam Member 9 April 2020 - 
Atalay M. Gümrah Member 9 April 2020 - 
H. Toker Alban Member 9 April 2020 Independent Member 
Zühal Atanan Member 9 April 2020 Independent Member 

 

(*)  The Board of Directors was elected to be in charge for one year during the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting dated 9 April 2020, and will hold the office until the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting where 
operations of the year 2020 are to be discussed. 
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 The members of the Board of Directors did not take any action against the prohibition of competition within 
the period of January 1st – December 31st, 2020. 
 

 The information on the Board committees, the working principles of the committees, the assessment of the 
Board of Directors related to the activity of the committees, positions held by the Board members outside the 
Company, and the benefits provided to the Board members and senior managers is provided on pages 8 - 13 
of the section Corporate Governance of this annual report. 
 

Changes made in the senior management during the year and names, surnames and 
professional experiences of those still in the office 

 
 Canan Bademlioğlu, General Manager of our Company, left the office on 31 March 2020. Pursuant to the 

resolution made during the meeting of our Board of Directors held on 11 March 2020, the office of the 
General Manager has been carried out by proxy by Müge Satır, the General Manager of EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç 
Pazarlama A.Ş. (EİP), as of 1 April 2020 until a new appointment. 

 

Müge Satır graduated from Istanbul Boy's High School in 1987, and from the Industrial Engineering 
Department of Boğaziçi University in 1991. She started her career as Production Planning Specialist in 
Birleşik Alman İlaç A.Ş. in 1992. Her career at Eczacıbaşı that started in Eczacıbaşı-Baxter in 1996 
continued in the offices of Chief of Production Services, Product Manager, and Specialist Product Manager 
until 2006 in the same company. Having started working as Specialist Product Manager at EİP in 2006, 
Müge Satır served as Istanbul Regional Manager, Marketing Manager, Sales and Marketing Manager and 
Sales and Marketing Director of Healthcare Products at EİP. Müge Satır who has been acting as the General 
Manager of the Company and EİP by proxy since April 2020 has been appointed as the General Manager of 
EİP on 1 October 2020. 
 

Personnel and worker movements, collective contract applications, rights and benefits 
provided to personnel and workers 
 
The company's total number of personnel as of 31 December 2020 is 9 (31 December 2019: 11) and all of them 
are subject to the Labor Law. There are no collective labor agreement practices applicable. The wages and rights 
of the employees should be determined in accordance with the relevant legislation and the internal regulations of 
Eczacıbaşı Group. In this framework, the employees have the opportunity to participate in training and career 
programs suitable for their personal and professional development in addition to the benefits they might have 
according to their positions, such as private health and life insurance, clothing, relocation and meal benefits, 
marriage, birth-death, and child benefits. The organizational structure of the Company includes Business 
Development, Capital Market Relations and Financial Control, Accounting and Finance Departments affiliated 
with the Head Office. 
 
Financial information 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Liquidity Ratios 
 

 Current Ratio 3.06 2.79 
 Liquidity Ratio 2.70  2.55 
 
Ratios Related to Financial Position 
 

 Total Liabilities / Total Assets 0.12 0.12 
 Consolidated Equity / Total Assets 0.88 0.88 
 Consolidated Equity / Total Liabilities 7.68 7.62 
 
Profitability Ratios 
 

 Net Profit for the Year / Consolidated Equity 0.06 0.04 
 Net Profit for the Year / Total Assets 0.05 0.03 
 Net Profit for the Year / Revenue 0.35 0.19 
 
As of the end of 2020, BIST 100 Index appreciated by 29.06%, BIST Holding and Investment Index appreciated 
by 28.86%; Company shares traded at BIST with ECILC recorded an increase by 101.08% during the same period. 
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Finance sources of the organization 
 
As of December 31st, 2020, Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar does not have loan outstanding. In the 
actual state, the cash assets corresponding to a significant part of the net financial assets are composed of Euro, 
USD and Turkish Lira. The Company completed 2020 with a cash portfolio of 51% in Euro, 41% in USD and 8% 
in Turkish Lira. No capital market instrument has been issued during the year. 
 
 
Investment policy applied by the organization in order to strengthen its performance 
 
The Company has established its investment policy as engaging in investment activities for the purpose of growth 
in healthcare and real estate development sectors. 

 
 

Information related to donations made during the year 
 
As of December 31st, 2020, the consolidated amount is TL 317 thousand (December 31st, 2019: TL 658 thousand) 
for the donations made to public benefit associations and foundations, to universities, to healthcare organizations 
and institutions, to organizations pursuing public service goal in order to promote and support social, scientific, 
artistic and other activities that are helpful for the country, and to annexed budget provincial private 
administrations and to similar institutions.  

 
 

Milestones during the period from the closing of the accounting period to the 
announcement date of the relevant financial statements 

 
 At the Board of Directors meeting of EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş.'nin (“EİP”), our subsidiary, dated 5 

February 2021, the Distribution Agreement made in 2016 with Baxter Group that includes exclusivity 
expired in 2021 and Baxter Group notified EİP of its intention to carry on the relevant line of business within 
its own structure. In the healthcare sector, within framework of developments experienced especially within 
framework of Covid-19 pandemic that affected the entire world and expectations related to development of 
the sector, the aforesaid request of Baxter Group and other strategic options have been considered and, in this 
context, it has been resolved that the business of hospital products distribution carried out by EİP be 
discontinued and, with regards to transfer of certain assets associated with the hospital products to Baxter 
Turkey Renal Hizmetler A.Ş. (“Baxter Turkey”), an Asset Acquisition and Transfer Agreement be entered 
into by and between EİP and Baxter Turkey on 5 February 2021.  

 
Pursuant to the relevant Asset Acquisition and Transfer Agreement, it has been resolved that Baxter Turkey 
shall pay to EİP: 

 

- For transfer of assets excluding inventory and fixed assets included in the relevant line of business, 
US$3.7 million + VAT on 3 May 2021, the next business day following 1 May 2021 (“Date of Transfer”), 

- For transfer of inventory and fixed assets included in the relevant line of business, the amount to be 
calculated in TL with the counting to be performed before the Date of Transfer which is to be converted 
into USD over the USD/TL buying exchange rate of the Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey effective 
on the date of counting 180 days after the Date of Transfer, 

- The additional performance fee to be ascertained based on the net turnover to be generated by the relevant 
line of business in 2021 which may not be in excess of US$550,000 by no later than 31 January 2022.  
 

Employment contracts of those employees within scope of the line of business to be transferred shall be 
transferred to Baxter Turkey along with all of their rights and obligations. An application for permit 
associated with the transfer shall be filed with the Competition Authority. 

 
 At the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. held on 20 January 2021, it was 

resolved that dividend amounting to TL 130,546 thousand be distributed (the share payable by Company for 
such dividend is TL 48,669 thousand), and the said amount was paid to the Company on 21 January 2021. 
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Other Information 
 

Information on the Company's Research and Development activities 
The Company does not have any R&D activity. 

 
Explanations regarding special audit and public audit 
No public and private audit associated with the activity period was conducted. 
 
Information on the legislative changes that may significantly affect the Company's activities 
Throughout the year, no legislative change that might significantly affect the Company's activities took place.  
 
Information about lawsuits instituted against the Company likely to affect the financial position and 
activities of the Company and possible results thereof 
There is no lawsuit instituted against the Company likely to affect our financial position and activities. 
 
Explanations regarding administrative or judicial sanctions imposed on the Company and members of the 
managing body due to such practices contrary to the legislation provisions 
There is no administrative or legal sanction imposed against the Company and the members of the managing body 
due to such practices contrary to the legislation provisions. 
 
Information on the Company's conflicts of interest with the organizations from which it gets services such 
as investment consultancy and rating services, and the measures taken to prevent the same 
During the 2020 accounting period, no service was received on investment consultancy and rating. 
 
Information related to shares within the main partnership capital of the entities in the Group  
The Company possesses 37.28% of the shares in our main shareholder Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., which holds 
50.62% of the shares in our capital. Our Company does not have any directive effect or control over the 
organization and management policies of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. votes at our general 
assembly but our Company does not vote at the general assembly of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 
 
If requested by one of the members of the managing body, the conclusion section of the report stipulated in 
Paragraph 4, Article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code 
No such request has been made by the members of the managing body. 
 
Affiliated Company Report 
Upon the Resolution of our Board of Directors numbered 6 and dated February 24th, 2021, the report dated 
February 24th, 2021 which was issued, in accordance with the article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code number 
6102, within the first three months of the activity year regarding the relations of our Company with its controlling 
partner and subsidiaries of the controlling partner was assessed according to the situations and conditions known 
by us and within this scope, the commercial relations of our Company during the previous activity year with its 
controlling partner Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. and the subsidiaries of the controlling partner were examined in detail 
and it was concluded that during the previous activity year, there was no transaction made with the controlling 
company or subsidiaries of the controlling company, upon instruction by the controlling company or in favor of 
the controlling company or a subsidiary of the controlling company, or that during the previous year, there was no 
precaution taken or avoided from being taken in favor of the controlling company or of a subsidiary of the 
controlling company; that the transactions made were performed in compliance with the commercial conditions 
and on arm's length principle; and that for this reason, there was no precaution that might cause loss on our 
Company, which was taken or avoided from being taken, and that there was no transaction or precaution to require 
offsetting.  
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In case the company directly or indirectly owns an amount of  shares representing 5, 10, 20, 25, 33, 50, 67 or 
100% of the capital of a capital stock company or if its shares fall under these percentages, this situation 
and the reasons thereof 
 

Within the limitations determined in the Turkish Commercial Code, in 2020:  
 

 Changes occurred in participation rates of the financial fixed assets in which the Company directly participates, 
and reasons thereof: 

 
 
 

Direct Shareholding  
Ratio (%) Remarks 

  Trade Name of Partnership Owned 2020 2019  
Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (1) 81.00 83.99 Sales 
Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. (2) - 0.35 Sales 

  
(1) In accordance with the resolution made at the meeting of our Board of Directors held on 27 October 2020 

and within the framework of the undertaking specified in the Amendment Protocol dated 31 October 
2017, the share transfer agreement dated 27 October 2020 was signed by and between Eczacıbaşı Group 
and Bozlu Group, upon the request of Bozlu Group to purchase 525,000 shares corresponding to 3% of 
the capital of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler. Within the scope of the share transfer agreement in 
question, the share transfer was realized by Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. by selling its 294 shares 
corresponding to 0.00168% of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler's capital, by EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç 
Pazarlama A.Ş. by selling its 294 shares corresponding to 0.00168% of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer 
Ürünler's capital, and by our Company by selling its 524,412 shares representing 2.99664% of Eczacıbaşı 
Monrol Nükleer Ürünler's capital to Bozlu Group for the sales prices of 759,846.55 Euros in total (the 
amount falling to our Company's share was 758,995.53 Euros) that was calculated according to the 
principles of the "Amendment Protocol". Information related to the said transactions was announced with 
our Public Disclosure Platform (KAP) dated 27 October 2020.  

  
(2) At its meeting dated 2 March 2020, our Board of Directors signed a Share Sale Agreement for sale to 

Şahin Nail of all shares owned by our Company, EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. (EİP), and 
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (100%) in the paid up capital of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. amounting to 
TL 3,450 thousand, where Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. holds %54,65 stake, EİP that is one of our 
subsidiaries holds 45% stake, and our Company holds 0.35% stake, in return for TL 630 thousand. Share 
transfer transactions were completed as of 2 March 2020 and the entire share transfer amount was 
collected in cash. 

 
 Changes occurred in participation rates of the financial fixed assets in which the Company indirectly 

participates, and reasons thereof:  
 
Not applicable. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT and INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITIES 
 
Internal Control System and Internal Audit  
 
Internal Control is the system which ensures that processes and transactions are performed within framework of 
relevant legislation and rules in accordance with the management strategy and policies, errors, frauds and 
irregularities are detected and avoided, account and record order can be rendered integral and reliable, information 
in the data system can be obtained in a timely and accurate fashion. The internal control system has been designed 
to provide reasonable assurance in terms of effectiveness and efficiency of activities, reliability of reporting as 
well as achieving objectives of compliance with the relevant legislation.  
 
Elements within the flow of business processes, including standard definitions, tasks and responsibilities, 
authorizations, policies and procedures, constitute the Internal Control System. Internal control systems including 
information systems and risk management are subjected to assessment within scope of internal audit activities and 
their efficiency is checked. 
 
At Eczacıbaşı Grup (Group), the internal audit activities have been structured under the roof of Eczacıbaşı Holding 
A.Ş., the parent company, with direct reports to the Board of Directors. Presidency of Audit Board, under the roof 
of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., caries out an independent and objective assurance and consultancy activity within 
framework of improving activities of the group's companies and add value to them. Within framework of the 
internal audit activity, effectiveness of companies' risk management, control and governance processes is 
considered and achievement of strategic targets through a systematic and disciplined approach in order to improve 
them. The Presidency of Audit Board audit those companies consolidated from the standpoint of financial, 
operational and compliance dimensions according to priorities established within framework of annual audit plans 
prepared on a risk basis. The Audit Board works in coordination with the audit committees established in public 
companies of Eczacıbaşı Group. 
 
The Committee responsible for the Audit is responsible for the accounting system, public disclosure of financial 
data, identification of the independent audit company, operation and effectiveness of the internal control system, 
and observation of the independent audit processes. The Committee monitored the accounting and internal control 
systems, independent audit and financial reporting processes, and encountered no irregular finding and concluded 
that operations were carried out properly.  
 
In addition to the duties conducted by the Audit Committee, the legal records of the affiliate companies, the 
business partnerships and the subsidiaries included within consolidation are quarterly controlled by the Certified 
Public Accountancy company in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code, the Uniform Accounting Plan 
and in terms of Tax Legislation. In addition, compliance with the Capital Markets Board legislation and the 
Turkish Accounting Standards published by the Public Oversight, Accounting and Audit Standards Authority of 
the financial statements for March, June and September and of the annual financial statements issued for 
consolidation by the companies included in consolidation are analyzed and audited by the independent audit 
company.  
 
Risk Management 
 
At Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar, risk management is dealt with a holistic perspective, considering 
it's a part of activities. Operations are performed to identify, assess, monitor any potential risk elements that may 
affect the Company's achieving short, medium and long term targets, pose a threat to its development and 
sustainability and to manage respective risks in accordance with the Company's risk-taking profile. 
 
The Corporate Risk Management unit, formed within the structure of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş Group Directorate 
of Financial Affairs and Financing to coordinate risk management activities of Eczacıbaşı Group, works in 
coordination with the Committee of Early Detection of Risk established at public companies. In the Eczacıbaşı 
Group, the Corporate Risk Management process has been designed in accordance with international standards in 
order to bring a structural perspective on an organizational basis. 
 
Corporate Risk Management is the management process that determines which risks should be managed to what 
extent in line with the determined goals and objectives and ensures that necessary actions are taken, reviewed and 
reported. In this way, it is possible to create a risk-oriented culture at all levels of the Company, to reduce the 
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variability in revenues by avoiding events that can seriously harm the Company's value and thus to support 
sustainable growth. 
 
The primary risks incurred by the Company are monitored under two main categories as financial risks (foreign 
exchange, interest, liquidity and credit) and nonfinancial risks (strategic, operational, compliance and 
sustainability). 
 
Financial Risks 
 
The company focuses on minimizing the effects of fluctuation in markets and probable negative results on the 
financial performance in order to manage various financial risks it may be exposed to as a result of its activities 
and/or financial position. 
 
The financial risks any positive or negative influence on financial outcomes of the organization caused by 
instability in the markets such as exchange rate, interest, etc. In addition to these risks, liquidity risk and credit risk 
are also other financial risks that may play a role in deterioration of stability of the financial structure of the 
organization. The financial risks are analyzed under four titles as follows: foreign exchange risk, interest risk, 
liquidity risk, and credit risk. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
This refers to the risks arising from any financial or operational transactions in foreign currency of the Company 
where the company has assets, liabilities and off-the-balance-sheet liabilities in foreign currency. These risks are 
monitored by analyzing using exchange position and controlled by keeping the amount exposed to exchange risk 
within defined limits. 
 
In order to manage foreign currency risk effectively, following sensitivity analyses and scenario studies, hedging 
transactions are made in accordance with the risk appetite and determined policies and limits. In addition, the 
market expectations are constantly followed in order to make the cash and credit portfolio of the Company be 
affected from the foreign exchange movements at a minimum level, and the portfolios are dynamically managed 
depending on the up-to-date data. 
 
Interest risk 
Interest risk is is the effect that can be created by the change in interests on financial results of the Company in the 
event of assets and liabilities sensitive to the interest rate. The Company primarily manages this risk by balancing 
its interest sensitive forward receivables and forward debts using natural precautions. 
 
The decision is made to get loans as short or long interest, fixed or floating interest rate depending on the market 
expectations of the organization and on its pre-determined risk limits. In addition, duration calculations and 
sensitivity analyses are used in the management of the interest rate risk that the Company is exposed to, and 
derivative financial instruments are used when necessary, by preferring institutions that offer more favorable 
financing conditions. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may not fulfill its net funding obligations due to occurrence of events 
giving rise to the reduction of fund resources, such as deterioration of markets or rating downgrades.  
 
The liquidity risk management consists of the ability to provide cash and assets convertible into cash, securities of 
sufficient amount, provide funding through sufficient credit facilities and resource diversification and close short 
positions. The Company has aimed for flexibility in the funding through rendering the loan channels ready due to 
the dynamic nature of the business environment.  
 
Liquidity risk is managed by monitoring credit usage, repayments, and cash flow projections and considering 
financial soundness indicators. The financial structure of the Company is analyzed by the indicators such as 
current ratio, liquidity ratio, total debt/total assets, NFB/equity, capability of the organization to pay interest, etc., 
and assessed, and actions are taken related to the working capital management as a result of the assessment. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of one party, involved in a commercial relation, suffering a financial loss as a result of the 
failure of the other party to fulfill its obligations related to a financial instrument. The Company's priority in the 
management of this risk is to distribute the value exposed to credit risk in a balanced and manageable manner.  
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These risks are managed with credit rating studies based on historical data, inquiry studies, limiting the 
concentration on a single business partner within the total portfolio, and assurance structure to be applied for 
customers. Risk positions are constantly monitored by conducting detailed customer analyses and it is ensured that 
receivables are insured within the determined operation limits. 
 
Nonfinancial Risks 
 
In addition to controlling financial risks, following non-financial risks are strategic, compliance and sustainability 
risks. 
 
Strategic risks 
Structural risks that may prevent the Company from reaching its short, medium and long term goals are evaluated 
under this heading. Strategic risks are addressed as fluctuations in the demand for products and services, changes 
in the market shares, market risks arising from the developments that may affect competition, brand and reputation 
risks, economic and political risks, governance risks such as business model, value chain, investment decisions, 
risks related to innovation and transformation, such as technological advances, product and business development.  
 
Strategic risks are managed with a rational and cautious risk management approach, keeping the balance of growth 
and returns at the optimum level and primarily considering long-term interests. In this context, necessary proactive 
measures are taken against potential risks with sectoral and geographical diversification, long-term dynamic 
portfolio management, feasibility studies regarding investment decisions, close monitoring of macro developments 
and market dynamics, and determination of innovative strategies in the fields of innovation and transformation. 
 
Operational risks 
Operational risks consist of risks affecting operations, arising from incidents that can cause business interruptions 
such as earthquake, fire, work or environmental health and safety, problems in information technology or 
infrastructure systems, management of business processes and interruptions in internal controls, employees, etc.  
 
These risks are mitigated with the effective human resources management and the investments in technological 
infrastructure; and the coverable risks are frequently reviewed, covered based on a benefit and cost analysis, and 
transferred to the outside of the Company. Also, the Company processes and systems are periodically checked and 
audited against operational risks. 
 
The Company attaches utmost importance to ensuring continuity of all business processes and corporate 
operations in order to provide the highest possible value to its stakeholders. 
 
Compliance risks 
Compliance risks refer to legal sanctions and loss of image, reputation, material losses, etc. that may be 
encountered in case of non-compliance with all applicable laws, other legal regulations and legislations, codes of 
conduct, and defined rules such as internal policies and regulations that are part of corporate governance.  
 
Amendments to legislations, lawsuits the company is a party to, possible legal disputes, competition rules, 
compliance with tax, customs and other legislations and all risks associated with them are effectively managed 
with coordination of relevant units within the Company and Community. 
 
Sustainability risks 
The Company has adopted Eczacıbaşı Group's  holistic sustainability approach that focuses on balancing the 
business world and the needs of human life with the sustainability of natural resources.  
 
The Group intends to carry out planning from today to the future with its economic, environmental and social 
dimensions within the framework of its holistic sustainable development approach. In this context; in all 
Eczacıbaşı Group companies, management of sustainability risks including natural disasters, extraordinary 
weather events, climate change, biodiversity, efficient use of natural resources, recovery and cyclical economy, 
employee rights and equal opportunities, contribution to the stakeholder economy and sustainable economic 
growth is conducted effectively. Also, important risks such as occupational safety and reliability, product and 
service responsibility, innovation, business ethics, legal compliance, fight with bribery and corruption are handled 
within scope of sustainability risk management studies due to their economic, social and environmental 
dimensions apart from their effects on strategic, operational and compliance risks. 
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Assessment of the activities of 1 January - 31 December 2020 period 
 
Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar has a kind of holding structure and it engages in real estate 
development activities within such structure and runs its operations in the following sectors through its 
subsidiaries, business partnerships and affiliates. Therefore, the Company's disclosures under this Article have 
been made on a sector basis, and the details of companies operating in these sectors are shown below on a sector 
and market basis: 
 
Sector/Market of Activity Corporate Name 
 
Healthcare Sector 
Reference and generic pharmaceuticals market EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 
  Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. 
Hospital products market Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 
Nuclear medicine sector  Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (i) 
  Monrol Europe SRL 
  Monrol Egypt for Manufacturing LLC 
  Radiopharma Egypt (S.A.E) 
  Monrol Bulgaria LTD 
  Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nuclear Products Industry & Trade Co - Jordan 
  Monrol MENA LTD 
  Monrol Gulf DMCC 
  HSM Consulting LTD 
Healthcare services  Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. (ii) 
 
Real Estate Activities 
Kanyon   (iii) 
Ormanada Project 
Real estate development  Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 
 
Other 
Ceramic coating market  Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 
Exportation services   Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 

  
 

i) Within the scope of the "Amendment Protocol" that was issued to amend the "Partnership Agreement", 
concluded by the partners of our business partner Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret 
A.Ş.’nin (Eczacıbaşı-Monrol), and that entered into force on 31.10.2017:  
 

-  Following the capital increase of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol, as of 31.10.2017, 84% of its capital is owned by 
Eczacıbaşı Group (83.996% by our company, 0.002% by Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., and 0.002% by EİP 
Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş.) and 16% of its capital is owned by Bozlu Group (Şükrü Bozluolçay and 
Uğur Bozluolçay). 

 

- Eczacıbaşı Group "undertook" to sell shares corresponding to 9% of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol’s capital to Bozlu 
Group (in a manner increasing shareholding percentage at Eczacıbaşı-Monrol to 25%) within 5 years 
following the registration date of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol at the General Assembly (registered on 03.11.2017), 
and Bozlu Group also "undertook" to purchase, within 5 years following the registration date at the 
General Assembly, shares corresponding to 9% of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol’s capital from Eczacıbaşı. 

 

- Within the framework of the "undertaking" specified in the Amendment Protocol, the share transfer 
agreement dated 27 October 2020 was signed by and between Eczacıbaşı Group and Bozlu Group, upon 
the request of Bozlu Group to purchase, at the first stage, 525,000 shares corresponding to 3% of 
Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's capital.  

 

- Within the scope of the share transfer agreement dated 27 October 2020, the share transfer was realized 
by Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. by selling its 294 shares corresponding to 0.00168% of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's 
capital, by EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. by selling its 294 shares corresponding to 0.00168% of 
Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's capital, and by our Company by selling its 524,412 shares representing 2.99664% of 
Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's capital to Bozlu Group for the sales prices of 759,846.55 Euros in total (the amount 
falling to our Company's share was 758,995.53 Euros) that was calculated according to the principles of 
the "Amendment Protocol". 
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Following the sales, 81% of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's capital entered into the possession of our Company and 
19% of it entered into the possession of Bozlu Group. There has been no change in the existing membership 
structure of the Board of Directors of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol following the share transfer. 
 

ii)    At its meeting dated 2 March 2020, our Board of Directors signed a Share Sale Agreement for sale to Şahin 
Nail of all shares owned by our Company, EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. (EİP), and Eczacıbaşı Holding 
A.Ş. (100%) in the paid up capital of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. amounting to TL 3,450 thousand, 
where Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. holds %54.65 stake, EİP that is one of our subsidiaries holds 45% stake, and 
our Company holds 0.35% stake, in return for TL 630 thousand. Share transfer transactions were completed 
as of 2 March 2020 and the entire share transfer amount was collected in cash.  

 
iii)    This means the entire Kanyon Office Block and the half of the Shopping Mall. 
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Analysis and assessment of the management regarding the financial status and operation 
results, the degree of realization of the planned operations, the Company's status in terms 
of the set strategic goals  
 
While case numbers of coronavirus are increasing rapidly around the world, with regards to vaccination efforts, 
start of the vaccination process around the world, especially in EU states and the USA, positively affected 
expectations associated with the period to come. IMF revised global growth estimation for 2020 upwards based on 
a more positive than expected recovery process in the global economic activity that was recorded during the 
second half of the year, whereas it draws attention to the fact that economic recovery and vaccination process vary 
depending on the country. Due to the coronavirus outbreak's effect, the US economy shrank by 3.5% and Euro 
Zone economy shrank by 6.8% in 2020. In the Zone where announced leading indicators present a complicated 
outlook for the economic activity, introduction of additional restrictions aimed at avoiding spread of new 
coronavirus paves the way for uncertainty. 
 
In Turkey which is expected to be one of the few countries that complete the past year with a positive growth 
performance, limited though, leading indicators related to January indicate that the economic recovery is ongoing. 
Annual CPI inflation reached its highest level at end of 2020, with 14.6% since August 2019, whereas the inflation 
is expected to start a downfall trend in the second half of the next year based on the assumption that CBRT is to 
retain its tight money policy stance and a relatively stable outlook s to be effective in the financial markets. In the 
upcoming period, progress of the vaccination process and measures taken within scope of the pandemic will be 
decisive on the economic activity both domestically and globally. 
 
In Turkish pharmaceutical market, during the first 9 months of 2020, 1.62 billion boxes were sold, notably at the 
hospital and pharmacy channel, with a downsizing by 7.1%. When looking into average price level per box, in 
2020, an increase by 26.4% was recorded when compared to the first 9 months of 2019. Periodical euro value 
based on which drug prices are determined increased by 12.1% in February 2020. Adverse effects of the pandemic 
were felt in the pharmaceutical market in our country, as is the case with the rest of the world, and volumetric 
reduction in drugs available at the existing portfolio led to downsizing. 
 
EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama reached a turnover of TL 766 million in 2020 with a sales growth of approximately 
3% compared to the previous year. Its activities to enrich its portfolio in the field of rare diseases as well as 
domestic new and innovative products for the upcoming period are ongoing. Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler, 
which specializes in nuclear medicine, has increased the service quality it provides to its customers with the 
impact of operational efficiency and increased its total sales by 25% compared to the previous year by introducing 
innovative products to the market.  
 
Shopping centers suffered from substantial visitor and revenue losses due to Covid-19 outbreak that was declared 
as a pandemic around the world in March 2020. Kanyon Shopping Venter was temporarily closed for service from 
March 20, 2020 to May 11, 2020 for the purpose of protecting public health due to the coronavirus pandemic and 
rents were not collected during such period under the terms agreed upon. From June to December 2020, rent 
discounts and aids were applied according to terms agreed upon. The pandemic's impacts upon the economy and 
uncertainties also caused a slowdown in operations at the office market. From 2011 to 2020, given the average 
rents for class A office buildings in Istanbul market, average rents went down to the lowest average in USD. In 
2020, rate of vacancy for office buildings in İstanbul remained at a level similar to the past year's level. 
 
Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar has a diversified portfolio in respect of fields of activity and 
completed the year 2020 with a profitable and strong financial structure.  
 
Our 2020 activities have been carried out in accordance with our current strategies and policies, adhering to the 
precautionary principle. 



Activities in
Health Sector
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EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 
 
EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. was established in Istanbul in 1989. It is engaged in the promotion, marketing, 
sales and distribution of reference and generic pharmaceuticals and non-prescription products that it imports, 
produces by way of subcontracting, and adds to its portfolio through sales and marketing agreements, in cooperation 
with international and local companies in the pharmaceutical sector.  
 
Carrying on marketing activities primarily in the pharmaceuticals sector with its imported reference product 
portfolio, EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama is active in the market included in the urology, dermatology, oncology, 
gastroenterology, pain, anti-infective, anesthesia, nutrition, surgery, hematology, and endocrinology treatment areas. 
It has the products of Abdi İbrahim, Alfa Sigma, Almirall, Aspen, Otsuka, Baxter, BioGaia, Chugai Pharma Europe 
Logistics S.A.S., Haver, Galderma, Juvise, Novartis, P&G, Rivopharm, Sanofi, Santa Farma, Synthon, and Tillotts 
in its product portfolio. Generic products have also a significant place in the portfolio of EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç 
Pazarlama. According to the accumulated IMS (International Medical Statistics) data of December 2020 period, 
while the Turkish pharmaceutical market grew by 21% and domestic markets in the treatment areas where EİP 
Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama has operations grew by 8.2% based on TL, EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama recorded a 
growth of 4.4%. Net sales recorded a growth by 3% in comparison to 2019. the basic reason for the limited growth 
in the market and net sales throughout 2020 is the significant drop in number of patients applying to polyclinics, 
predominantly driven by the adverse impact of Covid-19 outbreak. According to monthly healthcare statistics of 
SSI, when September 2019 is compared to September 2020, number of patients applying to healthcare providers 
(private secondary and state secondary and tertiary as well as university hospitals) dropped by 33.12%. 
 
It continues its studies to add CE-certified medical devices, cosmetic products and free priced products from food 
supplements to its product range besides its reference and generic pharmaceuticals portfolio. Accordingly, the 
diversification of Dynavit portfolio, which is its own brand in the food supplements field and is caused to be 
produced domestically, is in progress. Additionally, sale through online channels of Selfit branded products, a 
private healthy lifestyle brand for e-commerce, started. In addition to the supplements, it is intended to diversify the 
portfolio of Selfit with nutritional products and sports supplements. Also, sale and distribution to the pharmacy 
channel of brands such as Avent, Selpak, Okey, Unibaby, Detan and Selin is performed by EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç 
Pazarlama. 
 
The cooperative activities are continued to increase the number of new product contracts and innovative products in 
the upcoming period, and also to meet the demands of patients with rare diseases. 
 
The main factors affecting the performance of EIP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama are: 
 

 The reference price system applied by the Ministry of Health, the Euro Value which is used for the conversion of 
TL and of which calculation method was explained by the Cabinet Decree, and the drug budget application 
managed by the Social Security Institution; 

 

 The registration process of the Ministry of Health; 
 

 The condition of GMP (“Good Manufacturing Practices”) for the imported products for which a licensing 
application will be lodged, and the extension of the licensing process accordingly; 

 

 The entry speed of the registered products in the reimbursement lists of the Social Security Institution (“SSI”); 
 

 Compulsory public entity discounts of SSI. 
 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama endeavors to reduce the impact of the factors affecting the performance negatively by 
adding to its portfolio free-priced products such as cosmetics, medical devices for personal use and food 
supplements whose permits can be obtained quickly. Another factor that challenges the companies that operate in 
the sector and particularly that are engaged in importation is the fact that the rise in exchange rates which as a result 
leads to imports at high exchange rates, and in return the application of fixed exchange rates determined by the 
Ministry of Health in medicine prices. 
 
The prices of all prescription/non-prescription medicines or reimbursed/non-reimbursed medicines which are sold 
by EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama other than free-priced cosmetics, medical devices for personal use and drug 
supplements are determined according to the price decree of the Ministry of Health. The prices of the reimbursed 
drugs are converted into TL with the Euro exchange rate, determined by the Ministry of Health, based on the lowest 
price (prices of the importing country and releasing country are also taken into account in addition to five countries 
in the case of imported products) of the drug in the five reference countries in the European Union. According to the 
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Cabinet Decree relating to pricing of medicinal products for human use, 1 (one) Euro value in Turkish Lira to be 
used for drug pricing was used to be determined by multiplying it with the rounding coefficient calculated as 70% of 
the previous year's daily average Euro selling rate of exchange, but with the introduction of the change made in 
2019, that percentage was decreased to 60%. The said Euro value is declared in the first 45 days and enters into 
force 5 days after the announcement of the decision in case of an increase in comparison to the previous year or 45 
days after the announcement of the decision in case of a decrease in comparison to the previous year. The Euro 
value was applied in 2018 as TL 2.6934 (taking effect as of 19 February 2018), in 2019 as TL 3.4037 (taking effect 
as of 19 February 2019) and in 2020 as TL 3.8155 (taking effect as of 19 February 2020). 
 
The conditions of sale are shaped by market conditions as well as the compulsory public entity discount applied by 
the government. In periods of intense competition, limited campaigns are conducted and sales are supported by 
offering additional commercial benefits to the customer. 
 
Starting from 2020, purchases by both public hospitals and university hospitals are, now, done as central purchasing 
through State Material Office Healthcare Market. In such case, it is likely that higher discounts will be offered for 
sale of hospital products in the upcoming, predominantly driven by increased competition. 
 
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic that impacted our country, just like the rest of the world, the product promotion 
activities, carried out by visiting health institutions and organizations, were stopped on 19 March 2020 by the 
Turkish Medicines and Medical Devices Agency (TMMDA) until further notice. Accordingly, the short-time 
working allowance started to be utilized as of 13 April 2020 for the personnel who took office as Medical Promotion 
Officer and Specialist Medical Promotion Officer (MPO). Pursuant to the letter of TMMDA dated 5 June 2020, 
MPO personnel who may carry out the promotion activities were switched from the full short-time working 
allowance to the 2/3 short-time working allowance as of 15 June 2020. Such employees carry out promotion 
activities twice a week. Depending on the partial normalization of the activities in hospitals, the hospital field team 
started working 20% of the time in September. As long as the utilization of the short-time working allowance 
continues legally to be in force, EİP will continue assessing the scope of the short-time working allowance in line 
with the density of the activities in its field of activity, and adapting it to market conditions.  
 
Due to Covid-19, the flow of patients to Family Health Centers, polyclinic services, and the number of operations 
were decreased and this has negative impacts on the pharmaceuticals market. In April-June, a loss in the sales of 
products other than the chronic disease and immunization products was experienced. In April-June, the markets 
where EİP operates shrunk by 34% compared to the first 3 months of the year, and by 13% compared to the same 
period of the previous year. In April-June, EİP shrunk by 27% compared to the first three months of the year, and by 
7% compared to the same period of the previous year. A certain level of recovery was observed in June upon the 
normalization process and return of medical promotion personnel to the field, even though partially. In July-
December 2020, the markets in which EİP is active grew by 5.2% based on TL compared to the same period of the 
previous year. However, the flow of patients and the number of operations did not reach the expected level. As the 
period when the impacts of the pandemic will continue either in our country and the world, the severity of its 
impacts, and its duration become clearer, it will be possible to make more explicit and reasonable estimations for the 
medium and long-term.  
 
EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama has no production operations and imports its products, has contract manufacturing 
performed, or adds the products to its portfolio through sales and marketing agreements. As it has its imported 
products registered in Turkey, it does not have any R&D activities. However, within the scope of business 
development activities, studies are conducted in relation to phase III molecules. Incentives are not utilized. 
 
It is estimated that the financial structure will be improved by concluding contracts for unrivaled and high-priced 
new products, adding high free priced products with the market potential to the portfolio, and by rapidly assessing 
co-marketing and license transfer options. Due to Covid-19, an annual planning was made with all suppliers and 
contract manufacturers. No significant problem of supply was encountered except for short-term delays. 
 
EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama, owing to the «Varlığınla Renk Kat» (Add Color with Your Existence) training 
program created by it to contribute to the development journey of its field employees, was rewarded, under the 
category of Best Advance in Succession and Career Management, of Excellence in Talent Management, given by 
Brandon Hall Group, one of the world's most prestigious consulting companies with “Silver” award in August 2020. 
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EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama has no employees who are members of any trade union. The rights and benefits 
provided to the personnel are in parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group and it has 383 
employees in total as of 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 355). EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama has a Head 
Office in Levent, Istanbul where all personnel are managed. It serves Turkey wide with all other provinces that have 
resident employees. 
 
Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş.  
 
The main activity of Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret is the import, export and domestic wholesale of pharmaceuticals, 
pharmaceutical raw materials and pharmaceutical preparations within the framework of the current import and 
export regimes in force. However, the company does not currently have any active activities or personnel. 
 
 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 
 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler, which was established by Bozlu Holding in Istanbul in 1985 and continued its 
operations under the partnership of our company and Bozlu Holding as from 2008, is active as a 
radiopharmaceuticals manufacturer in the pharmaceutical sector. There are four competitors operating in 
Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) market, which accounts for about 31% of its December 2020 domestic sales, and the 
organization is the leader of FDG market with a market share of 46% based on quantity and of 44% based on 
turnover. 
 
In SPECT (Single Photon Emission Computerized Tomography) product group corresponding to 33% of the 
consolidated sales for the year 2020, the organization exports to 54 countries, in addition to the domestic market. In 
addition to Iraq, Algeria, Columbia, Libya and India, the largest export markets, sales to Germany are also on the 
rise. It also sells FDG facility installation and operation projects in nearby regions aside from FDG and SPECT 
product groups. 
 
Due to Covid-19 pandemic, a decrease was experienced in both domestic and export sales as of the middle of March 
2020. The sales were negatively affected at home by the transformation of hospitals into pandemic hospital, the 
closure of nuclear medicine clinics and lack of personnel, decrease in the number of polyclinics, and abstention of 
patients from going to hospitals; and on abroad particularly by the cancellation of flights for the markets which 
exportation is performed to and where affiliates are located, the failure to create alternatives with cargo planes, and 
the lockdowns. With the normalization process started in May and upon the opening of flights, normalization of 
hospitals by being no longer pandemic hospitals, and decrease of hospitals' abstention from going to hospital, the 
decreasing trend in the sales ended. Staring from May, opportunities for new sales were found, especially by 
acquiring shares from competition, and a dramatic momentum was gained in the domestic market, especially with 
regards to Teranostik product group. Turkish Spect market, which was hit by the pandemic the hardest, presented a 
course close to normal following the end of June. Any and all health measures were taken to ensure the continuity of 
the plants and the production facilities were insulated against the outside. 
 
In accordance with the measures taken within the scope of Covid-19 pandemic, the company started benefiting from 
the short-time working allowance as of April for the full and part-time working models it would apply due to the 
need for production limitation driven by shrinkage of the demand experienced in the domestic market. Eczacıbaşı 
Monrol Nükleer Ürünler left the short-time working allowance by switching to full-time work as of July and as long 
as the utilization of the short-time working allowance continues legally to be in force, EİP will continue assessing 
the scope of the short-time working allowance in line with the density of the activities in its field of activity, and 
adapting it to market conditions. 
 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler envisages to continue its domestic growth with the investments it has made so 
far as well as its investments and business partnerships in Turkey and abroad. In addition, establishing and operation 
of new manufacturing plants abroad with international business partnerships to be made and presenting service 
projects at home/abroad are among the strategic targets. In line with this strategy, the Company plans to accelerate 
development by expanding both its geographical coverage and product portfolio.  
 
On June 13, 2019, Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler signed a primary service and distribution agreement with 
Telix Pharmaceuticals, the global radiopharmaceutical pharmaceuticals company headquartered in Australia, and 
became the radiopharmaceuticals manufacturing partner and distributor of Telix in the Turkey - Middle East - North 
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Africa region. The necessary technology transfer was made to its facility in Istanbul / Davutpaşa. The preparation 
processes were completed and the first dose production for clinical study was performed in August upon the 
approval obtained from the Ministry of Health, and imaging for patients is going on with great success. 
 
The performance of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler depends on the development of the local and foreign 
markets and on the healthcare policies applied. The payment term of the government is an important factor in 
Turkey, and the inclusion of products within the scope of reimbursement, and reimbursement conditions directly 
affect the performance of the entity. In order to improve the financial structure of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer 
Ürünler which has high financial expenses due to its investments, operating cash, number of receivable days and 
market conditions are regularly monitored, and measures are taken for delays in payments. Its finance sources 
comprise its capital, the investments received and the working capital loan.  
 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler provides products and services at home and abroad both through dealers and 
directly. It has a sales and distribution network consisting of 7 dealers in Turkey and 55 points of sale in 44 
countries. Dealer risks are managed through contracts, and additionally, collaterals are taken at certain rates. For 
risks related to investments, feasibility analyses and investment performance monitoring are performed regularly.  
 
The company has 8 active manufacturing plants in Gebze, Ankara, Adana, Izmir and Istanbul in Turkey and, also 
abroad, in Egypt, Romania, Poland, and Bulgaria. While the production volume decreased by about 8% in FDG 
product groups, it increased by 1% in SPECT product groups compared to the same period of the previous year. 
 
At the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler held on 12 May 2020, it was 
resolved to decrease its existing paid-up capital of TL 125,000 thousand by TL 107,500 thousand to TL 17,500 
thousand and to set off the capital decrease amount against the retained losses. 
  
Research and Development Activities 
 

The R&D activities performed with Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler's own sources directly target adding a new 
product in the portfolio and improving existing products. R&D projects are also supported under the 1501 Industry 
Research Technology Development and Innovation Projects Support Program, 1511 Priority Areas Research 
Technology Development and Innovation Projects Support Program and KOSGEB Cooperation Alliance Support 
Program. Furthermore, R&D activities carried out with international organizations ("IAEA") are activities that 
enhance knowledge, quality and efficiency. In addition, the 2244 doctoral programs are supported by TÜBİTAK 
under a protocol signed between Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler and Ankara University for the purpose of 
raising the human resource with doctoral qualifications that are needed in the industry through University-Industry 
Cooperation, employing researchers with a doctoral degree, and improving the university/research infrastructure-
industry cooperation. With the help of 3 doctoral researchers and utilizing the infrastructure of Ankara University, it 
is expected that both new product R & D will be improved and Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler will focus on its 
needs in the field of Nuclear Medicine. With this program and cooperation, it is aimed to raise the critical human 
resources with doctoral degrees and ensure that this resource joins Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler. 
Furthermore, R & D studies on reference and innovative product are carried out with Turkish universities within the 
scope of Santez projects. 
 
As it was observed that radiopharmaceuticals were in a tendency to be intended not only for diagnosis but also for 
treatment (theranostic) in the international market and literature, strategic targets were restructured. The studies to 
develop new products used in the diagnosis and treatment of neuroendocrine tumors and prostate cancer were started 
for this purpose in the R&D Department of Gebze Plant. One of these targets, the 1st phase of the project 
“Developing the Lutetium 177 Radioisotope for Targeted Radionuclide Therapy” was completed and the first 
domestic product under the commercial name of Lutec that was licensed by the Ministry of Health and was launched 
in December 2019. The phase 2 of the project that is to ensure that the product efficiency increases was completed 
by the end of 2020 and the license application process was started. This theranostic product is accompanied by the 
complementary theranostic double project of "Local Generator Production for Gallium 68 (Ga-68) Chloride 
Marking Solution". In addition to these products, in 2020, the studies to develop new products addressing the Cold 
Kit group continue and the projects "ensuring smart maintenance, development, and control for particle accelerators" 
and "local synthesis of peptides clinically used in Turkey" are ongoing. All projects are supported by TUBİTAK-
TEYDEB Directorate. Additionally, in 2020, the project "Developing new radiopharmaceuticals in kits to be used 
for theranostic purposes in breast cancer disease" under TEYDEB 1505 (University-Industry Cooperation Support 
Program) is in progress through the cooperation with Ege University. With these projects, it is aimed to carry the 
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position of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler among the radiopharmaceuticals manufacturers in the world to 
higher ranks, to strengthen its position among the global actors, and to make Turkey become a center for the region. 
 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler has 5 branches in total as one each in Ankara, Adana, and Izmir, and two in 
Istanbul. The affiliate companies of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler and their share percentages are given on the 
following table.  

 
Country Name of Affiliate Company Shareholding Structure % 
Romania Monrol Europe SRL Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler                    100.00 

Egypt Monrol Egypt for Manufacturing LLC Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler                   
Monrol Europe SRL                 

99.80 
  0.20 

Egypt Radiopharma Egypt (S.A.E) HSM Consulting LTD 
Natural Persons 

75.00 
25.00 

Bulgaria Monrol Bulgaria LTD Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler                  100.00 

Jordan Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nuclear Products Industry & 
Trade Co-Jordan Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler                  100.00 

Dubai Monrol MENA LTD Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler                   100.00 

Dubai Monrol Gulf DMCC Monrol MENA LTD                 
Mohd & Obaid Al Mulla LLC  

80.00 
20.00 

Dubai HSM Consulting LTD Monrol MENA LTD 100.00 
 
There is not any collective contract practice in Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler. The rights and benefits provided 
to the personnel are in parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group and it has 198 employees 
in total in Turkey, except for the employees of its subsidiaries abroad, as of 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 
182). 
 
 
Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (Eczacıbaşı-Baxter) 
 
With Baxter arriving at the conclusion that the serum business will not be included in its Turkey portfolio in near 
future as a result of the worldwide restructuring decision taken by Baxter Group as of March 27, 2014 and 
continuous re-assessment of Baxter's intravenous therapy strategies, and in line with these developments, it became 
necessary to limit Eczacıbaşı-Baxter's scope of activities, and all the studies conducted were evaluated and 
production discontinued, and the liquidation process of the company was started in the framework of the 
Commercial Code. 
 
Pursuant to the decision of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter to gradually terminate its production activities in the IV serum 
production facilities, where it still carried out its activities and which was owned by Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 
Finansal Yatırımlar, until 31st December 2016; a Rental Contract was concluded on 18th October 2016 with Koçak 
Farma İlaç ve Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (Koçak) related to letting serum production facilities be used. The lease 
contract was revised with a new monthly amount equal to TL 350 thousand as of January 1st, 2018 and the lease 
term ended as of December 31st, 2018. Because the region where the leased production facilities are situated is 
located within the Urban Transformation Area of Ayazağa and Cendere Valley, leasing contracts may not any longer 
be concluded with Koçak for a long term, and extension demands are evaluated on a monthly basis during the 
current term. 
 
The serum production activities of in Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri was gradually terminated and during its 
Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting held on 31st January 2017, it was decided to legally initiate the liquidation 
process of the company under the provisions of the Commercial Code. 
 
Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri has no employees as of 31t December 2020 (31 December 2019: 0).              
Due to the finalization of the manufacture on 30th June 2016 and the initiation of the liquidation of the company on 
6th February 2017, the employment contracts of the employees were terminated by paying all their rights and 
obligations. Since the company is in the process of liquidation, it does not have any organization outside the head 
office.  



Real Estate
Activities
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Kanyon Office and Shopping Center 
 
Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar owns the total office block composed of 26 floors and 50% of the SC at 
Kanyon which made a tremendous impact as the first outdoor shopping center project of Turkey both at home and in 
the overseas. 
 
The shopping centers ("SC") and retail sector is a recent fast-growing sector in our country and the competition is 
gradually becoming difficult in this sector. Contrary to Europe, the SC culture and the demand for SCs continue to 
increase every passing day in Turkey as is the case with the Far East and Asia the population of which increases 
rapidly.  
 
As at 2020, total number of shopping centers in Turkey is 441 and total leasable area is 13,386,980 m2. During the 
said period, number of shopping centers in Istanbul is 123 and total leasable area is 4,908,304 m2. 
 
According to December results of the Shopping Center Index, which was formed jointly by the Shopping Centers 
and Investors Association and Akademetre Research; (1)  
- In December 2020 when curfew restrictions started, shopping center index of efficiency per square meter, when 

compared to the same period of the previous year and when it is examined in an inflation-adjusted manner, 
dropped by 33.9% to 248 points. Considering that the annual inflation rate announced for December 2020 is 
14.6%, it is observed that the increase in the index is below the inflation. 

- The turnover per leasable area (m2) in shopping centers was TL 1,245 in Istanbul, while it stood at TL 742 in 
Anatolia in December 2020. The square meter productivity around Turkey materialized as TL 943 in December 
2020. When compared to December of the preceding year, square meter productivity of the technology category 
at shopping centers increased by 11.9%, whereas productivity of the hypermarket category dropped by 7.2%, 
category of the others (stores such as construction materials market, furniture, home textile, gift shop, toy, 
cinema, personal care and cosmetics, jewelry, hobby, pet shop, tailor and shoe repair services, exchange office, 
dry cleaning, pharmacy, etc.) dropped by 26.4%, the clothing category dropped by 44.6%, the shoes category 
dropped by 47.8% and the food and beverages category dropped by 65.8%. 

- When data of December 2020 is compared to the same month of the preceding year, a drop in visit number index 
by 68.3% is observed. 

 
Compared to the other SCs in the region, Kanyon, opened in 30 May 2006, which has been operating for about 15 
years, is different with its architecture, location and physical environment offering different experiences as well as 
its operation, sustainable efforts, dynamic marketing projects, art & music & dance activities, use of Chat bot, 
artificial intelligence, and digital technology, and particularly with its chefs, restaurants, and brands. Market-wide 
trends seen are as follows:  

 

 The opening of a large number of new shopping centers targeting the same audience; 
 

 The effort to moving away from the traditional shopping center concept and emphasizing entertainment 
elements in SC; 

 

 Giving importance to experience retailing, 
 

 The increasing selectiveness of customers; 
 

 The expectation of a more quality and larger brand diversity; 
 

 The competition of shopping with other activities in terms of free time; 
 

 New structures constructed as environmentally-conscious and sustainable; 
 

 World-famous chain restaurants newly opened in rival shopping centers. 
 

Awarded many prizes around the world, Kanyon regularly increases the interest in it and the number of its guests by 
increasing its service quality with the new systems it develops every year. Having added another to its awards in 
2018, Kanyon was awarded the Golden Prize in the Customer Service category thanks to Kanyon Whatsapp project 
in ICSC Solal Marketing Awards, an international reputable platform. 
 
 

                                                           
1  Source: Shopping Centers and Investors Association and perakende.org 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 
 
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
(Amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

19 
 

BREEM certificate at "Excellent" level awarded to Kanyon Office building in 2015 was enhanced to "Outstanding" 
level in 2019 through the support of data by documentation as a result of the intense studies for two years, the 
improvement studies in energy consumption, and the studies in water and waste management carried out to protect 
the environment that were leveraged with ISO 14001 environmental management system certificate. Kanyon office 
building has been the first private office building in Turkey to obtain this certificate at Outstanding level in the 
office category. 

 
As a result of the assessments made in terms of design, building management and environmental performance in line 
with “BREEAM” criteria applied for the buildings taken into operation; Kanyon achieved an important success by 
being the first commercial building in Turkey to obtain the “Extraordinary” certificate. Being the first commercial 
structure to obtain this certificate in Turkey in building management, Kanyon was granted with an award by 
outdistancing the other candidates in “BREEAM Retail In-Use” category for multi-usage buildings such as store, 
office and residence, during the “BEST OF BREEAM 2016” award ceremony held in London. 
 
Constantly realizing improvements with the studies such as obtaining ISO 14001 environmental management system 
certificate, taking cogeneration system into operation following the solar energy system of 100 panels, popularizing 
LED lighting, acoustic measurements and insulations, putting carbon filter in exhaust hood and cooperation with 
İTÜ (Istanbul Technical University) Energy Institute; Kanyon gives space to a local producer every week, and 
strengthens sustainability & ethic environmental awareness with its "Organikanyon" organic and natural products 
marketplace which is open 2 days a week. 
 
At Kanyon, the store occupancy rate is 95.47% (on a m2 basis), and the office occupancy rate is 83.3%. The studies 
are ongoing to strengthen the brand mix and to place the brands with high potential in Kanyon. The new brands are 
also given place by hiring trendy short-term pop-up stores and stands to attract attention.  
 
The main focal points for marketing activities are events, advertising, public relations, digital marketing and social 
media applications and customer relationship management activities. The marketing calendar is designed to increase 
the number of visitors and store turnovers, strengthen the perception of Kanyon brand and surprise the guests with 
new trends and experiences. Opportunities of experience marketing and merchandizing that will convey online to 
offline are being researched and priority will be given to the preference of brands that focus on experience retailing 
in the stores planned to be opened in the coming periods. However, due to the pandemic period, upon the re-opening 
of Kanyon SC on 11 May, first the measures and precautions taken for the safety of guests were communicated and 
online communication was concentrated on. Being one of the features of Kanyon SC, outdoor areas were given 
prominence, and safe shopping of guests and their spending time with peace of mind were focused on. Both online 
and offline outdoor communications will be concentrated on also in the upcoming period. 
 
New shopping centers opened in different regions increased the competition in the sector. Despite the increasing 
competition, Kanyon continues making difference and attracting a loyal customer group. The marketing plan is 
enriched against the increasing competition and economic fluctuations, and it is tried to increase the activities in this 
field by applying optimum stand lease costs. 
 
Due to Covid-19 disease that was declared as pandemic all over the world in March 2020, the Shopping Centers and 
Investors Association first announced the decision changing the opening and closing hours of SCs for the public 
health by also taking into consideration the demands of the society and retailers. On 20 March 2020, a 
recommendation decision was made to close SCs. Accordingly, it was decided to close Kanyon SC as of 20:00 on 
20 March 2020 for a temporary period. During the period when the shopping center did not carry on business, the 
markets and pharmacies where visitors could meet their basic needs remained open under the initiative of store 
owners. It was resolved not to collect rent from store lessees for those stores that would remain closed from 20 
March 2020, when Kanyon Shopping Center was closed, to 30 April 2020. In accordance with the announcement by 
public authorities that the pandemic showed a relatively positive course in May in our country and that the measures 
taken started showing their effect, and with the announcement of the Presidency that the shopping centers could be 
partially opened as of 11 May 2020, Kanyon SC started carrying on business gradually on 11 May 2020. It was 
resolved that the rent for May be not collected from the lessees, who opened their stores as of this date, in 
accordance with the conditions to be determined by Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. (Kanyon Yönetim), 
that all lessees (except for the lines of business determined to remain closed in accordance with the official 
measures) in Kanyon Shopping Center be started to carry on business until 1 June 2020 at the latest, and that a rental 
discount of 50% be applied to the monthly fixed rental fees for June. Due to the ongoing impacts of Covid-19 
pandemic on the retail sector, Kanyon Management agreed upon rent discount and other rent support practices that 
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may be required at Kanyon Shopping Center throughout July-December 2020, given the current number of visitors 
and business volume, and it was further resolved that such supports and practices be ascertained by Kanyon 
Management as long as impacts of Covid-19 outbreak continue. 

 
As a result of this process in the new period, the present and future developments in the economy cause retailers to 
be cautious in opening new stores and to evaluate the demands of shopping centers more meticulously. In order to 
replace the vacant stores, efforts are used to place brands that have the potential to attract customers to Kanyon and 
generate traffic, and to strengthen the brand mix with pop-up stores and periodical kiosks, and the gaps in the brand 
mix have been eliminated. Kanyon increases its competitive power in shopping with its new brands added to the 
brand mix. Efforts are continuously used to meet retail trends and customer expectations with the addition of new 
brands to Kanyon brand mix and the concept changes made in the stores of old brands. The inclusion of new brands 
is deemed positive by Kanyon visitors and has a positive impact on both shopping and the customer traffic and 
turnover of restaurants. 
 
Within this market structure, the strengths and weaknesses of Kanyon can be summarized as follows: 
 

STRENGTHS WEAKNESSES 
Location 

(central location, easy transportation, subway 
connection, and 

white-collar neighbor plaza employees) 

Impact of adverse weather conditions in winter 

Unique and modern architectural design Heavy traffic 
Preference of outdoor shopping in summer due to 

weather conditions Perception of expensive 

Image and perception in guests' eyes, quality 
activities based on experiences Brand mix (limited sqm) 

Density of entertainment, culture and art factors, its 
popular cinema and contemporary theater  

Restaurants and cafes being the meeting point and the 
address for business meetings  

Effective and authentic social media communication  
Strong partners, a strong image  

CRM database  
OPPORTUNITIES THREATS 

New business centers and hotels opened in the 
immediate vicinity Competitors and new shopping centers to be opened 

Increasing brand diversity with pop-up shops and 
kiosks, opening new restaurants and stores where 

daily needs can be met 
Economic and political uncertainties 

High-income region 
Social distancing rules established due to Covid-19 
pandemic, which make people abstain from going 

crowded areas and SCs 
Growth of the local brand market and 

Online shopping, Click & Collect 
Cessation of all domestic and international flights and 

end of tourist entry due to Covid-19 pandemic 

Increase in outdoor activities 
Changing consumer behaviors due to the pandemic 
(DIY, determining priorities, preferring sustainable 

and local brands, etc.) 

Needs for healthy and safe areas for non-student 
children 

Shrinkage of the retail market due to the local brands 
that went out of business and the global brands that 

decided to leave the Turkish market 
 
With Kanyon Mobile application, the shopping experience of Kanyon guests becomes more enjoyable, easy and fun. 
The application makes it easier for visitors to know the services, opportunities, and campaigns, and continues 
providing services to communicate with visitors quickly through constant enhancements. In the new period, one of 
the preliminary thresholds is to improve communication with visitors by using customized communication tools that 
have gained further importance. 
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As of 31 December 2020, the total rent income generated by Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar from 
Kanyon offices and shopping center was TL 78,977 thousand (31 December 2019: TL 92,746 thousand). 
 
Kanyon, which aims to provide service at higher quality standards than other shopping centers and office buildings, 
has been taking care to keep an optimum level of quality-cost balance without compromising quality service 
standards since June 2006, the date of its inauguration, in providing services with its personnel (importance given to 
training, occupational health, occupational safety, health services such as ambulance, hygiene inspections, high level 
security measures, use of the-state-of-the-art equipment). 
 
 
Ormanada 
On December 31st, 2007, Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar purchased the half of 22 building plots equal 
to 196,409.74 m2 in total which were situated in Yorgancı Çiftliği Location, Uskumru Quarter of Sarıyer District. 
And the other half of them belongs to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. The construction of 90 thousand m2 in total was built 
on the mentioned real estates, and this project completed is mainly for residence purpose and it has partially 
commercial areas. The occupancy permits were obtained for all the buildings (residence and commercial units). 
 

 In Ormanada which was designed in collaboration with Torti Gallas and Partners, Kreatif Mimarlık and Rainer 
Schmidt Landscape Architects having international knowledge and experience; the residences are of 170 to 700 
m2 . In Ormanada, the residences that have not been sold are of 368 to 479 m2 and unit residence sale prices vary 
from about TL 10.7 million to TL 14.5 million. 

 

 In Ormanada, there are 273 residences as 188 villas and 85 row houses; and there are 150 residences on the 1st 
Phase and 123 residences on the 2nd Phase. The delivery of the residences on the first phase started as of April 
2013 and the delivery of the residences on the second phase started as of December 2013. 

 

 As of December 31, 2020, 263 residences were sold in total and rent income is generated from 8 of the existing 
residences. 

 
Ayazağa, Cendere Valley, Urban Transformation Area 
The facilities and administrative building in Ayazağa where Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri continued its 
production activities until the half of 2016, are the property of Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar, and 
rental income is derived from these facilities. The land in question is located within the Urban Transformation Area 
of Ayazağa, Cendere Vadisi, and Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri terminated its production in this facility on 
June 30, 2016. As a result of this decision of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter, a Rental Contract was concluded on 18th October 
2016 with Koçak in connection with allowing the said serum production facilities to be used. The said lease expired 
on 31 December 2018. Because the region where the leased production facilities are situated is located within the 
Urban Transformation Area of Ayazağa and Cendere Valley, leasing contracts may not any longer be concluded 
with Koçak for a long term, and extension demands are evaluated on a monthly basis during the current term. 
 
On April 10th, 2015, our Company purchased all shares of Yeni Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş., having a border with the real 
estate which is located on Cendere road in Ayazağa location and which has the manufacturing plants still leased to 
Koçak. The "simplified merger procedure" by acquiring Yeni Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. with all its assets and liabilities as 
a whole was approved by the Capital Markets Board's decision dated November 13, 2015, and numbered 31/1396, 
and was registered in the Trade Registry on December 7, 2015. 
 
Other Investments 
The summary of other investments made by Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar in the area of real estate 
development is presented in the table below: 
 

Date of Purchase Location Parcel Surface Area  
(m²) 

Purchase price 
(Thousand TL) 

29.06.2015 Silivri 21 fields 265,930 16,425 
01.12.2015 Silivri No. 308 8,500 765 
01.03.2016 Silivri No. 1985 5,250 484 
07.06.2016 Silivri No. 2007 685,026 67,995 

   964,706 85,669 
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Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş.  
 
Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım carries on business in real estate development and project 
management fields in the real estate sector; however, the company does not own any immovable property. 
 
Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım has joined the Ormanada Project, a joint investment of Eczacıbaşı 
Holding and Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar, as a project manager and as the main contractor. The 
main factors affecting the performance of Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım are the investment 
decisions of its investors, to whom it provides service in real estate development, and the general condition of the 
sector. 
 
The operating revenue of Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım is gained from the service contracts and the 
projects of which management is undertaken. The revenue of 2020 comprised of the income derived from additional 
works conducted within the scope of the Project Ormanada and also sales, marketing and coordination service 
income, and land and project development services. Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım does not have 
projects, of which the investor is itself, among the projects it conducted in 2020 and it did not use any incentive. 
 
Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım has 15 employees as of 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 16) 
and has no collective labor agreement practice. The rights and benefits provided to the personnel are in parallel with 
the human resources practices of Eczacıbaşı Group.  

 



Other
Activities
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Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.  
 
Vitra Karo was established in Istanbul in 1990. It's mainly engaged in the production of ceramic floor and wall tiles 
at manufacturing facilities in Bozüyük. 
 
Innovative products and maximum customer satisfaction have great importance under the fierce competition 
conditions where Vitra Karo carries on business. In this respect, intensive efforts are being carried out on new 
product design, and new products are presented to customers at important fairs. In addition, the processes conducted 
in the organization are constantly improved and developed for the purpose of increasing the customer satisfaction. 
 
According to the Sector Report of December 2020 prepared by the Association of Turkish Building Material 
Producers (Turkish IMSAD);  
- The construction sector and construction materials industry closed the first quarter of 2020, prior to Covid-19 

outbreak, with a growth, and shrinkage started during the second quarter with the impact of the outbreak. Aids 
offered for the economy and return to economic activities helped the construction industry to record a growth in 
the third quarter for the first time in the last eight quarters. An important increase took place in terms of 
production and export of the construction materials industry. In the last quarter of the year, growths went on, yet 
the business went back into a recession process as a result of the second wave of the outbreak that was felt a lot 
more severely both at home and abroad around the year end. The construction sector benefitted from support 
loans offered in the year 2020 to a great extent. The total amount of loan utilized by the construction sector with 
very low interest rates until the end of September is TL 49 billion. New loans made available came as a great 
relief to the construction sector and parties engaged in contracting from a financial standpoint. In this context, 
activities also recovered and a rapid return to works in progress was experienced. Such effect lasted until the 
year-end. 

- The building materials industry production showed an increase of 8.1% in the first quarter of 2020. Due to the 
consequences of Covid-19 pandemic, the building materials industry production showed a decrease of 8% in the 
second quarter of the year due to the sharp shrinkages in April and May. In July, the building materials industry 
production increased by 7% when compared to July of the previous year. Going back to operations at home and 
opening of foreign markets upon the restart of the operations were effective in the production increase in July. 
Level of works in progress at the construction sector, after its peak in August, regressed to a limited extent in 
September and October, and regression accelerated in November. Level of works in progress significantly 
plunged in December with a decrease by 11.3 points when compared to the preceding month. Thus, works in 
progress started a downward trend, predominantly driven by the seasonality. The construction sector has been 
completing those works that remained unfinished due to Covid-19 outbreak to a great extent. Due to the second 
wave of Covid-19 outbreak and arrival of winter months, level of works in progress is expected to gradually 
continue its downward trend.  
 

According to the statistics for December 2020 period published by the Statistical Institute of Turkey (TUIK):  
- total number of residences sold in 2020 stood at 1,499,316, with an increase by 11.2% when compared to 2019. 

The upward momentum seen in the third quarter started falling with the event of winter months. 
- The residence sales across Turkey decreased by 47.6% compared to the same period of the previous year and 

materialized as 105,981 in December 2020. 
- For the first time, number of residences sold remained below the preceding year's level by 8.2% with 469,740 

residences at the year-end unlike the increase at the end of the third quarter. The striking point in this regard is 
level of mortgaged sales for brand new residences increased by 63% when compared to the preceding year. 

- According to December data, the Building Construction Cost Index increased by 25.02% on an annual basis. 
 

As as the late 2020, the tile sales of Vitra Karo in the Turkish market were 49.8% higher than the last year on a 
Turkish Lira basis. In Germany, which is among the strategic markets of Vitra Karo, the EURO-based growth in 
2020 was 6%, compared to the previous year. Among the strategic markets other than Germany and Turkey, while 
there was an increase of 9% based on Ruble in Russia, there was a regression of 2.3% based on Euro in the French 
market which was significantly affected by Covid-19 pandemic. The UK market saw a regression of 12.9% on a 
GBP basis.   

 
Throughout 2020, the foreign exchange rates were realized above both the previous year and the values planned on 
the budget. The change in exchange rate has a positive impact on the sales results in TL as approximately 75% of 
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the total sales are in foreign currency. Approximately 45% of the production costs are indexed to foreign currency. 
Accordingly, positive changes in exchange rate result in positive developments in terms of production profitability. 
Among the important cost inputs, natural gas unit prices increased by 3% and electricity prices by 14% when 
compared to December 2019. The unit production costs in Vitra Karo showed an increase of 5% when compared to 
the previous year. 
 
As a result of keeping stocks under control in the Q2 2020 due to the effect of Covid-19 outbreak and in line with 
the sales targets set, the production amount was reduced. Throughout the third quarter, product was 50% higher than 
the second quarter, and, during the last quarter, in line with seasonal effects and inventory reduction decisions made, 
the production was lower than the production of Q3. As a result of all these, production increased by 2.3% when 
compared to the previous year. 
 
The exchange rate effect on the operating expenses based on foreign exchange, other than the production cost, is 
about 25%. The exchange difference income was realized high particularly following the exchange rate valuation of 
the receivables in foreign currency. Exchange rates has a positive impact upon the Operating Profit Before 
Amortization (PBA), and, further, certain cost-reducing measures were taken due to the pandemic.  On the other 
hand, the increase in exchange rates has a negative impact on the financing expenses due to the foreign currency 
indexed loans. The high loan volume based on foreign currency and Turkish Lira increase the financing expenses 
load. Loss for the period was experienced also at the end of the year due to the significant impact of the financing 
expenses load suffered. 
 
As the period when the impacts of the pandemic will continue either in our country and the world, the severity of its 
impacts, and its duration become clearer, it will be possible to make more explicit and reasonable estimations for the 
medium and long-term. developments at the third quarter of 2020 were a lot more positive than business results of 
the second quarter, which also continued throughout the last quarter. Measures aimed at reducing costs and 
measures taken for operational expenses allowed impacts of Covid-19 outbreak to be felt less slightly on the 
activities and business results. 
 
The productivity and production increase projects are conducted in its manufacturing plants abroad and the studies 
are conducted in order to increase the company’s performance in the upcoming periods by concentrating more on 
the foreign market. Efforts are carried out to simplify the production process, to reduce costs, to achieve cost 
advantages by using resources efficiently in the supply chain, and to reduce the products with low profitability by 
turning to high profitability products in the sales portfolio. 
 
Vitra Karo's product portfolio has a wide product range in terms of sizes. It has a production capacity of about 28 
million m2 depending on the product size range, including the affiliates abroad.  
 
A new investment with a capacity of 2.5 million m2/year that will give rise to a capacity expansion was initiated in 
Bozüyük facilities of Vitra Karo for capacity increase in the "Big Size Porcelain Tile" production. For the 
investment in question, an application was made for the revision of the Investment Incentive Certificate numbered 
502812 that was still valid, and the approval was obtained on 14 October 2020. The amount added to the Investment 
Incentive Certificate through revision is TL 186 million including local and import machinery and building 
construction expenses. Following this addition, the total investment amount on the Investment Incentive Certificate 
became TL 246.6 million.  
 
As at 2020 year-end, sales to abroad account for 75% of Vitra Karo sales. Since most of its income is indexed to 
foreign currency, it thus meets its financing needs from foreign currency loans. In addition, risk-reducing financial 
instruments are used where deemed necessary.  

 
The production facilities of Vitra Karo are located in Bilecik / Bozüyük and its subsidiaries has factories in Russia 
and Germany. As of 31 December 2020, Vitra Karo has 2.025 employees in total, as blue collars and white collars 
(except for employees of subcontractors), together with its subsidiaries (31 December 2019: 2.027). 
 
Vitra Karo has a collective bargaining agreement in force in Turkey and blue collar employees have rights and 
benefits under that agreement. The white-collar employees have the rights and the benefits determined by Eczacıbaşı 
Group. Although there is no collective bargaining agreement in the subsidiaries' factories in Germany, the "Works 
Council", a worker representation organization, has a mission to protect workers' rights, and in the Russian factory, 
however, there is no trade union connection and consequently there is no collective agreement in force. 
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Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 
 
Ekom was established in 1981 to provide operations, customs, financing and risk management support services to 
Eczacıbaşı Group companies in the framework of export intermediary operations. 
 
As Eczacıbaşı Group's export capital company, Ekom's aim is to provide the most effective export, customs, 
financing and risk management services to the Group companies for which it acts as an intermediary in the export of 
Eczacıbaşı products. The performance of the company is partially affected by changes in the macro indicators of the 
economy. In particular, as the fluctuations in the exchange rate policy affect the commission income received over 
sales; they directly reflect on the financial results. 
 
As the marketing and sales organization is performed by the manufacturing companies to which service is provided, 
the developments in these issues are made out of the initiative of Ekom. 

 
Since Ekom is an intermediary company, it does not interfere with the production, marketing and sales policies of 
the products for which it acts as an intermediary. Measurements related to the cost and quality of intermediary 
services are performed regularly.  

 
Ekom has no R&D activities. 

 
Ekom invests a limited amount to the extent required by its operational services. The Group’s organizations, to 
which it provides service, benefit from the advantages that it has due to being an international trading company.   

 
As the equity of Ekom, being an intermediary institution and undertaking minimum risk during this intermediate 
process, is sufficient for this activity; Ekom does not use any external financing for its requirements.  

 
As of 31 December 2020, Ekom has 18 employees (31 December 2019: 17) and does not have any collective labor 
agreement practice in place. The rights and benefits provided to the personnel are in parallel with the human 
resources practices of Eczacıbaşı Group. 
 
Ekom has no organization outside the head office. 
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PROFIT DISTRIBUTION PROPOSAL 
 

In the meeting of our Board of Directors on 12nd March 2021; 

 

It was determined that our company's net distributable profit including donations of the period as of 31st 

December 2020 was TL 301,245,713 as per the consolidated financial statements issued pursuant to the 

“Communique on Principles Related to Financial Reporting in the Capital Markets” numbered II-14.1 of the 

Capital Markets Board (“CMB”) and were independently audited, and TL 395,639,566 as per the financial 

statements issued according to the legal records. 

 

In terms of the distribution of the profit pertaining to the year 2020, the distributable net profit of the relevant 

period included in the consolidated financial statements was taken as the basis for the profit distribution in 

accordance with the regulations of the CMB on profit distribution, Article 26 of our Articles of Association and 

the principles indicated in our Profit Distribution Policy; and it was decided that the profit distribution model as 

set forth below shall be submitted to the General Assembly. 

 

Accordingly, it was decided that the following proposals shall be submitted to our partners in the Ordinary 

General Assembly Meeting pertaining to the year of 2020;  

 

1) to distribute cash dividend of TL 150,757,200 corresponding to 22% of the issued capital of our company, 

 

2) to pay dividend of gross 22% in cash to a share of TL 1 nominal value,  the net amount of profit found, 

after deducting the withholding rates set forth in the tax laws, to our full taxpayer real person partners and 

to our limited taxpayer real and legal person partners, 

 

3) to transfer the balance amount of TL 233,232,946 found after deducting the legal obligations and the 

forecasted dividend to be distributed from the pre-tax period profit of TL 475,820,572 accrued according to 

the legal records, to the Extraordinary Reserves,  

 

4) and to commence the distribution on April 26, 2021. 
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1. 685,260,000

2. 113,059,524

There are no 

preferred shares.

Based on CMB 

Regulations

Based on Legal 

Records (*)

3. 385,941,000 475,820,572

4. (63,852,000) (58,952,842)

5. 322,089,000 416,867,730

6. 0 0

7. (20,843,387) (20,843,387)

8. 301,245,613 395,639,566

9. 100 0

10. 301,245,713 0

11.

150,757,200 150,757,200

0 0

150,757,200 150,757,200

12. 0 0

13.

0 0

0 0

0 0

14. 0 0

15. 0 0

16. 11,649,420 11,649,420

17. 0 0

18. 0 0

19. 138,838,993 233,232,946

20. 0 0

INFORMATION ON DIVIDEND PER SHARE

CASH         

(TL)

STOCK 

(TL)

RATIO                                             

(%)

NET                            

(TL)

NET                                  

(%)

NET - 128,143,620 0 42.54 0.18700 18.700

In the calculation of the net dividend amount, the withholding rate of Income Tax has been assumed as 15%.

(*) Pursuant to the Board of Directors' resolution dated October 27, 2020, it was resolved that transfer of 75% of the share

sales profit, amounting to TL 384,778, arising from sale of our stake by 2.99664% held in Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. to special fund account in order to take advantage of the exemption specified in clause (e), paragraph

(1), article 5 of the Corporate Tax Law no. 5520. This amount has been incorporated into Legal Profit for the Period (on which

5% general legal reserve calculation is based) within the "Based on Legal Records" column on the table and as the relevant

exempted profit amount has been transferred to the mentioned fund account, it has not been taken into consideration for

subsequent calculations in legal records (Tax Procedure Law).

Secondary Legal Reserves

DIVIDEND TO BE PAID FOR SHARE 

WITH PAR VALUE OF 1 TL

Statutory Reserves

Special Reserves

EXTRAORDINARY RESERVES

Other Distributable Resources

SHARE 

GROUP

TOTAL DIVIDEND 

AMOUNT

TOTAL DIVIDEND AMOUNT / 

NET DISTRIBUTABLE 

CURRENT PERIOD PROFIT

Other Dividend Distributed 

    - To the Members of the Board of Directors

    - To the Employees

    - To Non-shareholders

Dividend to Owners of Redeemed Shares 

Second Dividend to Shareholders

Donation-Added Net Distributable Current Period Profit on which 

First Dividend is Calculated

First Dividend to Shareholders

    - Cash

    - Stock

    - Total

Dividend Distributed to Owners of Privileged Shares

Taxes Payable (-)

Net Current Period Profit (=)

Losses in Previous Years (-)

Primary Legal Reserve (-)

NET DISTRIBUTABLE CURRENT PERIOD PROFIT (=)

Donations Made During The Year (+)
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DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION TABLE FOR 2020 (TL)

Paid-in/Issued Capital

Total Legal Reserves (According to Legal Records)

Information on privileges in dividend distribution, if any, in the Articles of Association:

Current Period Profit
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SUSTAINABILITY PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE FRAMEWORK DECLARATION 
 

THE Communiqué numbered II-17.1.a on amendment to the Corporate Governance Communiqué of the Capital 

Markets Board numbered II-17.1 was promulgated in the volume of the Official Gazette dated 02.10.2020 and 

numbered 31262. Within scope of amendments to the Corporate Governance Communiqué (Communiqué), 

“Sustainability Principles” have been laid down compliance with which is voluntary. EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Company”) voluntarily adopts the said Sustainability Principles 

Compliance Framework as a requirement of its general targets for adherence to Corporate Governance Principles. In 

this context, the Company aims to adhere to the Sustainability Principles so published within a frame suitable for its 

fields of activity, partnership and affiliate structure, organizational, corporate and operational qualities. 
 

The Company does not have a dedicated Environment, Social, Corporate Governance (ESG) policy established 

within the Company and divisions in charge of enforcing such policies, the Company pursues sustainability policies, 

strategies and practices of Eczacıbaşı Group of which it is a member. The company and some of its affiliates do not 

have physical operations where practices required by the Communiqué may be put into practice, and only those 

affiliates engaged in industrial operations can have the chance of implementation 1. 
 

The Company does not have key performance indicators pursued by the Company in the field of sustainability (KPI) 

ve a separate sustainability report prepared specifically for the company. Those affiliates of the company with 

production operations pursue main sustainability KPIs established by Eczacıbaşı Group. Eczacıbaşı Group's 

Sustainability Report share values that are consolidated at the Group scale and validated by the independent audit 

firm 2. 
 

Since information included in the report covers operations of the Group companies and its affiliates, information on 

social and environmental practices taking place in the partnership value chain or their performance is not included. 

Sharing of such information will be re-considered after relevant systems and processes of external stakeholders such 

as customers and suppliers included in the value chain are adapted, in the future, to Group Companies. 
 

Although Eczacıbaşı Group's Sustainability Reports include projects, actions and initiatives aimed at reducing 

environmental impacts, information on total number of projects and financial gain associated with projects is not 

provided.  
 

The Company and its affiliates do not have legal actions filed against them or that were concluded in environmental, 

social and corporate governance matters. 
 

Main elements of management approach and studies associated with principles complied with are declared under the 

heading “Eczacıbaşı Group Sustainability Activities”, whereas sustainability efforts of those affiliates engaging in  

production activities are offered a room in Eczacıbaşı Group Sustainability Report published annually. Eczacıbaşı 

Holding Sustainability Reports are available at the corporate website www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-

responsibility/sustainable/sustainable-reports 3. 
 

Due to existence of nuances between Some of the Sustainability Principles indicated in the Communiqué and the 

Company's practices that have been routinely performed and lack of time for making necessary amendments until 

end of the reporting period, putting into practice certain principles requires a comprehensive assessment and field 

studies and existence of sectoral and reliable data at a national and international scale, and certain principles are not 

consistent with the field of activity of the Company and its affiliates, the Company has not been able to fully comply 

with the said principles. We're currently working on those principles that have not been put into practice yet and it is 

planned to put into action necessary practices. 
 

Although no adverse impact is observed in the reporting period of 2020 activity year in terms of environmental and 

social risk management due to principles that have not been put into practice or the Company has not fully complied 

with, it is predicted that uncertainties associated with environment and social risk in terms of risk management 

owing to enhanced compliance in future periods. 

                                                 
1 Our company is not directly engaged in industrial or service production activity, and it has the structure of a holding owing to 

its affiliates Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., two of its 

affiliates, are engaged in production operations. 
2  Data of Kanyon Shopping Center where our Company holds 50% stake as well as data of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., two of our affiliates, are shared within scope of Eczacıbaşı 

Group's Sustainability Report. 
3  As of the publication date of our annual report, Eczacıbaşı Group Sustainability Report for 2020 has not been published yet. 

Sustainability reports of previous years are available at www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility/sustainable/ 

sustainable-reports. 

http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility/
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SUSTAINABILITY ACTIVITIES OF ECZACIBAŞI GROUP 

 

The Company adopts the sustainability approach evaluating social, economic and environmental impacts with a 

holistic perspective of Eczacıbaşı Group of which it is a part. The Company and its affiliates pursue sustainability 

policies and strategies laid down by Eczacıbaşı Holding for application across the Group companies in their 

respective activities, and they conduct studies in fields of action suitable for their field of activity and operational 

structure. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Group's tradition of serving is shaped by the respect for the individual, community and environment 

which is the main element of the Group values. In this context, Eczacıbaşı Group adopts this philosophy as a guide 

for the purpose of all activities and dispositions and adopts sustainability as a course of action. The Group endorsed 

UN Global Compact (UNGC) in 2006, UN's Women's Empowerment Principles (WEP) in 2013 with a view to 

institutionalizing sustainability within its own structure, and after its publication, the Group has accepted 

contribution to the UN Sustainability Development Objectives as some of the main purposes of its sustainability 

efforts. The Group's sustainability understanding is striving for advancement in the community it operates and, 

above all, across the world with a more sustainable development model apart from its own operations. In this 

context, in order to contribute to sustainable development agenda at local and international scale, the Group 

becomes members of initiatives, sectoral and business world societies such as Business World and Sustainable 

Development Society, IMPACT 2030 and Business World Plastics Initiative which run their operations with this 

agenda, and contributes to efforts of national, regional and international policy-making on resolution of social and 

environmental problems. 

 

The basic commitment of Eczacıbaşı Group towards its stakeholders is materializing its long-term economic 

performance with a sustainable value production model which increases the welfare of the community and is based 

on efficiency of resources. Therefore, social, environmental and corporate management risk and opportunities 

companies of the group are exposed to are considered along with their impacts upon sustainable development, 

expectations and opinions of internal and external stakeholders of the group and a road map is ascertained. In this 

scope, throughout the year 2020, the Group conucted a study aimed at determining its sustainability priorities 

together with around 200 Group executives and around 50 participants representing various external stakeholder 

groups. During this study, after approximately 100 socials, environmental, economic and corporate management 

subjects, mega-risk trends that have an impact upon sustainable development and 17 UN Sustainable Development 

Objectives were considered, with the approval of the senior management of Eczacıbaşı Holding, Group's priorities 

on which sustainability studies to be conducted in the short-term and long-term will focus were agreed upon. In this 

scope, matters of climate and environment, equality of opportunity, occupational safety and reliability, recycling and 

circular economy, business ethics and legal compliance, product liability and innovation; UN Sustainable 

Development Goals such as SDG3 Healthy Individuals, SDG4 Qualified Education, SDG5 Societal Gender 

Equality, SDG6 Clean Water and Sanitation, SDG8 Decent Work and Economic Growth, SDG9 Industry, 

Innovation and Infrastructure, SDG12 Responsible Consumption and Production, SDG13 Climate Action, SDG17 

Partnerships for Goals are among priorities of Eczacıbaşı Group. 

 

Management of sustainability risks, as part of Eczacıbaşı Group's corporate management structure and risk 

management model, is realized with an organizational structure spreading from Eczacıbaşı Holding Board of 

Directors to business units of the Group's companies. The The Board of Directors is responsible for making strategic 

decisions for management of sustainability. The The Board of Directors determines strategic orientations and 

corporate policies to be pursued by the Group's companies in line with risk and opportunity assessments conducted. 

At the senior management of the Holding, management of sustainability is represented by the Group CEO and 

Presidency of Human Resources and Sustainability Group that reports to her/him. Such organization built at the 

level of Eczacıbaşı Holding meets the Sustainability Strategy Team and Group companies composed of Holding 

representatives and representatives of the Group companies and representatives of study groups organized in the 

context of sustainability priorities. The Strategy Team agrees upon studies to be conducted in line with the strategic 

plan and pursues results of such studies. 

 

Sustainability priorities including matters of social, environmental, economic and corporate management are 

managed by determining short-term and long-term goals. Key Performance Indicators suitable for following up such 

goals are determined. Since Group companies have differing operational structures and fields of activity, goals and 

indicators are assigned after shaping them in the context of impacts arising in the company's operations. The 

progress is tracked with CEO Sharing Meetings that are held. Results derived also are reviewed along with senior 

managers of the Group companies and assessments conducted are submitted to the Board of Directors. At year-end 

meetings, sustainability performances of companies are assessed and rewarded. 
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Responding to expectations and priorities of stakeholders, building a regular, transparent and reliable 

communication constitute a substantial part of sustainability activities. Although annual reports contain main 

elements of sustainability activities and declarations associated with “Sustainability Principles Compliance 

Framework”, Eczacıbaşı Group Sustainability Report and the website are the main means of communication used 

for sharing detailed information. Corporate policies and strategies related to the Group sustainability priorities 

shaped with stakeholder opinions, short- and long-term goals, results derived from such goals with comparison by 

years and activities and innovation works of the Group companies aimed at increasing sustainability at business 

processes, products and service and achieving their goals are included in such reports published annually by taking 

principles set forth in GRI Standards as reference. Care is taken to ensure that explanations made reflect a balanced 

and objective portrait of the Group's performance and it is ensured that stakeholders gain access to accurate 

information in the easiest way possible. Performance results derived for goals established in terms of environmental 

and social matters are published after verifying them with independent third parties. 

 

At Group companies whose shares are traded at Borsa Istanbul, it is planned to kick off works for inclusion in Borsa 

Istanbul Sustainability Index and/or other international indices. After such works are completed, concrete efforts 

will be exerted for inclusion in such indices. 

 

Management of Environmental and Social Matters 

 

At all affiliates with production activities within structure of Eczacıbaşı Group, social and environmental matters are 

managed in line with the Group's priorities. Matters managed under environmental priorities include energy and 

water consumption, waste management, recycling and circular economy, climate change and greenhouse gas 

emissions4 and innovation. Equality of opportunity, occupational safety and reliability, business ethics and legal 

compliance including human and worker rights, product liability are considered within scope of social priorities. The 

Group's companies consider, at every point of value production cycle, reduction of adverse impacts in these fields 

and increasing positive impacts as a performance area of high priority. 

 

Study groups have also been established, specifically for such matters tracked within scope of Eczacıbaşı Group's 

sustainability management organization. Such study groups focusing on areas of impact such as energy efficiency, 

water efficiency, waste management, logistics, equality of opportunity, occupational health and safety consist of 

representatives of companies and facilities. Study groups determine the Group's goals in line with the Group's 

policies and business strategies. Such goals are included in companies' corporate goals and annual plans of senior 

managers. Thus, the performance to be obtained is encouraged. The Group's companies create management system 

and processes aimed at their studies in targeted areas. In this scope, ISO 14001 Environment Management Standard, 

ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety Standard and similar international system standards are commonly 

tracked by those affiliates with production activities. Our companies with production activities create their 

environment policies and occupational health and safety policies and announce them to their stakeholders. Activities 

performed and measures taken, results derived are tracked over the performance management system and 

consolidated at the Group level, and they are published in sustainability reports. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Group entities are not subject to any carbon pricing and taxation system. During the period subject to 

report, no carbon credit was taken for these purposes. 

 

Principles of human rights and worker rights applied at Eczacıbaşı Group are set forth in Eczacıbaşı Group's Code of 

Conduct document which is part of the personnel regulation. As an organization that has endorsed UN Global 

Compact, Eczacıbaşı Group adheres to human and worker rights specified in UN Universal Declaration of Human 

Rights and ILO Conventions to which Turley is a party.  

 

For Eczacıbaşı Group's companies, customers are the focal point of the quality understanding. Primary rules 

regulating relations of Group companies with customers are laid down in Eczacıbaşı Group's Code of Conduct 

document. Information and contact details for mechanisms by which customers or other stakeholders may convey 

their complaints related to violation of such rules are also available at this document. Also, Group companies create 

their own customer satisfaction policies and develop suitable complaint mechanisms. 

Anti-bribery and anti-corruption policies of Eczacıbaşı Group are available at Eczacıbaşı Group's Code of Conduct 

document, too.  

 

                                                 
4  Within scope of energy consumption data, primary fuel resources such as natural gas, diesel, LPG and fuel used facilities and 

indirect energy resources such as electricity, steam are reported. Therefore, energy consumptions within the class of Scope-1 

and Scope-2 emission are taken as basis for emission measurements. Scope 3 emission calculation is not done.  
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Although there is no standalone tax policy followed across the Group which is published at the corporate website, 

compliance with accounting and tax procedures is a part of our code of conduct, and information on tax performance 

is shared through financial statements of companies.  

 

The most comprehensive information regarding sustainability policies, activity and performance results of 

Eczacıbaşı Group can be found at Eczacıbaşı Sustainability Report published at www.eczacibasi.com.tr 5.  

 

Eczacıbaşı Group's companies also carry out social responsibility works for the purpose of strengthening the 

perception of sustainable development in the overall society, supporting enhancement in environmental and social 

fields apart from their own operations. Below is the summarized information regarding social responsibility works 

of Eczacıbaşı Group. 

 

 

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY   

 
The views defended and implemented throughout his life by Dr. Nejat F. Eczacıbaşı, the founder of the Group, 

constitute the Eczacıbaşı Group's fundamental principles and traditions on social services. 

 

As Eczacıbaşı Group, our primary responsibilities include contributing to improvement of community life in the 

fields of culture-art, sports, education, science and IT, and we provide our social services directly through 

organizations which we have established or in incorporation and management of which we are effectively involved. 

 

Culture-Arts 

Our founder Dr. Nejat F. Eczacıbaşı believed that any investment in arts and culture was a direct contribution to the 

development of the entire being of the society, including its social being, economy and policy. In line with this 

belief, we have been among the founders of the Istanbul Foundation for Culture and Arts and have been supporting 

it as a Founding Sponsor for 48 years. Istanbul Modern Art Museum, to which, we, as the founder, provided the first 

investment and project management financing and the core collection, was founded in 2004 as the first private 

museum that organizes modern and contemporary art exhibitions in Turkey.  

 
In 2017, which was the 75th anniversary of our Group, we have launched the Kültür Sanat (Culture - Art) Card 

project, aiming to increase the access of young people to culture and art activities. Starting from 2020, Eczacıbaşı 

Culture-Art Card, which can be used at Istanbul Modern as well as IKSV (Istanbul Foundation for Culture and Arts) 

events, helped 6000 university students meet the culture-arts.  

 

Sports 

Eczacıbaşı Sports Club is an institution that has continued its activities for more than 50 years. Our club, which 

includes various branches, operates in the “Women's Volleyball” branch in order to focus on an area and use its 

resources in the most efficient way. We continue our work with our Eczacıbaşı VitrA Women's Volleyball Team, 

"Slam Dunk for the Future" volleyball schools, infrastructure and young team.  

 

Education 

The Eczacıbaşı Hygiene Project, which we have been conducting since 2007 in the Boarding District Secondary 

Schools, is one of the most important projects of our Group. We are going to launch the project, which we carry out 

with our Group brands, including VitrA, Artema, Selpak and Eczacıbaşı Professional, in cooperation with Ministry 

of National Education (MEB). Within the scope of the project, after the plumbing infrastructure of wet spaces in 

BDSS in need is repaired by the MEB, bathrooms and toilets are renewed with VitrA and Artema branded products, 

Selpak personal hygiene training is provided to students, Eczacıbaşı Professional provides hygiene products to 

renovated schools. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Volunteers carry out many educational and creative projects, primarily in the fields of culture, art, 

science and technology. We aim to reach 60 schools by the end of 2021 within the scope of the project, which we 

carry out with a holistic perspective.  

 

 

                                                 
5  As of the publication date of our annual report, Eczacıbaşı Group Sustainability Report for 2020 has not been published yet. 

Sustainability reports of previous years are available at www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility/sustainable/ 

sustainable-reports. 

http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility/


EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 
 

SUSTAINABILITY 

 

5 

 

Science 

The foundations of the Dr. Nejat Eczacıbaşı Medical Awards were laid 61 years ago with our founder's 

understanding that “The main power that creates the future from today is the passion for scientific research”. Within 

the scope of this rewarding tradition, which is carried out with the “contribution to science, award to success” 

approach, medical scientists and projects that contribute to the development of medical science are rewarded every 

two years with the evaluation committee composed of distinguished scientists.  

 

Informatics 

"Turkey Informatics Foundation", in which Board Chairmanship is held by Faruk Eczacıbaşı, has been conducting 

studies with Eczacıbaşı Group's support for 25 years for the purpose of setting up the necessary infrastructure in 

order to render Turkey's transformation into an information society effective and efficient. Within the scope of 

"CODE Awards Educational Game Competition", primarily sponsored by Eczacıbaşı Group, which has been 

organized since 2017, educational games in the fields of mathematics and science are rewarded for the first time in 

Turkey. 

 

For details of social responsibility works conducted by Eczacıbaşı Group, please follow the link: 

https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility. 

https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility
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DECLARATION FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PRINCIPLES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.'s (“Company”) Report for Compliance with 

Corporate Governance Principles ("CRF") and Corporate Governance Information Form ("CGIF") pertaining to the 

accounting period of January 1st- December 31st, 2020 has been issued in accordance with the "Corporate 

Governance Communiqué No. II-17.1" ("Communiqué") of the Capital Markets Board ("CMB") published on the 

volume of Official Gazette dated January 3rd, 2014 and numbered 28871 and procedures and principles set forth in 

the Board Principle Decision dated 10.01.2019 and numbered 2/49, and the Corporate Governance Compliance 

Report ("CRF") and Corporate Governance Information Form ("CGIF") were adopted with the Board of Directors 

Decision dated 26/02/2021. 

 

Within the framework of the Communiqué in force, while the compulsory principles to be complied have been 

complied in full, compliance has been also provided with a great majority of those principles not compulsory to be 

complied. Although it is aimed to fully comply with the noncompulsory Corporate Governance Principles, it has not 

been possible yet to achieve full compliance due to the reasons such as the difficulties encountered in the 

implementation of some principles, the ongoing discussions in terms of compliance with some principles both in our 

country and in the international platform, and some principles not fully overlapping with the current structure of the 

market and of the Company. The studies are conducted on those principles not yet implemented and it is planned to 

put them into practice following the completion of the administrative, legal and technical infrastructure studies in a 

way to make a contribution to the effective management of our Company. It is believed that there is no conflict of 

interest resulting from those principles that have not been put into practice yet. Our remarks regarding those 

principles we have not complied with yet or we have partially complied with, from among principles that are not 

mandatory for compliance, are as follows: 

 

 The principle numbered 1.5.2; Our company does not have any privileged share that may limit exercise of 

shareholding/scarcity rights. Utmost care is taken for our shareholders to exercise their shareholding rights. 

Given our existing shareholding structure, distribution of our outstanding shares and general practices across our 

country, no change for expanding scope of scarcity rights in our articles of association is not foreseen, and 

applicable provisions associated with preservation of scarcity rights will continue to be adhered to.  

 The principle numbered 2.1.3; Although English versions of documents were not announced concurrently with 

the Turkish versions of disclosures published at the Public Disclosure Platform (PDP), English versions were 

loaded onto the corporate website shortly after the announcement made through PDP, and our corporate website 

was prepared in both Turkish and English and kept accessible by international investors. Since our company is 

part of the group one as from 2021, pursuant to the Communiqué, Turkish and English versions of documents 

have started to be simultaneously announced at PDP. 

 The principle numbered 3.2.1; Expectations and opinions of beneficiaries are taken within framework of “Code 

of Conduct”, applicable for all companies that are part of Eczacıbaşı Group ("Group"), human resources and 

sustainability policies and relevant models associated with assessment of them are applied. Social, environmental 

and corporate management risk and opportunities companies of the group are exposed to are considered along 

with their impacts upon sustainable development, expectations and opinions of internal and external stakeholders 

of the group and a road map is ascertained. Communication meetings, workshops, interviews with beneficiaries, 

notably, employees, demands and suggestions shared with questionnaires are considered by managers and 

policies and practices consistent with them are put into practice. Employees are informed about crucial decisions 

and practices by means of communication channels such as Corporate Portal (“Port-e”), text messages and e-

mails, and they are enabled to contribute to such decisions with their opinions and suggestions conveyed through 

such channels. Employees are evaluated through employee loyalty questionnaires, and improvement targets are 

added to performance cards of General Managers. In this framework, current practices conducted with a dynamic 

structure within the Group will continue to be pursued, and, in the short run, it is not foreseen that our Company 

will introduce an internal regulation for participation of employees in the management or the articles of 

association will be amended accordingly. 

 The principle numbered 4.2.8; The Company's managers are covered by the Group umbrella insurance, and the 

sum insured has been determined as an amount quite close to the one established in the principle, which is 

around 21% of our capital. Our company's capital is high, it is believed that the sum insured is at a level capable 

of covering reasonable risk that can be foreseen, and, if deemed necessary as a result of probable risk and cost 

analysis, amounts of cover may be increased in future periods. 

 Concerning the principle number 4.3.9; one of our current members of the Board of Directors is female 

(16.67%), and the minimum ratio of 25% stipulated in the principle has not been fulfilled. Equality of 

opportunity, at Eczacıbaşı Group of which our company is a part, has been adopted as one of the basic 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

2 

 

sustainability priorities. Actions are taken based on the perspective that the long-term success is not only based 

on increased overall share of women within the organization, but also active roles played by them. The said 

priority is taken into account when determining candidate board members for our company. Although the 

targeted ratio concerning ratio of female employees at the management and time are determined (the ratio 

determined for 2020 is 35%), no target ratio and time concerning female members have been determined 

specifically for the board of directors. Specifically for the board of directors, determination of 25% as the 

minimum female member ratio and the relevant time is among our long term targets.  

  The principle numbered 4.4.2; Although there is no minimum time by which information and documents 

relevant to the agenda items should be provided to all board members before the meeting, within framework of 

our established practices that have been in place for a long time, based on nature of matters to be discussed in the 

agenda, information and documents are made available to board members for review, as a rule, with ample time 

allowing them to carry out necessary assessment and review. No problems were encountered in this regard 

within framework of such functioning, and there was no need to draw up a separate written text. We are 

considering the matter of drawing up written regulations after conducting a comprehensive study on working 

principles of the board of directors in days to come. Such regulation will also include determination of a 

minimum time. 

 The principle numbered 4.4.5; The meeting procedures of the Board of Directors are determined in accordance 

with the principles of the Turkish Commercial Code, article 11 of our Articles of Association, and the 

established practices of our Company that has been in place for a long time. In this framework, agenda of the 

meeting is determined beforehand, and meetings are held according to a schedule consistent with the functioning 

of our company, providing information, documents and data required for the meeting. There was no need to draw 

up a separate written text in connection with this functioning that has turned into an established rule. We have, in 

our agenda, the matter of drawing up written regulations on working principles of the board of directors in days 

to come. 

 Pursuant to principle numbered 4.4.7, duties to be assumed by board members outside the Group have been 

limited as a principle. If board members assume duties outside the Company, such duties are given in our annual 

report and PDP (Public Disclosure Platform) in the section about our Company entitled “General 

Information/Details about Management Board”. Since care is taken for electing persons who will make a 

contribution to businesses and management of our Company due to nature of their duties within the Group, who 

have no obstacle for fulfilling their responsibilities related to board of directors membership, and could spare 

sufficient time for our Company, a restriction for duties assumed by members of the board of directors within the 

Group is not foreseen in the short term.  

 The principle numbered 4.5.5; some of our board members work in more than one committee. Our company is 

not directly engaged in industrial or service production activity, and it has the structure of a holding owing to its 

affiliates. Given its existing activities and organization and management structure established in accordance with 

such activities, board members sitting at more than one committee do not cause them to neglect their committee 

duties or do not result them spending insufficient time for such duties. Members working at more than committee 

also assure communication and collaboration between committees. Given professions, knowledge and 

experiences of board member, persons who are experts of subject matters are appointed to committees.  The 

existing structure does not hinder the active fulfillment of duties by the committees, considering the 

qualifications and specialties required by committee membership. No change has been planned yet in this regard, 

no change in this regard has been planned yet, and it is possible to consider an increase in number of independent 

board members in compliance with requirements of the Company.  

 The principle numbered 4.6.1; our board of directors holds an annual meeting whereby it evaluates operations of 

the Company and results thereof and overall performance of the management. However, there is no methodology 

or a written performance assessment system used for performance assessment of the board of directors and/or its 

members. Performances of all companies under the roof of the Group including our company are periodically 

reviewed, but no less frequently than quarterly. The performance evaluation of the company's senior 

management is carried out under the performance evaluation system of the human resources. When required, it is 

possible to consider outsourcing services for performance assessment of the board of directors form specialized 

institutions.  

 The principle numbered 4.6.5; payments made to the senior executives are collectively disclosed to the public in 

the footnotes of our financial statements. Our company, like many other companies in our country, adheres to the 

rule of salary confidentiality. Disclosure of individuals' salaries, considered a trade secret in terms of competition 

power, will be determined in line with general practices across our country.  
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Corporate Governance Compliance Report (CRF) and Corporate Governance Information Form (CGIF), pertaining 

to the Company's accounting period of 01.01.2020 - 31.12.2020, as adopted by the Company's Board of Directors 

Decision are available at the Company's corporate  website (www.eczacibasi.com.tr and www.eis.com.tr) under 

"Investor Relations/Eczacıbaşı Pharmaceutical, Industrial and Financial Investments/Corporate 

Governance/Corporate Governance Compliance Report” and at the Public Disclosure Platform (www.kap.org.tr). 

Also, reports are available at the end of this section. 

 

SHAREHOLDERS 

 

Investor Relations Department 
 

In EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. ("Company"), the relations with 

shareholders used to be managed by the Department of Relations with Capital Market and Partners established in 

1993 which was affiliated with the Finance Department. As a result of the organizational and operational changes 

made in 2006, the Department of Capital Market Relations and Financial Control Department of the Company has 

started conducting the duties of the former department as of November 1st, 2006. 

 

Relations between shareholder and investors and our Company are carried out under responsibility of “Investor 

Relations Department” as a result of collaborative work undertaken with the relevant division.  
 

Information regarding the executives in the Investor Relations Department: 
 

Investor Relations Department Manager: 

Name-Surname   : Gülnur Günbey Kartal 

Position    : Capital Market Relations and Financial Control Director 

Telephone    : 0 212 371 73 94 

Fax    : 0 212 371 73 99 

e-mail    : gulnur.gunbey@eczacibasi.com.tr  

Type / Number of License Certificate : Capital Market Activities Level 3 License / 204571 

       Corporate Governance Rating License / 700606 
 

Investor Relations Department Officer: 

Name-Surname   : Şerife Bilen 

Position    : Responsible Financial Planning and Control Specialist 

 

The Investor Relations Department of the Company plays an active role in protecting and facilitating the exercise of 

the shareholders' rights, particularly the right to obtain and examine information. 

 

The Investor Relations Department submitted its report regarding its activities conducted in 2020 to the Corporate 

Governance Committee on January 20, 2021, and the report submitted to the Committee was assessed by the Board 

of Directors on February 24, 2021. 

 

In 2020, the Company received 42 written demands for information from the shareholders and they were replied, 

verbally or in writing, within the framework of the relevant regulations and our disclosure policy.  

 

Exercise of Shareholders' Right to Obtain Information 
 

In the satisfaction of demands for the exercise of shareholders' rights, utmost attention is paid for compliance with 

the effective regulations, the Articles of Association, and other internal regulations, measures are taken to procure 

the exercise of such rights, and all shareholders are treated equally. In 2020, there was no written and/or verbal 

complaint received by the Company in relation with the exercise of shareholders' rights or there were no 

administrative and/or legal proceedings brought in this regard against the Company within our knowledge. 

 

The Company makes no distinction between the shareholders for the exercise of rights to obtain and examine 

information, and it shares all required information, excluding trade secrets, with the shareholders in order to properly 

exercise the shareholders' rights. Information is provided in a full timely and carefully way to fairly reflect the 

reality.  

 

http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
http://www.eis.com.tr/
http://www.kap.org.tr/
mailto:gulnur.gunbey@eczacibasi.com.tr
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Questions received by the Investor Relations Department within the year are replied, excluding confidential 

information and trade secrets, both by phone and in writing following communication with the highest authority in 

the respective subject. In order to extend the shareholders' right to obtain information, any and all information that 

may affect the exercise of their rights is presented to the shareholders in updated form in electronic media. Such 

information and developments that may affect the exercise of shareholders' rights are disclosed to the public through 

material disclosures and are also published on the website of the Company. 

 

Our Articles of Association does not include any regulation regarding the appointment of a special auditor as an 

individual right; however, pursuant to article 438 of the Turkish Commercial Code, each shareholder may request 

from the General Assembly the clarification of certain issues through special auditing, even though it is not included 

in the agenda, in order to exercise shareholders' rights, where necessary and if the rights to obtain and examine 

information have been exhausted. The shareholders have not made any such demand until today. In addition, our 

financial statements are periodically audited by the Independent Audit Company approved during the General 

Shareholders' Meeting. 

 

General Assembly Meetings 
 

Invitation to a General Shareholders' Meeting is announced at least 3 weeks prior to date of General Shareholders' 

Meeting, excluding the days of announcement and meeting, by considering the Turkish Commercial Code, the 

Capital Market legislation, our Articles of Association, and Corporate Governance Principles. The Company's 

Articles of Association has been issued pursuant thereto.  

 

On the date when our Board of Directors decides to hold a General Shareholders' Meeting, the public is informed by 

making required disclosures, including the items of the agenda, through PDP and Electronic General Meeting 

System ("EGMS").  

 

The announcement for invitation to the General Shareholders' Meeting is published on the Company's website and 

also on a daily newspaper no less than 3 weeks in advance of the date of the General Shareholders' Meeting using 

any means in addition to the methods set forth in the legislation to ensure that the invitation is received by the 

maximum number of shareholders.  

 

In order to facilitate participating in the General Shareholders' Meeting, meetings are held open to the public in the 

city center. Thus, it is possible also for the willing stakeholders to participate in General Shareholders' Meetings.  

 

Financial statements and reports including annual reports, profit distribution proposal, General Assembly 

Information Document issued regarding general assembly agenda, other documents forming basis to general 

assembly agenda, the last version of the Articles of Association and, if there shall be amendment to the Articles of 

Association, amendment text, and its reason, are kept open for examination in the places to which shareholders can 

reach in the easiest way, including the Company's headquarters and website, as of the date of announcement made 

for the invitation to the General Shareholders' Meeting. On the information documents related to agenda, 

information envisaged for each agenda item is provided to shareholders. In addition, the Company's website 

includes the English translation of all documents to be necessary for foreigner shareholders in order to inform them 

about the General Shareholders' Meeting and its agenda. 

 

Power of attorney samples for those to be represented by attorney are announced at the Trade Registry Journal 

before the General Shareholders' Meeting and are provided for the use of shareholders at PDP and the website. 

 

At the General Shareholders' Meeting, the issues on the agenda are conveyed impartially, in detail, clearly and in a 

comprehensible manner; and shareholders are given the opportunity to express their opinions and to ask questions 

under equal circumstances, and the opportunity is given to discuss the annual report and performance indicators of 

the Company.  

 

Minutes of General Shareholders' Meetings is disclosed to the public through PDP and can be also accessed from 

EGMS and the Company's website. Moreover, minutes is kept open for examination of the shareholders in the 

Company's headquarters and is delivered to those who demand it. 

 

The Company held a General Shareholders' Meeting once in 2020, and the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting in 

which the activities of 2019 were discussed was held with a quorum of 82.68% on April 9th, 2020. 40 shareholders, 

including 3 real persons and 37 legal entities, registered themselves in the List of Attendants. Our General 

Shareholders' Meeting was held under the supervision of the Ministerial Representative appointed by Istanbul 
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Provincial Directorate of Commerce of Istanbul Governorate of the Republic of Turkey. At the General 

Shareholders' Meeting, our shareholders exercised their rights to ask questions. The questions were replied by the 

Board Members depending on the subjects of the questions. The Company received no demand for the addition of 

an item to the agenda by the shareholders. A great majority of the questions received from our shareholders at the 

General Shareholders' Meeting were replied during the meeting and those questions requiring a certain study to 

reply them were replied within 15 days following the meeting date, sent by mail to the relevant investor, and 

published on our website on the same date. Information was provided at the General Shareholders' Meeting under an 

individual agenda item about the donations and aids made in 2019; the upper limit for donations to be made in 2020 

was determined as TL 1,000,000, and no change was made in the donation policy. 

 

According to CMB regulations, in 2020, there was no transaction where the affirmative vote of the majority of the 

Independent Board Members was sought in order to make a decision at the Board of Directors but where the 

decision was left to the General Assembly due to the negative vote of the mentioned members. 

 

 It was not in question the performance of any material transaction, by the shareholders having management control, 

or the Board members, or the senior executives having administrative responsibility, and their spouses and second 

degree relatives by blood and marriage, which might cause conflict of interests with the Company or its affiliate 

companies, and/or the performance of any transaction in type of commercial business within the subject of the 

business of the Company or its affiliate companies by the same on behalf of them or on behalf of others, or their 

participation in another partnership, engaging in the same type of commercial businesses, with the title of unlimited 

partner. 

 

In 2020, there was no transaction, notified to the Board of Directors, made by the persons who have the opportunity 

to access the Company information in a privileged manner, on behalf of them within the scope of activities of our 

Company. 

 

Voting Rights and Minority Rights 
 

In our Company, practices that make it difficult to exercise the voting rights are avoided, and each shareholder, even 

cross-border, is given the chance to exercise the voting right in a fair, easy and convenient way. With regards to the 

voting for agenda items during the General Shareholders' Meetings, open vote method by a show of hands is used, 

provided that the provisions for voting in electronic media are reserved. Each agenda item is individually voted 

during the meetings. 

 

There is not any privilege in our Articles of Association regarding the exercise of voting rights and each share has 

one voting right. In our Company, there is no regulation prescribing that a voting right is to be used after a while 

from the date of acquisition. In our Articles of Association, there is no provision which prevents a person, who is not 

a shareholder, from voting by proxy as a representative. Cumulative vote method is not applied.  

 

Our main partner Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., which holds the largest number of shares of our Company's capital with 

50.62% and whose 37.28% of the capital is owned by our Company, votes at our general shareholders' meetings. 

However, our Company does not vote at the General Shareholders' Meetings of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 

 

Our Articles of Association does not include any provision that prescribes or makes difficult the representation of 

minority in management, or that provides for the determination of minority in such a way that the minority would be 

less than one-twentieth of the capital. 

 

Transfer of Shares 
 

In our Articles of Association, there is not any provision restricting or making difficult the free transfer of shares. 

 

Dividend Right 
 

The Profit Distribution Policy of our Company and the annual profit distribution proposal of our Board of Directors 

are prepared in accordance with the profit distribution statement determined by CMB and are submitted for the 

information of our shareholders in PDP concurrently with the decision of the Board of Directors. The mentioned 

proposal is available in our annual report and is submitted to the approval of the shareholders at the General 

Shareholders' Meetings. In addition, the profit distribution statement and the profit distribution history, as well as 

detailed information regarding capital increases are disclosed to the public on the Company's website. 7.3% cash 

dividend was distributed to shareholders in 2020. 
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Profit Distribution Policy  
 

Within the scope of the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code, the Capital Market Legislation, Tax 

Legislation, the relevant legislation, and the article related to profit distribution in the Articles of Association; the 

Board of Directors decided to apply a profit distribution policy within the framework of the following concept, and 

this decision was submitted to the approval of the shareholders and accepted by them during the Ordinary General 

Shareholders' Meeting held on May 14, 2013. 
 

 The principle was adopted to distribute dividend as cash and/or bonus share over the “distributable profit for the 

period”, calculated within the scope of the Capital Market Legislation and the other relevant legislation, based on 

the net profit for the year in the financial statements issued within the scope of the Capital Market Legislation 

and made be subject to independent audit. 

 In our Articles of Association, there is not a specific regulation envisaging the application of giving profit share 

to our employees and members of the Board of Directors together with preferred stock related to obtaining share 

from profit, and promoter’s dividend share. 

 The profit distribution proposals submitted by our Board of Directors to the approval of our General Assembly 

are issued by considering the current profitability of our Company and the delicate balances between the possible 

expectations of our shareholders and the projected growth strategies of our Company.   

 The attention is paid to make the profit share payments (cash and/or bonus share) within the legal periods and as 

soon as possible following the General Shareholders' Meetings so as to be until the end of the period envisaged 

within the legislation at the latest. 
 

This dividend policy is still applied and our Board of Directors has not made any change within this regard. 

 

 Distributed profit share in previous years and its percentage 
 

The profit distribution information of the Company for the last five years is as follows:  
 

Year 
Profit Distribution 

Starting Date 

Amount 

(TL) 

Percentage (%) Form (%) 

Gross Net Cash Share 

2015 10.05.2016 219,283,200 40 34 40 - 

2016 08.05.2017 342,630,000 50 42.5 50 - 

2017 22.05.2018 137,052,000 20 17 20 - 

2018 20.05.2019 205,578,000 30 25.5 30 - 

2019 14.04.2020 50,023,980 7.3 6.205 7.3 - 

 

 

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 

 

Corporate Website and Its Content 
 

The Company's legal website, www.eis.com.tr, has been in use since April 2005. Thus, the information about our 

Company, the human resources, our affiliates, as well as the investor relations have become accessible to the public. 

As a result of the reorganization of our Company in 2007, the studies to update the website in compliance with the 

new structure were completed in 2008. The information on Investor Relations accessed from our Company's website 

www.eis.com.tr was directed to the address www.eczacibasi.com.tr as of 8th May 2009. 

 

A separate investor relations section has been created for publicly traded companies of the Group in the website of 

Eczacıbaşı Group (www.eczacibasi.com.tr). Information and documents stipulated by the Corporate Governance 

Principles of CMB and other relevant legislation are available in the "Investor Relations" on the website 

www.eczacibasi.com.tr. This section can also be accessed via the Company's legal website (www.eis.com.tr). 

 

Information set forth in the Corporate Governance Principles is presented to our investors at the website. The 

Investor Relations Section offers information, both in English and Turkish, for the last 5 years as a minimum. Care 

is taken to ensure that the information contained therein is constantly updated, is identical and consistent with the 

disclosures made in accordance with the relevant legislation, and does not contain any conflicting or missing 

information.  

 

The Investor Relations Department is responsible for preparing the content on the website, updating the information 

changed, and adding additional information. The studies to provide better service of the website always continue. 

 

http://www.eis.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
http://www.eis.com.tr/
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STAKEHOLDERS 
 

Informing the Stakeholders 
 

Information is provided to the stakeholders of our Company through General Assembly and by replying personal 

applications, by inviting them to meetings for matters concerning to them or by using the Group's website and 

electronic communication means where necessary, provided that it is within the scope of CMB legislation. 

Information to the public is provided both during press conferences held and statements made through media, and 

information is provided to employees, either face to face or virtually, during various organizations such as Strategic 

Planning, General Manager information and dissemination meetings (in such meetings, changes such as target 

sharing, salary, social benefits, and allowances are announced), and, when necessary, employee are informed via 

text messages, too. Eczacıbaşı Group has a portal called "Port-e" accessed by the employees and it is ensured that 

the employees can access any information and document to concern them, the significant announcements, changes 

in management, and press releases through this portal. In addition, the Corporate Communications Department 

within Eczacıbaşı Group publishes an internal periodic journal entitled "Yaşam" in order to increase the 

communication with the employees. 
 

Moreover, with our General Shareholders' Meetings open to all stakeholders, the information provided on the 

website of our Company, our annual reports, and our practices under our information policy based on transparency, 

it is aimed to inform not only the shareholders but also all stakeholders. 
 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş., rendering management services for Kanyon complex, offers support for 

meting needs of Kanyon lessees, who are the most important customers of ours, and the senior management of 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. informs the Board members at its meetings held monthly. Kanyon 

hirers are informed through financial activity reports issued both monthly and annually every March. Any and all 

wishes and suggestions of hirers, Kanyon visitors, and Kanyon office and residence habitants are received by 

Kanyon Customer Relations Department and Marketing Department in person, via e-mail, telephone, WhatsApp 

line, and ‘Sizi Dinliyoruz’ (We Listen To You) forms and Kanyon app and replied in line with the contact 

preferences of them. The reports of the Customer Relations and the reports such as the number of visitor entrances 

are shared with hirers, who demand them, and their suggestions are received and action plans are prepared 

accordingly. The requests received through Kanyon social media accounts, Kanyon application, www.kanyon.com.tr 

web site, www.sikayetvar.com web site are replied in line with the contact preferences of persons. Information about 

Kanyon is provided through Kanyon communication media such as digital screens, posters, notice boards, and 

brochure holders, Kanyon social media accounts, other media purchasing tools (outdoor, newspaper & magazine 

advertisements), and its website. Information is shared during the meeting regularly held with business partners, 

subcontractors, and suppliers and suggestions received through this channel are assessed. Also, common solutions 

are generated for problems of lessees through marketing activities and fictions thanks to regular meetings with 

lessees and questionnaires.  
 

The corporate governance structure of the Company gives the opportunity for all stakeholders including employees 

and representatives to convey their concerns regarding transactions not appropriate in terms of laws and ethics, 

through verbal-written and other means of communication. Stakeholders may submit those matters, which they 

believe do not comply with the legislation and are unethical, to the Compliance Board established within Eczacıbaşı 

Group via the communication form available at www.eis.com.tr or www.eczacibasi.com.tr and through the address 

uyum@eczacibasi.com.tr. The Code of Conduct booklet of Eczacıbaşı Group is published at the address 

https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/_Media/Upload/eczacibasi-toplulugu-davranis-kurallari.pdf. Such complaints may be 

communicated to the Audit Committee after being reviewed by the Audit Board of Eczacıbaşı Group. In addition, 

employees are able to submit those matters, which they believe do not comply with the issues on the Code of 

Conduct booklet of Eczacıbaşı Group and are unethical, to the Compliance Board established within Eczacıbaşı 

Group via the notification line on the corporate portal. 
 

Participation of Stakeholders in Management 
 

Models (surveys, interviews, etc.) supporting the participation of stakeholders, notably including employees, in the 

Company's management are carried out provided that the Company’s activities are not hindered. On the other hand, 

requests and suggestions made during meetings held with employees and other stakeholders are assessed by the 

managers, and policies and applications for these are realized. Within this framework, it is ensured that the 

stakeholders participate in the management with information provided at the General Shareholders' Meetings for 

shareholders and with information provided through various meetings, Corporate Portal ("Port-e"), and electronic 

mail for employees. Also, employees are asked for their opinions on common practices every 2 years as a minimum, 

measuring their loyalty and satisfaction. Apart form such overall Employee Loyalty questionnaire, employees' 

opinions and assessments regarding seasonal or special matters are always probed through different questionnaires 

http://www.kanyon.com.tr/
http://www.sikayetvar.com/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
mailto:uyum@eczacibasi.com.tr
https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/_Media/Upload/eczacibasi-toplulugu-davranis-kurallari.pdf
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or face to face workshops throughout the year. The improvement targets for questionnaire results are added to the 

performance cards of General Managers by also considering the Company's activities. 

 

Any and all suggestions, opinions, and ideas received in person, via e-mail, telephone, WhatsApp line, and ‘Sizi 

Dinliyoruz’ (We Listen To You) forms from the SC and office building hirers and residence habitants during the 

evaluation meetings held by Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. with the business partners from which it 

gets services are taken into consideration and such opinions that can be applied are put into practice. Likewise, the 

requests received through Kanyon social media accounts, Kanyon application, www.kanyon.com.tr website, 

www.sikayetvar.com website are also assessed. We develop projects whereby employees communicating with 

customers through Kanyonca, the communication language of Kanyon, will be stakeholders, coming up with lasting 

and visionary solutions for lessees' problems. Also, improvements are performed with the feedback received through 

the observation or witness of visitors' needs by the said Kanyonca personnel. During the meetings held with the 

hirers, their priorities such as the increase in turnover-number of visitors are determined, and an action plan is 

created and implemented. Projects are developed to ensure that new experiences are created by making contributions 

to differentiate services or that the existing experiences are improved. 

 

Human Resources Policy and Ethical Rules  
 

Our company is a part of the Eczacıbaşı Group and implements the Human Resources Policy and the Code of 

Conduct that apply to the Eczacıbaşı Group companies. Please visit  https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/tr/eczacibasi-

toplulugu/insan-kaynaklari-politikamiz for the Human Resources Policy of our Group and 

https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/_Media/Upload/eczacibasi-toplulugu-davranis-kurallari.pdf for the Code of Conduct.  

 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

Structure and Composition of the Board of Directors 
 

According to our Articles of Association, the activities and management of our Company are conducted by a board 

of directors comprised of minimum 5 members to be elected upon the decision of the General Assembly pursuant to 

the Turkish Commercial Code and the Capital Market Legislation. The authorities and responsibilities of members 

of the Board of Directors and managers are explicitly defined in the Articles of Association. The authorities are 

specified in the Company’s signature circular in detail. In our company, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and 

the General Manager are not the same person. 

 

Members of the Board of Directors are identified to allow them to carry out efficient and constructive studies, to 

take swift and rational decisions, to set up committees and to organize their studies effectively.  
 

Name & Surname Position 
Start Date of Taking 

Office (*) 

Status of 

Independency 

F. Bülent Eczacıbaşı Chairman of the Board of Directors 9 April 2020 - 

R. Faruk Eczacıbaşı Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 9 April 2020 - 

Atalay M. Gümrah Member 9 April 2020 - 

Seyfettin Sarıçam Member 9 April 2020 - 

H. Toker Alban Member 9 April 2020 Independent Member 

Zühal Atanan Member 9 April 2020 Independent Member 
 

(*)  The Board of Directors was elected to be in charge for one year during the Ordinary General Assembly 

Meeting dated 9 April 2020, and will hold the office until the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting where 

operations of the year 2020 are to be discussed. 

 

Upon the decision of the General Assembly dated 9 April 2020, our members of the Board of Directors were entitled 

to make transactions in accordance with articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish Commercial Code. Members of the 

Board of Directors can take office at companies affiliated with Eczacıbaşı Group, however, as a principle, they may 

not take office outside the Group.  

 

It is considered that having diversity in terms of knowledge, experience, and point of view in our Board of Directors 

will make a positive contribution to the Company's activities and to the effective working of the Board of Directors. 

Currently, Zühal Atanan is the female member of the Board of Directors, and the rate of female members is 16.7%. 

 

http://www.kanyon.com.tr/
http://www.sikayetvar.com/
https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/tr/eczacibasi-toplulugu/insan-kaynaklari-politikamiz
https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/tr/eczacibasi-toplulugu/insan-kaynaklari-politikamiz
https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/_Media/Upload/eczacibasi-toplulugu-davranis-kurallari.pdf
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During the Ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting dated 9 April 2020, 2 independent members capable of 

fulfilling their duties without being influenced by anything were elected among the Board members in accordance 

with the Corporate Governance Principles of the Capital Markets Board. All of the Independent Members of the 

Board fully meet the "independency criteria" specified in the Communiqué. The candidates for Independent Member 

of the Board submitted their declarations of independence and their background information to the Corporate 

Governance Committee before the General Shareholders' Meeting and all of them were identified as independent 

members by the Board of Directors. The declarations of independence of our Independent Members of the Board are 

provided at the end of the report. 

 

The committees in which the Board members take office and external commitments of the Board members are 

provided below: 
 

Name & 

Surname 
External Commitments as of the Most Recent Situation 

Committees Taken Part in and 

Duties 

F. Bülent 

Eczacıbaşı 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - Chairman of the Board of Directors  

Chairman of the Board of Presidents (Executive Board) of Eczacıbaşı Group  

Chairman of the Boards of Directors at companies of Eczacıbaşı Group  

None. 

R. Faruk 

Eczacıbaşı 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Vice Chairman of the Board of Presidents (Executive Board) of Eczacıbaşı 
Group 

Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Boards of Directors at companies of 
Eczacıbaşı Group 

None.  

Atalay M. 

Gümrah 

Eczacıbaşı Group - CEO 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - General Manager 

Member of the Boards of Directors at companies of Eczacıbaşı Group 

Committee of Early Detection of 

Risk - Member 

Seyfettin 

Sarıçam 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş Head of Financial Affairs and Financing Group 

Member of the Boards of Directors at companies of Eczacıbaşı Group 

Corporate Governance Committee 

- Member 

H. Toker 

Alban 
İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. - 

Independent Member of the Board of Directors 

Audit Committee - President 

Corporate Governance Committee 
- President 

Zühal 

Atanan 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. - 

Independent Member of the Board of Directors 

Committee of Early Detection of 

Risk - President 

Audit Committee - Member 
 

 The members of the Board of Directors did not take any action against the prohibition of competition within 

the period of January 1 – December 31, 2020. 
 

 The curriculum vitae information of the members of the Board is included in the preamble section of the 

annual report at the corporate website. 

 

Operation Principles of the Board of Directors 
 

The Board of Directors holds meetings as required by the Company businesses, as laid down in the Articles of 

Association of our Company. Agenda of meetings of the Board of Directors is determined upon notification of 

issues, explicitly ordered in our Company's Articles of Association to be submitted to the decision of the Board of 

Directors, by relevant departments to the Company's senior management and to the members of the Board of 

Directors. In addition, in the event that any one of the members of the Board of Directors proposes taking of a 

decision about a certain matter to Company's Senior Management, the agenda of the meeting may be determined 

accordingly. Attention is paid that the information and documents related to the agenda of a Board meeting are 

submitted in such periods of time that members can carry out necessary examinations and assessments. In 2020, our 

Board of Directors held 20 meetings in total either physically or virtually and the participation of members to such 

meetings was 96.43% on average. Physical meetings are held in the Company's headquarters and the invitation to 

meetings is made by telephone and/or e-mail. No electronic portal is used for activities of the Board of Directors. In 

the event that the Board members cannot participate in meetings, they can submit their opinions in writing. Material 

decisions of the Board of Directors are disclosed to the public through PDP and are published in Turkish and 

English at the website. 
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Each member of the Board of Directors has one voting right. No prevailing voting right and veto right has been 

granted to members of the Board of Directors. The resolutions taken in the Board of Directors meetings were 

unanimously taken by those present, and there was no member of the Board opposing to the resolutions taken. As no 

such opposition or view was declared at the meetings of the Board of Directors held in 2020, no public disclosure 

was made in this regard.  

 

At the meetings of the Board of Directors, the issues on the agenda are discussed openly and in all respects. The 

Chairman of the Board of Directors makes his best efforts to guarantee active participation of non-executive 

members in the meetings of the Board of Directors. There is no Board member to whom authority was transferred 

upon allocation of duties. The Board of Directors holds an evaluation meeting to review whether it has duly 

discharged all its responsibilities. For the evaluation of 2020, independent experts were not employed.  

 

Our Company offers a "Directors and Officers liability insurance" to members of the Board of Directors and senior 

executives under the umbrella insurance of the Group, and the sum insured is below 25% of the Company capital.  

 

Number, Composition and Independence of Board Committees 
 

Our Company has committees to enable the Board of Directors to effectively and efficiently fulfill its duties and 

responsibilities, and the committees conduct their activities within the framework of the determined working 

principles. Some of our board members work in more than one committee. Our company is not directly engaged in 

industrial or service production activity, and it has the structure of a holding owing to its affiliates. Given its existing 

activities and organization and management structure established in accordance with such activities, board members 

sitting at more than one committee do not cause them to neglect their committee duties or do not result them 

spending insufficient time for such duties. Members working at more than committee also assure communication 

and collaboration between committees. Given professions, knowledge and experiences of board member, persons 

who are experts of subject matters are appointed to committees.  The existing structure does not hinder the active 

fulfillment of duties by the committees, considering the qualifications and specialties required by committee 

membership. 

 

The fields of duty and the working principles of the committees, as well as the members to form such committees 

are determined by the Board of Directors and announced to the public on the website of the Company. 

 

All the members of the Audit Committee and the presidents of the other committees are elected among the 

independent members of the Board of Directors. General Manager cannot take charge in committees. Considering 

the structure of our Company's Board of Directors, some members of the Board had to take office in several 

committees within the scope of the compulsion to establish three different committees pursuant to the Capital 

Market legislation. However, this does not cause any conflict of interest. 

 

The Board of Directors provides the committees with any resource and support required for the fulfillment of their 

duties. The committees can invite any person they deem required to their meetings and receive the opinion of such 

person. The committees make use of independent expert views on issues which they deem necessary in relation to 

their activities, and fees for consultancy services are borne by the Company. In 2020, the Board of Directors did not 

get any consultancy services from any independent person and/or organization. 

 

Audit Committee 
 

Established upon the decision made during the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 6th May 2003, the Audit 

Committee fulfills the duties stipulated in the Capital Market Legislation and the Corporate Governance Principles. 

All the members of the Audit Committee are independent members of the Board of Directors. During the meeting of 

our Company's Board of Directors held on April 13, 2020, it was resolved that the committee be composed of 2 

members and H. Toker Alban be appointed as the President and Zühal Atanan be appointed as member.  

 

Information on Members of the Committee in charge of Audit: 
 

Name & Surname Title in the Committee Position Executive/non-executive 

H. Toker Alban Chairman Independent Member of the Board of Directors Non-executive 

Zühal Atanan Member Independent Member of the Board of Directors Non-executive 

 

The working principles of the Committee are announced on the website of the Company and the Committee holds 

regular meetings four times a year. Moreover, it submits its opinion, to the Board of Directors in writing, with 
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regards to election of independent auditor and its opinion built regarding accuracy, authenticity and compliance of 

annual and interim financial statements, to be disclosed to public, with the accounting principles followed by the 

partnership also by considering the assessments of the responsible managers of the partnership and of the 

independent auditors. The Audit Committee held 8 meetings related to its activities in 2020. 

 

The activities carried out by the Committee in 2020 are mainly as follows: 
 

- It prepared its proposal regarding the Independent Audit Firm it determined for the audit of the financial 

statements and the annual report issued in 2020 and the reports related to the Committee of Early Detection of 

Risk, and submitted it to Board of Directors for approval. 

- It made its own assessment regarding the accuracy, authenticity and compliance of the consolidated financial 

statements of 2020, disclosed to public, with the accounting principles followed by the Company by receiving 

opinions from the Company's responsible managers and also from the independent auditor in June and 

December, and submitted it to the Board of Directors for approval. 

- It obtained the necessary information about the internal control and internal audit activities of the Company from 

the Audit Board. 

 

Corporate Governance Committee 
 

It was established upon the decision of the Board of Directors dated May 31st, 2012 in order to monitor the 

Company’s compliance with the corporate governance principles, to perform improvement studies in this regard, 

and to make suggestions to the Board of Directors. During the meeting of our Company's Board of Directors dated 

13 April 2020, it was decided to form the Corporate Governance Committee by three members and to appoint H. 

Toker Alban, the independent member of the Board of Directors, as President and Seyfettin Sarıçam and Gülnur 

Günbey Kartal (Investor Relations Manager) as members. As individual Nomination Committee and Remuneration 

Committee could not be established due to the structure of the Board of Directors, it was decided upon the same 

decision that the Corporate Governance Committee would fulfill also the duties of these committees. 

 

Information on Members of the Corporate Governance Committee 
 

Name & Surname Title in the Committee Position Executive/non-executive 

H. Toker Alban Chairman Independent Member of the Board of Directors Non-executive 

Seyfettin Sarıçam Member Member of the Board of Directors Non-executive 

Gülnur Günbey Kartal Member Investor Relations Manager -  

 

The Corporate Governance Committee determines whether the corporate governance principles are applied in the 

Company, if not, the reason thereof, and the conflicts of interest arising from not fully observing these principles, 

and makes suggestions to the Board of Directors for improving the practices, and oversees the activities of the 

Investor Relations Department. 

 

The working principles of the Committee are announced on the website of the Company. The Corporate Governance 

Committee held 5 meetings related to its activities in 2020. 

 

Early Risk Detection Committee 
 

In accordance with the Communiqué, with series IV number 63, of CMB that entered into force after its publication 

on the volume of the Official Gazette number 28567 dated February 22nd, 2013; during its meeting held on May 17th, 

2013, our Board of Directors removed the risk issue, included within the duties and responsibilities of the Corporate 

Governance Committee, from the duties and responsibilities of this committee and decided to establish the 

"Committee of Early Detection of Risk" to work in this regard. During the meeting of our Company's Board of 

Directors held on April 13, 2020, it was resolved that the committee be composed of 2 members and Zühal Atanan 

be appointed as the President and Atalay M. Gümrah be appointed as member. The working principles of the 

Committee are announced on the website of the Company. 

 

Information on Members of the Early Risk Detection Committee  
 

Name & Surname Title in the Committee Position Executive/non-executive 

Zühal Atanan Chairman Independent Member of the Board of Directors Non-executive 

Atalay M. Gümrah  Member Member of the Board of Directors Non-executive 
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The Committee of Early Detection of Risk makes suggestions and recommendations to the Board of Directors for 

the issues related to the early determination and assessment of any strategic, operational, financial, legal and any 

other risks to endanger the existence, development, and continuance of the Company; the calculation of effects and 

possibilities of such risks; the management of such risks in accordance with the corporate risk taking profile of the 

Company; reporting of such risks; implementing the required precautions related to the determined risks; taking 

such precautions into consideration in the decision mechanisms; and creating effective internal control systems 

accordingly and the integration thereof, in order to comply both with the regulations of the Capital Markets Board 

on Corporate Governance and article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code number 6102. The duties and the 

working principles of the Committee of Early Detection of Risk have been determined within the framework of the 

Capital Market Legislation, the Company's Articles of Association, the Turkish Commercial Code and the 

regulations, provisions, and principles included in the "Corporate Governance Principles" of the Capital Markets 

Board. The Article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code stipulates that, with its bimonthly report to be submitted, 

the Committee will assess the relevant period regarding the risks that may affect the existence and the continuation 

of the Company, will refer hazards, if any, and will show solutions. Within this framework, the Committee of Early 

Detection of Risk held 7 meetings related to its activities in 2020. 

 

Assessment of the Board of Directors Related to the Activities of the Committees 
 

Established by the Board of Directors, the committees discharged their duties and responsibilities set forth in their 

duty and working principles and took care to convene at frequencies deemed necessary for effective work. The 

committees informed the Board of Directors, verbally and in writing, about their works. 

 

Risk Management and Internal Control Mechanism  
 

The risk management of our company is dealt with a holistic perspective, and a continuous and systematic process is 

applied. The strategic, operational, financial, compliance and sustainability related risks and all other risks likely to 

affect existence of, achievement by the Company of its short and long-term objectives and endanger its development 

and continuity are assessed at each level of the organization starting from the Board of Directors level. 

 

In order to manage the risks in accordance with the corporate risk-taking profile of the Company, process owners 

perform the necessary analysis and studies, follow up the results and report them regularly. Care is taken at all levels 

to take into account the risks and their effects in decision-making mechanisms by implementing the necessary 

measures related to the identified risks.   

 
The Board of Directors creates internal control systems to include risk management, information systems, and 

processes that are able to minimize risks that may affect the Company's stakeholders, including, notably the 

shareholders, by also considering the views of the relevant committees of the Board of Directors. Necessary 

improvements are made by following up effectiveness in order to ensure integration of risk management and internal 

control systems into the Company's corporate structure.  

 

The primary risks incurred by the Company are monitored under two main titles as financial risks (foreign 

exchange, interest, liquidity, and credit) and nonfinancial risks (strategic, operational, compliance and 

sustainability), and the Board of Directors is periodically informed about these risks. Detailed information related to 

risk management is available in the relevant section of the annual report. 

 

Strategic Targets of the Company 
 

The Board of Directors manages and represents the Company through strategic decisions by observing, in the first 

place, long-term interests of the Company, using a reasonable and cautious risk management approach that keeps the 

Company’s risk, growth and yield balance at the right level.  

 

The Board of Directors defines the strategic targets of the Company, determines the needed human and financial 

resources, and audits the performance of the management. 

 

The Board of Directors observes that the Company's activities are in compliance with the legislation, the Articles of 

Association, internal regulations, and the adopted policies. During the Board of Directors and Senior Management 

meetings held periodically, the Company's objectives and its activities realized are monitored so as to include the 

performances of the previous periods. The current situation of the Company is reviewed and new targets and 

strategies are developed where deemed necessary as a result of existing conditions. 
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Financial Rights 
 

Our Company's "Compensation Policy for the Board of Directors and Senior Executives", including any rights and 

benefits provided to the members of the Board of Directors and Senior Executives, as well as the criteria to 

determine these and the compensation principles, was submitted for review of our shareholders on our website 

through the "Information Document" published three weeks before the Ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting 

dated 9 April 2020. 

 

There is no transaction to cause a conflict of interest such as lending by the Company to the members of the Board 

of Directors or to senior executives having administrative responsibility, making loan available to them, making loan 

available to them by means of personal loan through a third person, or giving security on their behalf. 

 

Benefits provided to members of the Board of Directors and senior executives  

 

The Group has identified its senior management as the members of the Board of Directors, the heads and assistant 

heads of groups, and the general manager at the Company and subsidiaries of the Company. Short-term benefits 

provided to senior management include salary, premium, health insurance, leave, severance encouragement award 

and interests in kind, while long-term benefits include severance pay and/or service award paid to dismissed senior 

executives due to retirement and/or transfer. Total benefits provided to senior executives are collectively disclosed 

to the public in footnotes of financial statements in line with general practices. 

 

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the breakdown of benefits provided to senior executives is as follows: 

 

Benefits provided to senior executives (Thousand TL) 2020 2019 
 

Short-term benefits provided to members of the Board of Directors and senior management   8,349 7,437 

Long-term benefits provided to members of the Board of Directors and senior management -  
 

 8,349 7,437 
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1. SHAREHOLDERS 
 

1.1. Facilitating the Exercise of Shareholders' Rights 

The number of investor meetings (conference, seminar, 
etc.) organised by the company during the year 

0 

1.2. Right to Obtain and Examine Information  

The number of special audit request(s) 0 

The number of special audit requests that were accepted at 
the General Shareholders' Meeting 

0 

1.3. General Assembly  

Link to the PDP announcement that demonstrates the 

information requested by Principle 1.3.1. (a-d) 
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/827445  

Whether the company provides materials for the General 

Shareholders' Meeting in English and Turkish at the same 
time 

Although English versions of documents were not announced concurrently with 
the Turkish versions at the PDP, English versions were loaded onto the corporate 

website shortly after the announcement made through PDP, and our corporate 

website was prepared in both Turkish and English and kept accessible by 
international investors. Since our company is part of the group one as from 2021, 

pursuant to the Communiqué, Turkish and English versions of documents will be 

simultaneously announced at PDP. 

The links to the PDP announcements associated with the 
transactions that are not approved by the majority of 

independent directors or by unanimous votes of present 

board members in the context of Principle 1.3.9 

There is no transaction in this regard. 

The links to the PDP announcements associated with 

related party transactions in the context of Article 9 of the 
Communique on Corporate Governance (II-17.1) 

There is no transaction in such nature. 

The links to the PDP announcements associated with 
common and continuous transactions in the context of 

Article 10 of the Communique on Corporate Governance 

(II-17.1) 

There is no transaction in this regard. 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 

demonstrates the donation policy of the company 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar /  

Corporate Governance / Donation and Aid Policy 

The relevant link to the PDP with minute of the General 

Shareholders' Meeting where the donation policy has been 

approved 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/836963   

The number of the provisions of the articles of association 

that discuss the participation of stakeholders to the 
General Shareholders' Meeting 

There is no such article of such nature in the articles of association. It is possible 

for those stakeholders who wish to do so to attend general assembly meetings with 
no right of taking the floor. 

Identified stakeholder groups that participated in the 

General Shareholders' Meeting, if any 

Apart from the shareholders, members of the Board of Directors, some employees 
from the Eczacıbaşı Group and our Company, and an independent audit company's 

representative attended the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting where the 2019 
activities were discussed. 

1.4. Voting Rights  

Whether the shares of the company have differential 

voting rights 
No 

In case that there are voting privileges, indicate the owner 

and percentage of the voting majority of shares. 
 

The percentage of ownership of the largest shareholder 50.62% 

1.5. Minority Rights  

Whether the scope of minority rights enlarged (in terms of 
content or the ratio) in the articles of the association 

No 

If yes, specify the relevant provision of the articles of 

association. 
 

1.6. Dividend Right  

The name of the section on the corporate website that 

describes the dividend distribution policy 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar /  

Corporate Governance / Profit Distribution Policy 

Minutes of the relevant agenda item in case the board of 

directors proposed to the general assembly not to 
distribute dividends, the reason for such proposal and 

information as to use of the dividend 

It was decided to distribute dividends. 

PDP link to the related general shareholder meeting 
minutes in case the board of directors proposed to the 

general assembly not to distribute dividends 

It was decided to distribute dividends. 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/827445
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/836963
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General Assembly Meetings 
 

General 

Board 

Date 

The number 

of 

information 

requests 

received by 

the 

company 

regarding 

the 

clarification 

of the 

agenda of 

the General 

Shareholder

s' Meeting 

Shareholder 

participation 

rate to the 

General 

Shareholders' 

Meeting 

Percentage 

of shares 

directly 

present at 

the GSM 

Percentage 

of shares 

represented 

by proxy 

Specify the name of the 

page of the corporate 

website that contains the 

General Shareholders' 

Meeting minutes, and 

also indicates for each 

resolution the voting 

levels for or against 

Specify the 

name of the 

page of the 

corporate 

website that 

contains all 

questions asked 

in the general 

assembly 

meeting and all 

responses to 

them 

The number 

of the 

relevant item 

or paragraph 

of General 

Shareholders

' Meeting 

minutes in 

relation to 

related party 

transactions 

The number 

of 

declarations 

by insiders 

received by 

the board of 

directors 

The link to the related 

PDP general shareholder 

meeting notification  

09/04/2020 0 82.68% 0.17% 82.51% 

Investor Relations / 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar / 

General Assembly / 

General Assembly 

Minutes 

Investor 

Relations / 

Eczacıbaşı 

İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal 

Yatırımlar / 

General 

Assembly / 

General 

Assembly 

Minutes and 

Questions 

Replied in 

Writing 

Following the 

General 

Assembly 

None. 0 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/

Bildirim/836963 ; 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/

Bildirim/836989 ; 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/

Bildirim/837009 ; 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/

Bildirim/837011 

 

 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/836963
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/836963
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/836989
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/836989
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/837009
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/837009
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/837011
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/837011
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2 DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 
 

2.1. Corporate Website 

Specify the name of the sections of the website 

providing the information requested by the Principle 
2.1.1. 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar / Financial Information 

- Announcements and Presentations - Corporate Governance - General Assembly - 
Frequently Asked Questions - Contact 

If applicable, specify the name of the sections of the 

website providing the list of shareholders (ultimate 
beneficiaries) who directly or indirectly own more 

than 5% of the shares. 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar /  

Corporate Governance / Shareholding Structure 

List of languages for which the website is available Turkish and English 

2.2. Annual Report 

 The page numbers and/or name of the sections in 

the Annual Report that demonstrate the 

information requested by principle 2.2.2. 

a) The page numbers and/or name of the sections in 

the Annual Report that demonstrate the information 

on the duties of the members of the board of 
directors and executives conducted out of the 

company and declarations on independence of 

board members 

The duties of the members of the Board of Directors conducted out of the Company are 

explained in on page 9 of Annual Report / Corporate Governance section; the duties of 

the executives conducted out of the Company are explained on page 3 of the Annual 

Report; and the declarations of independence are given on pages 30-31 of Annual Report 
/ Corporate Governance section. 

b) The page numbers or names of the sections that 
include information about the committees formed 

within the Board 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section, pages 10 and 11. 

c) The page numbers or names of the sections that 
include information about the number of board 

meetings held during the year and the attendance of 
the members to these meetings 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section, page 9. 

ç) The page numbers or name of the sections that 

include information about amendments to the 
legislation which may significantly affect the 

activities of the corporation 

There is no legislative change that may significantly affect the Company's activities It is 
explained on page 5 of the Annual Report. 

d) The page numbers or names of the sections that 

include information about significant lawsuits filed 

against the corporation and the possible results 

thereof 

There is no lawsuit brought against the company that may affect its financial position. 

It is explained on page 5 of the Annual Report. 

e) The page numbers or names of the sections that 
include information about the Company's conflicts 

of interest with the organizations from which it 

receives services such as investment consultancy 
and rating services and about the measures taken to 

prevent such conflicts 

No investment consultancy and rating service was procured.  

It is explained on page 5 of the Annual Report. 

f) The page numbers or names of the sections that 
include information about the cross ownership 

subsidiaries that the direct contribution to the 

capital exceeds 5% 

It is explained on page 5 of the Annual Report. 

g) The page numbers or names of the sections that 
include information about social rights and 

professional training of the employees and 
corporate social responsibility activities related to 

company activities leading to social and 

environmental results 

The information on social rights and professional training of the employees is provided 
on page 3 of the Annual Report, and the information on activities of corporate social 

responsibility is provided on page 4-5 of the Annual Report / Sustainability section. 
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3. STAKEHOLDERS 
 

3.1. Corporation’s Policy on Stakeholders 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 

demonstrates the employee remedy or severance 
policy 

Although intra-company regulations do not a written compensation policy, 

compensation rights of beneficiaries are managed according to national and international 
legal norm. 

The number of definitive convictions the company 
was subject to in relation to breach of employee rights 

0 

The position of the person responsible for the alert 
mechanism (i.e. whistleblowing mechanism) 

Compliance Board of Eczacıbaşı Group 

The contact detail of the company alert mechanism. 

E-mail address: uyum@eczacibasi.com.tr 

Telephone number: (0 212) 371 72 72  

Fax number: (0 212) 371 72 66 

3.2. Supporting the Participation of the 

Stakeholders in the Corporation’s Management 
 

Name of the section on the corporate website that 

demonstrates the internal regulation addressing the 
participation of employees on management bodies. 

Eczacıbaşı Group Human Resources Practices Manual (Personnel Regulation)’ does not 

have a public link. 

Corporate bodies where employees are actually 
represented 

- 

3.3. Human Resources Policy  

The role of the board on developing and ensuring that 
the company has a succession plan for the key 

management positions 

Developing a succession plan for the key management positions is determined by the 
Company's Human Resources Planning Board and monitored by the Group's Talents and 

Remuneration Committee. 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 
demonstrates the human resource policy covering 

equal opportunities and hiring principles. Also 
provide a summary of relevant parts of the human 

resource policy. 

The equal opportunities policy of Eczacıbaşı Group is published at 
www.eczacibasi.com.tr / Social Responsibility / Sustainability / Gender Equality, and 

the human resources policy covering hiring principles is published at 

www.eczacibasi.com.tr / Group / Human Resources / Talent Selection / Recruitment. 

Whether the company provides an employee stock 
ownership programme 

The Company does not provide an employee stock ownership programme.  

(There isn't an employee stock ownership programme) 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 

demonstrates the human resource policy covering 

discrimination and mistreatments and the measures to 

prevent them. Also provide a summary of relevant 
parts of the human resource policy.  

Eczacıbaşı Group's policy covering discrimination and mistreatments and the measures 
to prevent them is published at www.eczacibasi.com.tr / Home / Code of Conduct.  

The number of definitive convictions the company is 
subject to in relation to health and safety measures 

0 

3.5. Ethical Rules and Social Responsibility  

The name of the section on the corporate website that 
demonstrates the code of ethics 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar /  

Corporate Governance / Work Ethics 

The name of the section on the company website that 
demonstrates the corporate social responsibility 

report. If such a report does not exist, provide the 
information about any measures taken on 

environmental, social and corporate governance 

issues. 

The activities carried out for corporate social responsibility issues in Eczacıbaşı Group 
are published at www.eczacibasi.com.tr/ Social Responsibility.  

Any measures combating any kind of corruption 

including embezzlement and bribery 

The measures taken by Eczacıbaşı Group for combating corruption are included in the 

Code of Conduct booklet and published at www.eczacibasi.com.tr / Home / Code of 

Conduct. 

mailto:uyum@eczacibasi.com.tr
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
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4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS-I 

 
4.2. Principles of Operation of the Board of 

Directors 

Date of the last board evaluation conducted 04/02/2020 

Whether the board evaluation was externally 
facilitated 

No 

Whether all board members released from their duties 
at the GSM 

Yes. 

Name(s) of the board member(s) with specific 

delegated duties and authorities, and descriptions of 
such duties 

There is no Board member to whom authority was transferred upon allocation of duties. 

Any two of members of the Board of Directors are authorized to jointly sign on behalf of 
the Company. 

Number of reports presented by internal auditors to 
the audit committee or any relevant committee to the 

board 

0 

The name of the section or page number in the annual 

report that includes an assessment of the effectiveness 

of internal control system  

It is explained on page 7 of the Annual Report.  

Name of the Chairman Ferit Bülent Eczacıbaşı 

Name of the CEO Müge Satır (Acting General Manager) 

If the CEO and Chair functions are combined: provide 
the link to the relevant PDP announcement providing 

the rationale for such combined roles 

They are not the same person. 

Link to the PDP notification stating that any damage 
that may be caused by the members of the board of 

directors during the discharge of their duties is insured 

for an amount exceeding 25% of the company's 
capital 

Insurance was subscribed under the umbrella insurance of the Group and the sum insured 
is below 25% of the Company capital. 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 

demonstrates current diversity policy targeting 
women directors 

There is not a written diversity policy targeting an increase in the number of female 
board members. 

The number and ratio of female directors within the 

Board of Directors 
Number: 1 ; Ratio: 16.7% 

 

 

Composition of Board of Directors 
 

Name, 
Surname   

of Board 
Member 

Whether 
Executive 

Director or 
Not 

Whether 
Independent Director 

or Not 

The First 
Election 

Date to 
Board  

Link to PDP Notification 
That Includes the 

Independency 
Declaration 

Whether the 

Independent 
Director Considered 

by the Nomination 

Committee 

Whether or not 

there is a 
Member Who 

lost her/his 

independence 

Whether The 
Director Has At 

Least 5 Years’ 

Experience in 
the field of 

Audit, 

Accounting 
and/or Finance 

or Not 

Ferit 
Bülent 

Eczacıbaşı 

Nonexecutive  
Not Independent 

Member 
03/04/1981  Not applicable Not applicable Yes 

Rahmi 

Faruk 
Eczacıbaşı 

Nonexecutive  
Not Independent 

Member 
31/03/1993  Not applicable Not applicable Yes 

Atalay 
Muharrem 

Gümrah 

Nonexecutive  
Not Independent 

Member 
12/04/2018  Not applicable Not applicable Yes 

Seyfettin 

Sarıçam 
Nonexecutive  

Not Independent 

Member 
09/04/2020  Not applicable Not applicable Yes 

Hasan 
Toker 

Alban 

Nonexecutive  
Independent 

Member 
12/04/2018 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/
Bildirim/827445  

Considered  No  Yes 

Zühal 
Atanan 

Nonexecutive 
Independent 

Member 
12/04/2018 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/
Bildirim/827445 Considered  No  Yes 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/827445
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/827445
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/827445
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/827445
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4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS-II 
 

  4.4. Meeting Procedures of the Board of Directors 

Number of physical board meetings in the reporting 

period (meetings in person) 
20 

Director average attendance rate at board meetings 96.43% 

Whether the board uses an electronic portal to support 

its work or not 
No 

Number of minimum days ahead of the board meeting 
to provide information to directors, as per the board 

charter 

Although there is no minimum time by which information and documents relevant to the 

agenda items should be provided to all board members before the meeting, within 
framework of our established practices, based on nature of matters to be discussed in the 

agenda, information and documents are made available to board members for review 

with ample time allowing them to carry out necessary assessment and review. 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 
demonstrates information about the board charter 

 The meeting procedures of the Board of Directors are determined in accordance with the 
principles of the Turkish Commercial Code, article 11 of our Articles of Association, and 

the established practices of our Company that has been in place for a long time. In this 

framework, agenda of the meeting is determined beforehand, and meetings are held 

according to a schedule consistent with the functioning of our company, providing 

information, documents and data required for the meeting. There is not a separate written 

regulation in this regard. 

Number of maximum external commitments for board 

members as per the policy covering the number of 
external duties held by directors 

Although there is no such policy, members of the Board of Directors can take office at 

companies affiliated with Eczacıbaşı Group, however, as a principle, they may not take 
office outside the Group. 

4.5. Committees Established within the Board of 

Directors 
 

Page numbers or names of sections in the annual 

report that includes information about the board 
committees 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section, pages 10 and 11. 

Link(s) to the PDP announcement(s) with the board 

committee charters 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/817970 ; 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/820231  

 

 

Composition of Board Committees-I  
 

Names of the Board Committees 
Name of Committees 
Defined as "Other" in 

the First Column 

Name-Surname of 

Committee Members 

Whether 
Committee 

Chair or Not 

Whether Board Member  

or Not 

Audit Committee  Hasan Toker Alban Yes  Board member 

Audit Committee  Zühal Atanan No  Board member 

Corporate Governance Committee   Hasan Toker Alban Yes  Board member 

Corporate Governance Committee   Seyfettin Sarıçam No  Board member 

Corporate Governance Committee   Gülnur Günbey Kartal No  Not board member 

Committee of Early Detection of Risk   Zühal Atanan Yes  Board member 

Committee of Early Detection of Risk   Atalay Muharrem Gümrah No  Board member 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/817970
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/820231
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4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS-III 

 
4.5. Committees Established within the Board of 

DirectorsII 

Specify where the activities of the audit committee are 
presented in your annual report or website (Page 

number or section name in the annual report/website) 

Described under the titles of the Annual Report / Corporate Governance/ Board of 

Directors/ Audit Committee.  

Specify where the activities of the corporate 
governance committee are presented in your annual 

report or website (Page number or section name in the 
annual report/website) 

Described under the titles of the Annual Report / Corporate Governance/ Board of 

Directors/ Corporate Governance Committee. 

Specify where the activities of the nomination 

committee are presented in your annual report or 
website (Page number or section name in the annual 

report/website) 

No separate nomination committee was established in accordance with article 4.5.1 of the 
Communiqué number II.171. The duties of the nomination committee are fulfilled by the 

corporate governance committee.  

Described under the titles of the Annual Report / Corporate Governance Department / 

Board of Directors/ Corporate Governance Committee. 

Specify where the activities of the early detection of 

risk committee are presented in your annual report or 

website (Page number or section name in the annual 

report/website) 

Described under the titles of the Annual Report / Corporate Governance/ Board of 

Directors/ Committee of Early Detection of Risk. 

Specify where the activities of the remuneration 
committee are presented in your annual report or 

website (Page number or section name in the annual 

report/website) 

No separate compensation committee was established in accordance with article 4.5.1 of 

the Communiqué number II.171. The duties of compensation committee are fulfilled by 
the corporate governance committee. 

Described under the titles of the Annual Report / Corporate Governance Department / 
Board of Directors/ Corporate Governance Committee. 

4.6. Financial Rights Offered to Members of the 

Board of Directors and Executives 
 

Page number or section name in the annual report that 
includes information about the operational and 

financial targets and whether such targets have been 
achieved or not 

It is explained on page 12 of the Annual Report. 

Specify the section of website where remuneration 
policy for executive and non-executive directors are 

presented. 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar /  

Corporate Governance / Remuneration Policy 

Page number or section name in the annual report that 

includes information about remuneration and all other 
benefits provided to board members and senior 

executives 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section, page 13. 

 

 

Board Committees  II 
 

Names of the Board Committees 

Name of the 
Committee 

Defined as 
"Other" in the 

First Column 

The Percentage 
of Non-

Executive 

Directors 

The Percentage 
of Independent 

Members in the 

Committee 

The Number of 

Meetings Held by the 
Committee in Person 

The Number of Reports 

on its Activities 
Submitted to the Board  

Audit Committee   100% 100% 8 8 

Corporate Governance Committee   67% 33% 5 5 

Early Risk Identification Committee   100% 50% 7 7 
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempt 
Not 

applicable 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE 

REPORT (CRF) 

     

1.1. FACILITATING THE EXERCISE OF 

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS 

1.1.2 - Up-to-date information and disclosures which 
may affect the exercise of shareholder rights are 
available to investors at the corporate website. 

X      

1.2. RIGHT TO OBTAIN AND REVIEW 

INFORMATION 
     

1.2.1 - Management did not enter into any transaction 

that would complicate the conduct of special audit. 
X      

1.3. GENERAL ASSEMBLY      

1.3.2 - The company ensures the clarity of the General 
Assembly agenda, and that an item on the agenda does 

not cover multiple topics. 

X      

1.3.7 - Insiders with privileged information have 
informed the board of directors about transactions 

conducted on their behalf within the scope of the 
company's activities in order for these transactions to 

be presented at the General Shareholders' Meeting. 

    X  

1.3.8 - Members of the board of directors who are 
concerned with specific agenda items, auditors, and 

other related persons, as well as the officers who are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements were present at the General Shareholders' 

Meeting. 

X      

1.3.10 - The agenda of the General Shareholders' 

Meeting included a separate item detailing the amounts 
and beneficiaries of all donations and contributions. 

X     

The total amount of donations 

made within the year and their 

beneficiaries are one by one 
read at General Shareholder's 

Meetings. 

1.3.11 - The General Shareholders' Meeting was held 

open to the public, including the stakeholders, without 
having the right to speak. 

 X    

Our general assembly 

meetings are held in a fashion 
open to the public, yet our 

ordinary general assembly 

meeting for activities of 2019 
was not held in a manner open 

to the public, considering the 

public health requirements, 
health and safety of our 

shareholders, within 

framework of measures taken 
due to Covid-19 outbreak. 

1.4. VOTING RIGHTS      

1.4.1 - There is no restriction preventing shareholders 
from exercising their shareholder rights. 

X      

1.4.2 - The company does not have shares that carry 
privileged voting rights. 

X      

1.4.3 - The company withholds from exercising its 
voting rights at the General Shareholders' Meeting of 

any company with which it has cross-ownership, in 

case such cross-ownership provides management 
control. 

X      
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempt 
Not 

applicable 
 

1.5. MINORITY RIGHTS      

1.5.1 - The company pays maximum diligence to the 
exercise of minority rights. 

X      

1.5.2 - The Articles of Association extend the use of 

minority rights to those who own less than one 

twentieth of the outstanding shares, and expand the 

scope of the minority rights. 

  X   

Our company does not have 
any privileged share that may 

limit exercise of 
shareholding/scarcity rights. 

Utmost care is taken for our 

shareholders to exercise their 
shareholding rights. Given our 

existing shareholding 

structure, distribution of our 

outstanding shares and general 

practices across our country, 

no change for expanding scope 
of scarcity rights in our 

articles of association is not 

foreseen, and applicable 
provisions associated with 

preservation of scarcity rights 

will continue to be adhered to. 

1.6. DIVIDEND RIGHT      

1.6.1 - The dividend policy approved by the General 

Shareholders' Meeting is posted on the company 
website. 

X      

1.6.2 - The dividend distribution policy comprises the 
minimum information to ensure that the shareholders 

can have an opinion on the procedure and principles of 

dividend distributions in the future. 

X      

1.6.3 - The reasons for retaining earnings, and their 

allocations, are stated in the relevant agenda item. 
    X 

Profit distribution was carried 

out. 

1.6.4 - The board reviewed whether the dividend policy 

balances the benefits of the shareholders and those of 
the company. 

X      

1.7. TRANSFER OF SHARES      

1.7.1 - There are no restrictions preventing shares from 
being transferred. 

X      

2.1. CORPORATE WEBSITE    

2.1.1 - The company website includes all elements listed 

in Corporate Governance Principle 2.1.1. 
X      

2.1.2 - The shareholding structure (names, privileges, 
number and ratio of shares, and beneficial owners of 

more than 5% of the issued share capital) is updated on 
the website at least every 6 months. 

X      

2.1.4 - The company website is prepared in other 
selected foreign languages, in a way to present exactly 

the same information with the Turkish content. 

X      

2.2. ANNUAL REPORT    

2.2.1 - The board of directors ensures that the annual 
report represents a true and complete view of the 

company's activities. 

X      

2.2.2 - The annual report includes all elements listed in 
Corporate Governance Principle 2.2.2. 

X      
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempt 
Not 

applicable 
 

3.1. CORPORATION’S POLICY ON 

STAKEHOLDERS 
   

3.1.1 - The rights of the stakeholders are protected 
pursuant to the relevant regulations, contracts and within 

the framework of bona fides principles. 

X      

3.1.3 - Policies or procedures addressing stakeholders' 
rights are published on the company's website. 

X      

3.1.4 - A whistleblowing programme is in place for 
reporting legal and ethical issues. 

X      

3.1.5 - The company addresses conflicts of interest 

among stakeholders in a balanced manner. 
X      

3.2. SUPPORTING THE PARTICIPATION OF 

THE STAKEHOLDERS IN THE 

CORPORATION’S MANAGEMENT 

   

3.2.1 - The Articles of Association, or the internal 

regulations (terms of reference/manuals), regulate the 
participation of employees in management. 

 X    

 

Expectations and opinions of 

beneficiaries are taken within 

framework of “Code of Conduct”, 

applicable for all companies that are 

part of Eczacıbaşı Group, human 

resources and sustainability policies 

and relevant models associated with 

assessment of them are applied. 

Social, environmental and corporate 

management risk and opportunities 

companies of the group are exposed 

to are considered along with their 

impacts upon sustainable 

development, expectations and 

opinions of internal and external 

stakeholders of the group and a road 

map is ascertained. Communication 

meetings, workshops, interviews 

with beneficiaries, notably, 

employees, demands and 

suggestions shared with 

questionnaires are considered by 

managers and policies and practices 

consistent with them are put into 

practice. Employees are informed 

about crucial decisions and practices 

by means of communication 

channels such as Corporate Portal 

(“Port-e”), text messages and e-

mails, and they are enabled to 

contribute to such decisions with 

their opinions and suggestions 

conveyed through such channels. 

Employees are evaluated through 

employee loyalty questionnaires, 

and improvement targets are added 

to performance cards of General 

Managers. In this framework, 

current practices conducted with a 

dynamic structure within the Group 

will continue to be pursued, and, in 

the short run, it is not foreseen that 

our Company will introduce an 

internal regulation for participation 

of employees in the management or 

the articles of association will be 

amended accordingly. 
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempt 
Not 

applicable 
 

3.2. SUPPORTING THE PARTICIPATION OF 

THE STAKEHOLDERS IN THE 

CORPORATION’S MANAGEMENT 

   

3.2.2 - Surveys/other research techniques, consultation, 
interviews, observation method etc. were conducted to 

obtain opinions from stakeholders on decisions that 
significantly affect them. 

X      

3.3. HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY    

3.3.1 - The company has adopted an employment policy 

ensuring equal opportunities, and a succession plan for 
all key managerial positions. 

X      

3.3.2 - Recruitment criteria are documented. X      

3.3.3 - The company has a policy on human resources 

development, and organises trainings for employees. 
X      

3.3.4 - Meetings have been organised to inform 
employees on the financial status of the company, 

remuneration, career planning, education and health. 

X      

3.3.5 - Employees, or their representatives, were notified 
of decisions impacting them. The opinion of the related 

trade unions was also taken. The opinion of the related 
trade unions was also taken in this regard. 

X      

3.3.6 - Job descriptions and performance criteria have 

been prepared for all employees, announced to them and 
taken into account to determine employee remuneration. 

X      

3.3.7 - Measures (procedures, trainings, raising 
awareness, goals, monitoring, complaint mechanisms) 

have been taken to prevent discrimination, and to protect 

employees against any physical, mental, and emotional 
mistreatment. 

X      

3.3.8 - The company ensures freedom of association and 
supports the right for collective bargaining. 

X      

3.3.9 - A safe working environment for employees is 
maintained. 

X      

3.4. RELATIONS WITH CUSTOMERS AND 

SUPPLIERS 
   

3.4.1 - The company measured its customer satisfaction, 
and operated to ensure full customer satisfaction. 

X      

3.4.2 - Customers are notified of any delays in handling 
their requests. 

X      

3.4.3 - The company complied with the quality 

standards with respect to its products and services. 
X      

3.4.4 - The company has in place adequate controls to 
protect the confidentiality of sensitive information and 

business secrets of its customers and suppliers. 

X      

3.5. ETHICAL RULES AND SOCIAL 

RESPONSIBILITY 
   

3.5.1 - The board of the corporation has adopted a code 
of ethics, disclosed on the corporate website. 

X      

3.5.2 - The company has been mindful of its social 
responsibility. It has adopted measures to prevent 

corruption and bribery.  

X      
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempt 
Not 

applicable 
 

4.1. ROLE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

4.1.1 - The board of directors has ensured strategy and 

risks do not threaten the long-term interests of the 
company, and that effective risk management is in place. 

X      

4.1.2 - The agenda and minutes of board meetings 
indicate that the board of directors discussed and 

approved strategy, ensured resources were adequately 

allocated, and monitored company and management 
performance. 

X      

4.2. PRINCIPLES OF OPERATION OF THE 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

4.2.1 - The board of directors documented its meetings 
and reported its activities to the shareholders. 

X      

4.2.2 - Duties and authorities of the members of the 
board of directors are disclosed in the annual report. 

X      

4.2.3 - The board has ensured the company has an 
internal control framework adequate for its activities, 

size and complexity. 

X      

4.2.4 - Information on the functioning and effectiveness 

of the internal control system is provided in the annual 
report. 

X      

4.2.5 - The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer are separated and defined. 

X      

4.2.7 - The board of directors ensures that the Investor 
Relations department and the corporate governance 

committee work effectively. The board works closely 
with them when communicating and settling disputes 

with shareholders. 

X      

4.2.8 - The company has subscribed to a Directors and 
Officers liability insurance covering more than 25% of 

the capital. 

 X    

The Company's managers are 

covered by the Group 

umbrella insurance, and the 
sum insured has been 

determined as an amount 

quite close to the one 
established in the principle, 

which is around 21% of our 
capital. Our company's 

capital is high, it is believed 

that the sum insured is at a 
level capable of covering 

reasonable risk that can be 

foreseen, and, if deemed 
necessary as a result of 

probable risk and cost 

analysis, amounts of cover 
may be increased in future 

periods. 
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempt 
Not 

applicable 
 

4.3. STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

4.3.9 - The board of directors has approved the policy on 
its own composition, setting a minimal target of 25% for 

female directors. The board annually evaluates its 

composition and nominates directors so as to be compliant 
with the policy. 

  X   

One of our current members of the 

Board of Directors is female 
(16.67%), and the minimum ratio 

of 25% stipulated in the principle 

has not been fulfilled. Equality of 
opportunity, at Eczacıbaşı Group of 

which our company is a part, has 

been adopted as one of the basic 
sustainability priorities. Actions are 

taken based on the perspective that 

the long-term success is not only 
based on increased overall share of 

women within the organization, but 

also active roles played by them. 
The said priority is taken into 

account when determining 

candidate board members for our 
company. Although the targeted 

ratio concerning ratio of female 

employees at the management and 
time are determined (the ratio 

determined for 2020 is 35%), no 

target ratio and time concerning 
female members have been 

determined specifically for the 

board of directors. Specifically for 
the board of directors, 

determination of 25% as the 

minimum female member ratio and 
the relevant time is among our long 

term targets. 

4.3.10 - At least one member of the audit committee has 5 

years of experience in audit/accounting and finance. 
X      

4.4. BOARD MEETING PROCEDURES  

4.4.1 - Each board member attended the majority of the 
board meetings in person. 

 X    

Within framework of measures 

taken due to Covid-19 outbreak, no 

physical meeting was held starting 
from April, discussions were held 

though digital channels when 

deemed necessary, and decisions 
were taken by circulating them 

among members. 

4.4.2 - The board has formally approved a minimum time 
by which information and documents relevant to the 

agenda items should be supplied to all board members. 

  X   

Although there is no minimum time 

by which information and 
documents relevant to the agenda 

items should be provided to all 

board members before the meeting, 
within framework of our 

established practices, based on 

nature of matters to be discussed in 

the agenda, information and 

documents are made available to 

board members for review with 
ample time allowing them to carry 

out necessary assessment and 

review. No problems were 
encountered in this regard within 

framework of such functioning, and 

there was no need to draw up a 
separate written text. We have, in 

our agenda, the matter of drawing 

up written regulations after 
conducting a comprehensive study 

on working principles of the board 

of directors in days to come. Such 
regulation will also include 

determination of a minimum time. 
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempt 
Not 

applicable 
 

4.4.3 - The opinions of board members that could not 

attend the meeting, but did submit their opinion in 
written format, were presented to other members. 

    X 

It is possible to convey written 
opinions, and members not 

attending to the meeting did not 

submit anything to that effect. 

4.4.4 - Each member of the board has one vote. X      

4.4.5 - The board has a charter/written internal rules 
defining the meeting procedures of the board. 

  X   

The meeting procedures of the 

Board of Directors are determined 
in accordance with the principles of 

the Turkish Commercial Code, 

article 11 of our Articles of 
Association, and the established 

practices of our Company that has 

been in place for a long time. In this 

framework, agenda of the meeting is 

determined beforehand, and 

meetings are held according to a 
schedule consistent with the 

functioning of our company, 
providing information, documents 

and data required for the meeting. 

There was no need to draw up a 
separate written text in connection 

with this functioning that has turned 

into an established rule. We have, in 
our agenda, the matter of drawing 

up written regulations on working 

principles of the board of directors 
in days to come. 

4.4.6 - Board minutes document that all items on the 
agenda are discussed, and board resolutions include 

director's dissenting opinions if any. 

X      

4.4.7 - There are limits to external commitments of 
board members. Shareholders are informed of board 

members' external commitments at the General 

Shareholders' Meeting. 

 X    

Duties to be assumed by board 

members outside Eczacıbaşı Group 

have been limited as a principle. 
Since care is taken for electing 

persons who will make a 

contribution to businesses and 
management of our Company due to 

nature of their duties within the 

Group, who have no obstacle for 
fulfilling their responsibilities 

related to board of directors 

membership, and could spare 
sufficient time for our Company, a 

restriction for duties assumed by 

members of the board of directors 
within the Group is not foreseen in 

the short term. Duties assumed by 

members of the board of directors 
outside the company are made 

available to shareholders for review 

in a public manner with our annual 
reports and Company's Overall 

Information Form available at PDP. 
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempt 
Not 

applicable 
 

4.5. BOARD COMMITTEES       

4.5.5 - Board members serve in only one of the Board's 
committees. 

  X   

Some of our board members work 
in more than one committee. Our 

company is not directly engaged in 

industrial or service production 
activity, and it has the structure of a 

holding owing to its affiliates. 
Given its existing activities and 

organization and management 

structure established in accordance 
with such activities, board members 

sitting at more than one committee 

do not cause them to neglect their 

committee duties or do not result 

them spending insufficient time for 

such duties. Members working at 
more than committee also assure 

communication and collaboration 

between committees. Given 
professions, knowledge and 

experiences of board member, 

persons who are experts of subject 
matters are appointed to 

committees.  The existing structure 

does not hinder the active 
fulfillment of duties by the 

committees, considering the 

qualifications and specialties 
required by committee membership. 

No change has been planned yet in 

this regard, no change in this regard 
has been planned yet, and it is 

possible to consider an increase in 

number of independent board 
members in compliance with 

requirements of the Company. 

4.5.6 - Committees have invited persons to the meetings 
as deemed necessary to obtain their views. 

X      

4.5.7 - If external consultancy services are used, the 
independence of the provider is stated in the annual 

report. 

    X 
No service of such nature was 

procured. 

4.5.8 - Minutes of all committee meetings are kept and 
reported to board members. 

X      
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempt 
Not 

applicable 
 

4.6. FINANCIAL RIGHTS OFFERED TO 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AND EXECUTIVE MANAGERS 

 

4.6.1 - The board of directors has conducted a board 
performance evaluation to review whether it has 

discharged all its responsibilities effectively. 

 X    

Our board of directors holds an 

annual meeting whereby it evaluates 
operations of the Company and 

results thereof and overall 
performance of the management. 

However, there is no methodology 

or a written performance assessment 
system used for performance 

assessment of the board of directors 

and/or its members. Performances 

of all companies under the roof of 

the Group including our company 

are periodically reviewed, but no 
less frequently than quarterly. The 

performance evaluation of the 

company's senior management is 
carried out under the performance 

evaluation system of the human 

resources. When required, it is 
possible to consider outsourcing 

services for performance 

assessment of the board of directors 
form specialized institutions. 

 4.6.4 - The company did not extend any loans to its 

board directors or executives, nor extended their 
lending period or enhanced the amount of those loans, 

or improve conditions thereon, and did not extend 

loans under a personal credit title by third parties or 
provided guarantees such as surety in favor of them. 

X      

4.6.5 - The individual remuneration of board members 
and executives is disclosed in the annual report. 

  X   

Payments made to the senior 

executives are collectively disclosed 

to the public in the footnotes of our 

financial statements. Our company, 

like many other companies in our 

country, adheres to the rule of 

salary confidentiality. Disclosure of 

individuals' salaries, considered a 

trade secret in terms of competition 

power, will be determined in line 

with general practices across our 

country.  
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE  

I hereby declare that within framework of the legislation, the articles of association, and the criteria specified in the 

Corporate Governance Communiqué of the Capital Markets Board, I am a candidate for taking the office as an 

"independent member" in EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (Company), and within 

this scope; 

 

 That there has been no employment relation at manager level to undertake significant roles and responsibilities, 

that more than 5 percent of capital or voting rights or privileged shares has not been collectively or individually 

acquired or that no material commercial relationship has been established during the last five years between the 

Company, partnerships in which the Company has management control or material effect, partners having 

management control on the Company or having material effect on the Company, legal persons in which such 

partners have management control, and me, my spouse and my second degree relatives by blood and marriage; 

 

 That during the last five years, I have not taken office as a partner (5 percent and above), employee in capacity of 

manager to undertake significant roles and responsibilities or member of the board of directors in the companies 

from/to which the Company has considerably purchased/sold service or product, within framework of the 

agreements concluded including notably the Company's audit (including tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), 

rating and consultancy, for the period during which such service or product purchase or sales transactions have 

been performed; 

 

 That I have the professional education, knowledge, and experience to carry out properly the duties that I shall 

undertake as an independent member of the board of directors; 

 

 That I will not work as a full-time employee in public institutes and institutions, except for being a faculty 

member at a university and provided that it is consistent with the legislation, after being elected as a member; 

 

 That I am considered a resident of Turkey pursuant to the Income Tax Law; 

 

 That I possess strong ethic standards, professional reputation, and experience to make positive contributions to 

the Company's activities, to preserve my impartiality in any conflict of interest between the company and its 

shareholders, and to decide independently taking into account the interests of the stakeholders; 

 

 That I will spare time for works of the Company to such extent that I can track functioning of the Company's 

activities and completely fulfill the requirements of the duties I assume; 

 

 That I have not served as a board member at the Company’s board of directors for more than six years in the last 

ten years; 

 

 That I do not take office as independent member of the board of directors in the Company and in more than three 

of the companies controlled by the partners having management control on the Company and, in total, in more 

than five of the companies being traded in the stock market; 

 

 And that I have not been registered and announced in the name of a legal entity that has been elected as a 

member of the board of directors. 

 

 

 

2 March 2020 
 

 

 
 

Hasan Toker ALBAN 
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE 

I hereby declare that within framework of the legislation, the articles of association, and the criteria specified in the 

Corporate Governance Communiqué of the Capital Markets Board, I am a candidate for taking the office as an 

"independent member" in EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (Company), and within 

this scope; 

 

 That there has been no employment relation at manager level to undertake significant roles and responsibilities, 

that more than 5 percent of capital or voting rights or privileged shares has not been collectively or individually 

acquired or that no material commercial relationship has been established during the last five years between the 

Company, partnerships in which the Company has management control or material effect, partners having 

management control on the Company or having material effect on the Company, legal persons in which such 

partners have management control, and me, my spouse and my second degree relatives by blood and marriage; 

 

 That during the last five years, I have not taken office as a partner (5 percent and above), employee in capacity of 

manager to undertake significant roles and responsibilities or member of the board of directors in the companies 

from/to which the Company has considerably purchased/sold service or product, within framework of the 

agreements concluded including notably the Company's audit (including tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), 

rating and consultancy, for the period during which such service or product purchase or sales transactions have 

been performed; 

 

 That I have the professional education, knowledge, and experience to carry out properly the duties that I shall 

undertake as an independent member of the board of directors; 

 

 That I will not work as a full-time employee in public institutes and institutions, except for being a faculty 

member at a university and provided that it is consistent with the legislation, after being elected as a member; 

 

 That I am considered a resident of Turkey pursuant to the Income Tax Law; 

 

 That I possess strong ethic standards, professional reputation, and experience to make positive contributions to 

the Company's activities, to preserve my impartiality in any conflict of interest between the company and its 

shareholders, and to decide independently taking into account the interests of the stakeholders; 

 

 That I will spare time for works of the Company to such extent that I can track functioning of the Company's 

activities and completely fulfill the requirements of the duties I assume; 

 

 That I have not served as a board member at the Company’s board of directors for more than six years in the last 

ten years; 

 

 That I do not take office as independent member of the board of directors in the Company and in more than three 

of the companies controlled by the partners having management control on the Company and, in total, in more 

than five of the companies being traded in the stock market; 

 

 And that I have not been registered and announced in the name of a legal entity that has been elected as a 

member of the board of directors. 

 

 

 

2 March 2020 
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CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

To the General Assembly of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

 

A.  Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

 

1. Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as 

the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2020 

and the consolidated statements of profit or loss, consolidated statements of other comprehensive income, 

consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the year then 

ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and consolidated financial statement notes. 

 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its 

consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards 

(“TFRS”). 

 

2. Basis for Opinion  

 

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are 

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby 

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent 

Auditors (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding independent audit in regulations 

issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements. We have also fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and regulations. We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a sufficient and appropriate basis 

for our opinion.

http://www.pwc.com.tr/


 

 

3. Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters were addressed in 
the context of our independent audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Key Audit Matters  How audit matters are handled 
 
Financial Investments - Fair value 
measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding 
A.Ş. 
 
As explained in Note 3.6 and Note 7, the 
Group has a 37% stake in its ultimate 
parent, Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. and is 
accounted for at fair value and classified 
as financial investments which fair value 
changes recognized through other 
comprehensive income in the 
accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As a result of the fair value study 
performed by the Group as of 31 
December 2020, the Group recognized its 
shares in Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. at a fair 
value of TRY4,114,600 thousand in the 
accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
We focused on this matter during our 
audit for the following reasons below:  
 
- Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. financial 

investment that is carried at fair value 
is material to the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements and 
the related models used in fair value 
study are complex and requires 
specialist involvement. 
 

- The fair value model includes future 
management estimates (ie. weighted 
average cost of capital rate, growth 
rate and minority discount) where 
realization of such management 
estimates in the future includes 
inherent uncertainties. 

 

  
In summary, the following audit procedures are 
performed in the audit of fair value measurement study 
of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.: 
 
- Mathematical accuracy of the consistency of the 

information used in fair value study with the 
financial statements and related calculation are 
checked. 

 
- By discussing with the Group Management, the 

performance of the Group in the sector in which it 
operates and its future plans, through evaluating 
the explanations received in the context of 
macroeconomic data and the effects of the Covid-19 
outbreak were understood. 
 

- Valuation methods and technical data used are 
evaluated, with the support of our specialists, by 
conducting interviews with the expert and the 
Group management who carried out the related 
work. 

 
- The expertise of those, who carried out the 

valuation study, is assessed in accordance with SIA 
500 “Audit Evidence”. 

 
- Data from external sources, such as “market value” 

and “similar acquisitions”, used in the valuation 
models are compared to the relevant independent 
data sources. 

 
- The reasonableness of the key management 

estimates used in the discounted cash flow models 
(ie. weighted average cost of capital rate, long term 
growth rates and minority discount) are evaluated 
with the support of our specialists and the 
sensitivity analysis performed are checked. In 
addition, the future revenue estimates used in 
modeling are compared to the prior period results 
and future budgets of related companies. 

 
- The compliance of the related disclosures with 

respect to financial investments with TFRS are 
checked. 
 

Based on the above procedures performed we had no 
material finding on the financial investments. 

  



 

 

4. Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the  

Consolidated Financial Statements  

 

The Group management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with TFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

5. Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Responsibilities of independent auditors in an independent audit are as follows: 

 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an independent auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance expressed as a result of an independent audit 

conducted in accordance with SIA is a high level of assurance but does not guarantee that a material 

misstatement will always be detected. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  

 

As part of an independent audit conducted in accordance with SIA, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
  



 

 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control.  

 

- Assess the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  
 

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our independent auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.    

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

  



 

 

We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence.  We also communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards.   

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.   

 

B. Other Responsibilities Arising From Regulatory Requirements 

 

1. No matter has come to our attention that is significant according to subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of 

Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and that causes us to believe that the Company’s 

bookkeeping activities concerning the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020 period are not in 

compliance with the TCC and provisions of the Company’s articles of association related to financial 

reporting. 

 

2. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, the Board of Directors submitted the 

necessary explanations to us and provided the documents required within the context of our audit. 

 

3. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 398 of the TCC, the auditor’s report on the early risk 

identification system and committee was submitted to the Company’s Board of Directors on  

26 February 2021.  

 

 

PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve 

Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 

 

 

 

 

Ediz Günsel, SMMM 

Partner 

 

Istanbul, 26 February 2021  
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  Audited Audited 

 Notes 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

ASSETS 
 

Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 856,115 672,782 

Financial investments 

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 25,074 1,254 

Trade receivables  

- Trade receivables from related parties 9 1,968 1,089 

- Trade receivables from third parties 10 223,536 232,400 

Other receivables 

- Other receivables from related parties 9 160 - 

- Other receivables from third parties  228 138 

Inventories 12 149,134 88,567 

Prepaid expenses  4,024 4,442 

Current income tax assets 15, 30 6,978 224 

Other current assets  219 449 
 

Total current assets  1,267,436 1,001,345 

 

Non-current assets: 

Trade receivables 

- Trade receivables from third parties 10 21 - 

Other receivables 

- Other receivables from related parties 9 280 361 

- Other receivables from third parties  12 12 

Financial investments 

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 104,211 3,689 

- Financial assets at fair value through 

      other comprehensive income 7 4,117,911 3,354,559 

Investments accounted for using equity method 4 84,408 73,347 

Investment properties 17 333,008 346,138 

Property, plant and equipment 18 5,344 5,202 

Right of use assets 14 20,112 14,714 

Intangible assets 19 10,429 14,853 

Prepaid expenses  8,933 1,667 

Deferred tax assets 30 6,031 13,101 

Other non-current assets  12,095 9,349 
 

Total non-current assets  4,702,795 3,836,992 
 

TOTAL ASSETS  5,970,231 4,838,337 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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  Audited Audited 

 Notes 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

LIABILITIES  
 

Current liabilities: 

Short term borrowings 

- Short term lease due to related parties 8, 9 3,309 2,684 

- Short term lease due to third parties 8 11,188 6,716 

- Short term borrowings due to third parties 8 72,882 70,650 

- Short-term portions of long-term borrowings from 

   third parties 8 30.000 - 

Trade payables  

- Trade payables due to related parties 9 15,752 9,594 

- Trade payables due to third parties 10 259,238 221,721 

Employee benefit obligations 21 1,011 1,764 

Other payables 

- Other payables due to third parties  8,889 8,522 

Derivative financial instruments 16 4,254 18,033 

Deferred income  3,492 603 

Current tax liabilities 30 - 13,357 

Short term provisions  

- Short term provisions for employee benefits 21 2,835 3,415 

- Other short term provisions 20 1,117 1,371 

Other current liabilities  143 124 
 

Total current liabilities  414,110 358,554 

 

Non-current liabilities: 

Long term borrowings    

- Long term lease due to related parties 8, 9 - 3,242 

- Long term lease due to third parties 8 10,090 4,522 

- Long term borrowings due to third parties 8 40,000 10,000 

Deferred income 9 19,498 19,498 

Long term provisions 

- Long term provisions for employee benefits 21 7,091 4,118 

Deferred tax liabilities 30 197,134 161,145 
 

Total non-current liabilities  273,813 202,525 
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  687,923 561,079 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  Audited Audited 

 Notes 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

EQUITY 

 

Attributable to equity holders of the Company  5,282,246 4,277,221 
 

Paid in share capital 23 685,260 685,260 

Adjustments to share capital 23 105,777 105,777 

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss 

 - Defined benefit plans re-measurement gains/losses  (4,051) (4,056) 

- Gains/losses on financial assets measured at 

     fair value through other comprehensive income (*)  3,798,624 3,067,069 

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss 

- Foreign currency conversion adjustments  10,010 10,010 

Restricted reserves 23 284,078 231,153 

Retained earnings  80,459 19,280 

Net income for the period  322,089 162,728 
 

Non-controlling interests  62 37 
 

TOTAL EQUITY  5,282,308 4,277,258 
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  5,970,231 4,838,337 
 

(*) “Gains/losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” is presented under 

“Other revaluation on remeasurement gains” in PDP (KAP) templates. 

 
Consolidated financials for the period between 1 January - 31 December 2020 were approved by the Board of 

Directors on 26 February 2021. The consolidated financial statements will be finalized following their approval 

in the General Assembly. The authority to change the consolidated financial statements rests with the General 

Assembly. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  Audited Audited 

  1 January -  1 January -  

 Notes 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Revenue 24 909,132 877,076 

Cost of sales (-) 24 (608,463) (561,262) 
 

GROSS PROFIT  300,669 315,814 

 

General administrative expenses (-) 25 (81,314) (63,766) 

Marketing expenses (-) 25 (111,125) (126,421) 

Other operating income 27 352,859 188,078 

Other operating expenses (-) 27 (163,884) (88,799) 
 

OPERATING PROFIT  297,205 224,906 

 

Income from investing activities 28 76,960 113,610 

Expenses from investing activities (-)  (382) (197)    

Share of (loss)/income of investments 

  accounted for using equity method 4 5,536 (72,093) 
 

Operating income before finance expense  379,319 266,226 

 

Financial income 29 55,016 4,346 

Financial expenses (-) 29 (48,369) (77,455) 
 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  385,966 193,117 
 

Tax expense from continuing operations  (63,852) (30,389) 

 

Income tax expense (-) 30 (58,961) (38,551) 

Deferred tax (expenses)/income 30 (4,891) 8,162 
 

Profit from continuing operations  322,114 162,728 
 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  322,114 162,728 

 

Attributable to 

   - Non-controlling interests  25 - 

   - Equity holders of the parent  322,089 162,728 
 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  322,114 162,728 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

   with face value of KR 1 each  68,526,000,000 68,526,000,000 

 

Basic earnings per share (TL)  
 

Basic earnings per share from continuous operations 31 0.4700 0.2375 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  Audited Audited 

 Notes 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Profit for the period  322,114 162,728 

 

Items that not to be reclassified to profit or loss:  731,560 321,064 

Losses on remeasurements of defined benefit plans  - - 

Share of other comprehensive income of investments  

   accounted for using equity method that will not be 

   reclassified to profit or loss    

- Gains on remeasurements of defined benefit plans 

      from investments accounted for using equity method  5 2 

- Share of other comprehensive income of investments 

      accounted for using equity method that will not be  

      reclassified to profit or loss 4 6,371 2,810 

Gains/losses on financial assets measured at fair value 

     through other comprehensive income (*)  763,352 334,997 

Gains/losses on financial assets measured at fair value 

     through other comprehensive income, tax effect (**)  (38,168) (16,745) 
 

Other comprehensive income (after tax)  731,560 321,064 
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  1,053,674 483,792 

 

Total comprehensive income attributable to 

- Non-controlling interest  25 - 

- Equity holders of the parent  1,053,649 483,792 
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  1,053,674 483,792 

 

(*) “Gains/losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” is presented under 

“Other revaluation on remeasurement gains” in PDP (KAP) templates. 

 

(**) “Gains/losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, tax effect” 

is presented under “Other revaluation on remeasurement gains, tax effect” in PDP (KAP) templates. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Items that will Items that will 
 be reclassified not be reclassified 
 subsequently subsequently  
 to profit to profit  
      or loss   or loss   
           
     Gains on financial       
     assets measured        Retained earnings  
  Foreign Defined at fair value    Attributable  
 Paid in Adjustments currency benefit plans through other   Net profit to equity Non  
 share to share translation re-measurement comprehensive Restricted Retained for the holders of controlling Total 
 capital capital differences gains/(losses) income reserves earnings period company interest equity 

 
As of 1 January 2019 685,260 105,777  10,010 (4,058) 2,746,184 199,697 14,818 240,119 3,997,807 37 3,997,844 

 

Transfers - -  - - (177) 30,256 210,040 (240,119) - - - 

Dividend paid - -  - - - - (205,578) - (205,578) - (205,578) 

Total comprehensive income - -  - 2 321,062 - - 162,728 483,792 - 483,792 

Other (*) - -  - - - 1,200 - - 1,200   - 1,200 

 

31 December 2019 685,260 105,777  10,010 (4,056) 3,067,069 231,153 19,280 162,728 4,277,221 37 4,277,258 

 

 

As of 1 January 2020 685,260 105,777 10,010 (4,056) 3,067,069 231,153 19,280 162,728 4,277,221 37 4,277,258 

 

Transfers - - - - - 51,525 111,203 (162,728) - - - 

Dividend paid - - - - - - (50,024) - (50,024) - (50,024) 

Total comprehensive income - - - 5 731,555 - - 322,089 1,053,649 25 1,053,674 

Other (*) - - - - - 1,400 - - 1,400 - 1,400 

 

31 December 2020 685,260 105,777 10,010 (4,051) 3,798,624 284,078 80,459   322,089   5,282,246   62 5,282,308 

 

(*) In fiscal year 2020 the Group has taken the advantage of corporate tax deduction in the amount of TL 1,400 (31 December 2019: TL 1,200) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Audited Audited 

  1 January -  1 January -  

 Notes 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

  

A. Cash flows from operating activities  77,043 163,789 

 

Profit for the period  322,114 162,728 

 

Adjustments for reconciliation of profit/loss for the period 

Adjustments for depreciation and amortization 14, 17, 18, 19 23,286 21,357 

Adjustments for employment termination benefits 21 3,192 2,889 

Adjustments for litigations 20 (254) (82) 

Adjustments for other impairments 4      - 75,000 

Adjustments for impairments of receivables 10 - (7) 

Provision for impairments of inventories 12 2,363 944 

Adjustments for earnings from 

disposal of subsidiaries income 28 (7,455) (33,217) 

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment, net  (1,253) (279) 

Group’s share in the (profit)/loss of investments accounted for 

   using equity method 4 (5,536) (2,907) 

Adjustments for interest incomes  (43,074) (55,982) 

Adjustments for interest expenses  19,556 21,217 

Adjustments for income tax expense/(income) 30 63,852 30,389 

Adjustments for fair value losses of financial assets  (124,342) (224) 

Adjustments related to profit share income/(expenses) 28 (66,904) (79,511) 

Adjustments for fair value losses/(gains) of derivative 

   financial instruments 29 (18,492) 48,435 

Adjustments for unrecognized foreign exchange differences  12,810 2,711 

Other adjustments related to non-cash items 

   expense/income accruals  (5) (2) 
 

  179,858 193,459 

 

Changes in working capital 

Adjustments for increase/decrease in trade receivables  25,379 (48,335) 

Adjustments for increase/decrease in inventories  (62,930) (2,988) 

Adjustments for increase/decrease in trade payables  43,675 37,014 

Adjustments for increase/decrease in other receivables 

   related to operations  (868) 22,682 

Increase/decrease in prepaid expenses  (13,602) (2,451) 

Increase/decrease in other payables related to operations  (5,210) (7,936) 

Increase/decrease in deferred income  2,889 153 
 

  (10,667) (1,861) 

 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Taxes (payments)  (91,349) (25,418) 

Payments related with provisions for employee benefits 21 (799) (2,391) 
 

  (92,148) (27,809) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  Audited Audited 

  1 January -  1 January -  

 Notes 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

B. Cash flows from investing activities  82,359 92,617 
 

Cash outflows from the purchase of tangible and 

   intangible assets 18, 19 (5,617) (4,670) 

Cash inflows from the sale of tangible and 

   intangible assets  6,202 568 

Cash inflows from sale of investment property 17 10,383 9,818 

Cash outflows from investment property purchases 17 (2,968) (3,589) 

Cash outflows from capital advance payments to joint 

   ventures and associates 4 - (75,000) 

Dividends received 4, 28 66,904 79,511 

Cash inflows from sale of tangible assets  7,455 85,979 

 

C. Cash flows from financing activities  23,080 (204,011) 
 

Cash inflows from bank borrowings 8 189,799 163,835 

Cash outflows from bank borrowings 8 (111,258) (154,254) 

Cash inflow from leasing liabilities 8 (16,253) (12,877) 

Cash inflows from derivative financial instruments  4,713 (30,402) 

Dividends paid  (49,173) (205,578) 

Interest received  24,808 56,482 

Interest paid  (19,556) (21,217) 
 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  182,482 52,395 
 

D. Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 6 672,294 619,899 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 

   (A+B+C+D)  6 854,776 672,294 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP 

 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (the “Company”) was established on  

24 October 1951. The Company has no production activity; but has a holding structure with its subsidiaries, joint 

ventures and associates. The Company directly operates in the real estate development industry and in health 

industries through its joint ventures, subsidiaries and associates. 

 

The Company’s registered address is as follows: 

 

Büyükdere Caddesi, Ali Kaya Sokak No: 5 Levent 34394, İstanbul. 

 

The Company is registered with the Capital Markets Board of Turkey (“CMB”) and its shares have been quoted on 

the Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (“BIST”) (formerly named as İstanbul Menkul Kıymetler Borsası (“İMKB”))  

since 1990. As of 31 December 2020, 19.68% (31 December 2019: 19.70%) of total shares are quoted on the  

BIST. The ultimate parent company of the Group is Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., which possesses 50.62%  

(31 December 2019: 50.62%) shares of the Company (Note 23). The ultimate parent of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. is 

managed by Eczacıbaşı family. 

 

As of 31 December 2020, the personnel number of the Company with its consolidated subsidiaries is 407 (31 

December 2019: 382). 

 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are referred to as the “Group” in these notes. The operations of the 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates included in the consolidation are stated below: 

 

Subsidiaries 

 

The Company’s subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”), the nature of businesses of the Subsidiaries and their business 

segments are as follows: 

Companies accounted by line consolidation: 
 

Subsidiaries Nature of business Segment 
 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. (“EİP”)  Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. (“EİT”) Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve  

   Yatırım A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul”) Real estate development Real estate 
 

Joint Ventures 

 

The Company’s joint ventures (the “Joint Ventures”) are listed below. All Joint Ventures are registered in 

Turkey. The nature of business of the Joint Ventures and their respective businesses segments for the purpose of 

the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

 

Joint Ventures Nature of business Partner Segment 
 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Serum   

     Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“EBX”) production and sales Baxter S.A. Health 

Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi Radiopharmaceuticals Uğur Bozluolçay and  

     ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı-Monrol”) production and sales Şükrü Bozluolçay Health 
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NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP (Continued) 
 
Associates 
 
The associates of the Group (“Associates”) and their respective business segments are as follows: 
 
Associates Nature of business 

 
Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. (“Ekom”) Export services 
Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Vitra Karo”) Production of ceramic tiles 
Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“ESH”) (*) Special care and nursing services 
 
(*)  ESH with paid capital of TL 3,450, owned by 54.65% Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. and by 45.35% Group, is sold to Şahin 

Nail for TL 630 on 2 March 2020. 
 
 

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

2.1 Basis of Presentation 
 

2.1.1  Statement of compliance 
 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the CMB’s Communiqué Serial II, No: 

14.1, “Basis of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“the Communiqué”) published in the Official Gazette 

numbered 28676 on 13 June 2013. According to the article 5 of the Communiqué, financial statements are 

prepared in accordance with Turkish Accounting Standards/Turkish Financial Reporting Standards 

(“TAS/TFRS”) and its addendum and interpretations (“IFRIC”) issued by Public Oversight Accounting and 

Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”). TFRS are updated through communiqués in order to ensure 

parallelization with changes in International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with the “Announcement 

regarding to TAS Taxonomy” which was published on 15 April 2019 by POA and the format and mandatory 

information recommended by CMB. 

 

With the decision law numbered 11/367 taken on 17 March 2005, the CMB announced that, effective from  

1 January 2005, for companies operating in Turkey and preparing their financial statements in accordance with 

CMB Financial Reporting Standards, the application of inflation accounting is no longer required. The 

accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law. 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the financial 

assets and liabilities which are expressed with their fair values. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value 

of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 

 

2.1.2  Continuity Concept 
 

Group’s consodilated financial statements prepared in accordance with continuity principle. 
 

2.1.3  Functional currency 
 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated 

financial statements are presented in TL, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 

currency of the Group. 
 

2.1.4  Basis of Consolidation  
 

Subsidiaries: 
 

The proportion of voting power held by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı Family members and the total proportion of ownership 

interests at 31 December is presented below: 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
 
2.1.4  Basis of Consolidation (Continued) 
 

Subsidiaries (Continued): 
 
 Proportion of Proportion of Total Total 
 voting power held voting power held proportion of proportion of 
 by the Company and its Eczacıbaşı Family voting power ownership 
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries (%) members (%) held (%) interests (%) 

 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 

EİP 99.92 99.92 0.02 0.02 99.94 99.94 99.92 99.92 
EİT 99.88 99.88 - - 99.88 99.88 99.88 99.88 
Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul 99.49 99.49 0.02 0.02 99.51 99.51 99.49 99.49 
 
Subsidiaries are companies in which EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. has 

power to control the financial and operating policies for the benefit of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal 

Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. either through the power to exercise more than 50% of the voting rights 

relating to shares in the companies as a result of shares owned directly and indirectly by itself and/or by certain 

Eczacıbaşı Family members and companies whereby EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. exercises control over the voting rights of (but does not have the economic benefit of) the shares 

held by them or although not having the power to exercise more than 50% of the voting rights, through the 

exercise of actual dominant influence over the financial and operating policies. Proportion of ownership interest 

represents the effective shareholding of the Group through the shares held by EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and indirectly by its Subsidiaries. 

 

Control is achieved when the Company: 
 

 has power over the investee; 

 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
 
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the 

voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.  

The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights 

in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 
 

 the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 

other vote holders; 

 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 

at previous shareholders’ meetings. 

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 

during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the 

date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 

the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 

and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued) 

 

2.1.4  Basis of Consolidation (Continued) 

 

Subsidiaries (Continued): 

 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into 

line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 

of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries: 

 

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 

subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-

controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference 

between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 

received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 

If the Group loses control in a subsidiary, the profit/(loss) after-sales is calculated as the difference between the sale 

price and the fair value of the remaining share, and the difference between the assets (including goodwill) and 

liabilities and the previous carrying amounts of non-controlling interests. In other comprehensive income, the amounts 

previously accounted for in relation to the subsidiary and collected in equity are recognized according to the 

accounting method that will be used on the assumption that the Company has sold the related assets (e.g. transfer to 

profit/loss or transfer directly to prior years' profits according to the relevant TMS standards).  

 

Joint Ventures: 

 

The proportion of voting power held on joint ventures by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı Family members and the total 

proportion of ownership interests at 31 December are presented below: 
 

  Proportion of   

 Proportion of voting  Total 

 voting power held power held by Total proportion proportion of 

 by the Company and Eczacıbaşı Family of voting power ownership 

Joint Ventures its Subsidiaries (%) members (%) held (%) interests (%) 

 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 

EBX 50.00 50.00 - - 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol 50.00 50.00 - - 50.00 50.00 81.00 84.00 
 

(*) Within the scope of the share transfer agreement dated 27 October 2020; Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. holds 294 

shares corresponding to 0.00168% of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's capital; EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. has 

294 shares corresponding to 0.00168% of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's capital; The company, on the other hand, 

shares 524,412 shares, which represents 2.99664% of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's capital, with a total sales price of 

EUR759,846.55 (the amount per share of the Company is EUR758,995.53) And transferred their shares to 

the Group. 

 

The subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. are presented below; 

 

 

 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020  
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

13 

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
 

2.1.4  Basis of Consolidation (Continued) 
 

Joint Ventures (Continued): 
  Direct and Total proportion 

  indirect control of ownership interests 

  of Eczacıbaşı - of Eczacıbaşı -  

  Monrol (%) Monrol (%) 

 Country 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 

Monrol Europe SRL Romania 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Monrol Egypt for Manufacturing LLC Egypt 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Radiopharma Egypt (S.A.E.) Egypt 75.00 75.00 75.00 75.00 

Monrol Bulgaria LTD Bulgaria 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nuclear Products 

   Industry & Trade Co - Jordan Jordan 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Monrol MENA LTD Dubai 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

HSM Consulting LTD Dubai 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Monrol Gulf DMCC Dubai 80.00 80.00 80.00 80.00 
 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 

the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 

which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 

control.  
 

Associates: 
 

The proportion of voting power held by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı family members and the total proportion of ownership 

interests in Associates accounted for using the equity method at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are presented below: 
 

 Proportion of Proportion of   

 voting power voting power   

 held by the held by  Total 

 Company and Eczacıbaşı Family Total proportion proportion of 

 its subsidiaries members of voting power ownership 

Associates (%) (%) held (%) interests (%) 

 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 

ESH (*) - 45.35 - 0.10 - 45.45 - 45.31 

Ekom 26.36 26.36 1.72 1.72 28.08 28.08 26.36 26.36 

Vitra Karo (**) 25.00 25.00 0.92 0.92 25.92 25.92 25.00 25.00 
 

(*) ESH with paid capital of TL 3,450, owned by 54.65% Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. and by 45.35% Group, is sold to  

Şahin Nail for TL 630 on March 2, 2020. 
 

(**) The subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of Vitra Karo are as follows: 
 

  Direct or indirect control 

    of Vitra Karo (%) 

 Country   2020 2019 
  

Vitra Fliesen GmbH & Co. KG Germany 100.00 100.00 

Engers Keramik Verwaltungs GmbH Germany 100.00 100.00 

Vitra Tiles Llc. Russia 100.00 100.00 

Villeroy & Boch Fliesen GmbH Germany 97.71 97.71 

Vitra Ireland Ltd. Ireland 93.41 93.41 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued) 

 

2.1.4  Basis of Consolidation (Continued) 

 

Associates (Continued): 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 

those policies. 

 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 

statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as 

held for sale. Under the equity method, an investment in associate or a joint venture is initially recognized in the 

consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or a joint venture. When the Group's share of losses 

of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or a joint venture (which includes any 

long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or a joint venture), the 

Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that 

the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or a joint 

venture. 

 

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which 

the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint 

venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable 

assets and liabilities of the investee is recognized as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the 

investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the 

cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 

investment is acquired.  

 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or 

a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the 

former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained 

interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance 

with TFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity 

method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part 

interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the 

associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognized in other 

comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that 

associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 

previously recognized in other comprehensive income by  that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to 

profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to 

profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued. 

 

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 

transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 

to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group. 

 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 

 

Significant changes in accounting policies are applied retrospectively and prior period financial statements are 

restated. Group’s significant accounting policies that are used for the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements for the period ended 31 December 2020 are consistent with accounting policies presented in the 

consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2019. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.3 Changes in the accounting estimates and errors 
 

If changes in estimates are for only one period, changes are applied to the current year but if changes in estimates 
are for the following periods, changes are applied both to the current and following years prospectively. The Group 
did not have any major changes in the accounting estimates during the current year. 
 
Significant accounting errors are corrected retrospectively, by restating the prior period consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
2.3.1  Comparative information and restatement of prior period financial statements 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared comparatively with the prior period in 
order to give accurate trend analysis regarding financial position and performance. In order to maintain 
consistency with current year consolidated financial statements, comparative information is reclassified and 
significant changes are disclosed where necessary. 
 
The Group has applied consistent accounting policies in the consolidated financial statements for the period 
presented and has no material changes in the accounting policies and estimates in the current period. 
 

 
2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards 
 

The accounting policies of the consolidated financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2020 have 
been applied consistently to those used in the prior year except for the new and amended IFRS standards and 
TFRYK interpretations as of 1 January 2020. 
 
a) New standards, amendments and interpretations applicable as at 31 December 2020: 
 
- Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 on the definition of material; effective from Annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2020. These amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, 

and IAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’, and consequential 

amendments to other IFRSs: 
 

i)  use a consistent definition of materiality throughout IFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for 

Financial Reporting;  

ii)  clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and  

iii) incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information 

 

- Amendments to IFRS 3 - definition of a business; effective from Annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2020. This amendment revises the definition of a business. According to feedback received by the 

IASB, application of the current guidance is commonly thought to be too complex, and it results in too 

many transactions qualifying as business combinations. 

 

- Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 - Interest rate benchmark reform; effective from Annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. These amendments provide certain reliefs in connection 

with interest rate benchmark reform. The reliefs relate to hedge accounting and have the effect that IBOR 

reform should not generally cause hedge accounting to terminate. However, any hedge ineffectiveness 

should continue to be recorded in the income statement. Given the pervasive nature of hedges involving 

IBOR-based contracts, the reliefs will affect companies in all industries. 

 

- Amendment to IFRS 16, “Leases” - Covid-19 related rent concessions; effective from Annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 June 2020.  As a result of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, rent concessions 

have been granted to lessees. Such concessions might take a variety of forms, including payment holidays 

and deferral of lease payments. On 28 May 2020, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 16 that 

provides an optional practical expedient for lessees from assessing whether a rent concession related to 

COVID-19 is a lease modification. Lessees can elect to account for such rent concessions in the same way 

as they would if they were not lease modifications. In many cases, this will result in accounting for the 

concession as variable lease payments in the period(s) in which the event or condition that triggers the 

reduced payment occurs. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards (Continued) 

 

b) Standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued but not effective as at 31 December 

2020: 

 

- IFRS 17, “Insurance contracts”; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 

This standard replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety of practices in accounting for 

insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the accounting by all entities that issue insurance 

contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features.  
 

- Amendments to IAS 1, “Presentation of financial statements” on classification of liabilities; effective 

from 1 January 2022. These narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, 

clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at 

the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after 

the reporting date (for example, the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant). The amendment also 

clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. 
 

- A number of narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 and some annual improvements 

on IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IAS 41 and IFRS 16; effective from Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2022. 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 3, “Business combinations” update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual 

Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business 

combinations. 
 

- Amendments to Amendments to IAS 16, “Property, plant and equipment” prohibit a company 

from deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items 

produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will 

recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.  
 

- Amendments to IAS 37, “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets” specify which 

costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.  

 

Annual improvements make minor amendments to IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of IFRS”, IFRS 9, 

“Financial instruments”, IAS 41, “Agriculture” and the Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 

16, “Leases”. 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

Phase 2; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The Phase 2 amendments 

address issues that arise from the implementation of the reforms, including the replacement of one 

benchmark with an alternative one. 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4, “Insurance contracts”, deferral of IFRS 9; effective from 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. These amendments defer the date of application of 

IFRS 17 by two years to 1 January 2023 and change the fixed date of the temporary exemption in IFRS 4 

from applying IFRS 9, Financial Instrument until 1 January 2023. 

 

2.5 Significant changes regarding the current period 

 

The necessary actions have been taken by the Group management to minimize the possible effects of COVID-19, 

which affects the whole world, on the Group's activities and financial status. Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, the 

Group has taken measures to minimize the adverse effects of investment expenditures, operational expenses and the 

increase in stocks in parallel with the developments / slowdowns in the sectors in which the Group is involved and in 

the general economic activity, cash management in order to strengthen the liquidity position strategy has been revised. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.5 Significant changes regarding the current period (Continued) 
 

It could not be estimated how long the COVID-19 effect would last and how wide the effect would spread both in 

Turkey and the World. As the severity and duration of the effects become clearer, it will be possible to make a more 

specific and healthy evaluation for the medium and long term. In addition to this, while preparing the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group as of December 31, 2020, the possible effects of the COVID-19 outbreak were 

evaluated, the estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the financial statements were reviewed and the fair 

value determination studies have been updated for.financial assets included in the interim condensed consolidated 

financial statements as of December 31, 2020 and were not traded in the active market. Possible impairment in the 

values of the stocks, tangible and intangible fixed assets included in the interim condensed consolidated financial 

statements dated December 31, 2020 were tested and no impairment was detected. 

 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the flow of patients to Family Health Centers, outpatient services and surgeries have 

decreased, and this situation has had negative effects on the pharmaceutical market. In the April-June period, there was 

a loss of sales in products other than chronic diseases and products that increase immunity. In June, some recovery 

started to be seen with the effect of the transition to the normalization process and the return of medical promotion 

staff, albeit partially, to the field. Due to the fact that the product promotions made by visiting health institutions and 

organizations were suspended by the Turkish Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency on March 19, 2020, our 

subsidiary, EİP, started to benefit from short-time working allowance for Medical Promotion Specialist personnel as of 

April 13, 2020. As of June 15, 2020, promotional activities have been initiated 2 days a week, and partial short-time 

work allowance is available for personnel engaged in promotional activities, and full-time short-time work allowance 

for personnel who cannot carry out promotional activities due to exclusion of pandemic hospitals. 

 

Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, it has been decided to temporarily close Kanyon Shopping Mall into service as of 20 

March 2020. It has been decided not to charge rent from the tenants of the stores that are closed for the period from 

March 20, 2020, when Kanyon Shopping Mall was closed, until April 30, 2020. Kanyon Shopping Mall started its 

activities gradually on May 11, 2020. Under the conditions to be determined by Kanyon Management Operation and 

Marketing Inc., it has been decided for the tenants who open their bussinesses as of this date to not collect the rental fee 

for May, all tenants in Kanyon Shopping Mall (excluding the business lines of which a decision to remain closed 

within the scope of official measures) are started to operate by 1 June 2020 at the latest and to apply 50% rent discount 

on the monthly fixed rental rates for June. Due to the continuing effects of the Covid-19 global epidemic on the retail 

sector, the rent discount and other rental support applications needed at Kanyon Shopping Mall during the period of 

July-December 2020 were determined by Kanyon Management, taking into account the current number of visitors and 

business volume and decided to continue to be determined by Kanyon Management during the period when the effects 

of the Covid-19 outbreak continued. 

 
On the other hand, when the holding structure and consolidated financial structure of EIS are evaluated; It is seen that 

the high amount of net cash position carried by the company and the dividends received from its affiliates in relation to 

the profits of the year 2019 maintain its resistance against the negative effects of the epidemic reflected on the 

operational business lines. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Except for the consolidation principles explained in Note 2.1, the significant accounting policies applied in the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements are summarized below: 
 

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents and statement of cash flows 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank deposits and short-term investments, which can easily be 

converted into cash for a known amount, and which have high liquidity and insignificant conversion risk with 

maturities of three months or less (Note 6). Cash flow statements as an integral part of other financial statements are 

prepared to inform financial statement users about changes in group net assets, financial structure and capability to 

direct the amount and timing of cash flows in accordance with changing conditions. 
 

3.2 Trade receivables and provision for doubtful receivables 
 

Trade receivables that are originated by the Group by way of providing goods or services directly to a debtor are 

carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Short-term trade receivables with no stated interest 

rate are measured at original invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest is significant (Note 10). 
 

A credit risk provision for trade receivables is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 

able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the provision is the difference between the recorded value of the 

receipt and the possible amount of receivable. The recoverable amount, being the present value of all cash flows, 

including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original effective interest 

rate of the originated receivables at inception. 
 

If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-down, the 

release of the provision is credited to other operating income. 
 

The Group preferred to apply the "simplified approach" in TFRS 9 Standard in calculating the impairment of 

trade receivables, which are accounted at amortized cost in their financial statements and do not contain a 

significant financing component. 
 

Within the scope of TFRS 9 Standard "simplified approach", when it is accepted that trade receivables are not 

impaired for valid reasons as regulated in TFRS 9 Standard, it measures the loss provisions for trade receivables 

at an amount equal to "lifetime expected credit losses". 
 

The Group uses a "provision matrix" to measure expected credit losses on trade receivables. In the provision 

matrix, certain provision rates are calculated depending on the number of days when the due dates of trade 

receivables are exceeded, and these rates are reviewed in each reporting period and revised when necessary. The 

changes in the expected loan loss provisions are recognized in the "other operating income / expenses" account 

in the income statement (Note 27). 
 

3.3 Deferred finance income/expenses 
 

Credit finance income / expenses represent imputed finance income/expenses on credit sales and purchases. Such 

income / expenses are calculated over the period of credit sales and purchases by the effective interest rate 

method and included under other operating income and expenses. 
 

3.4 Related parties 
 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements (Note 9). 
 

a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person: 
 

i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 

ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; 

iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the 

reporting entity. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.4 Related parties (Continued) 

 

b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 
 

i) The entity and the company are members of the same group (each parent, subsidiary and fellow 

subsidiary is associated with others). 

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity. 

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting 

entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 

sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.  

vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).  

vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties, regardless of 

whether a price is charged. 

 

3.5 Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of 

fixed and variable general production expenses, are assigned to inventories held by the method most appropriate 

to the particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a weighted average out basis. Net 

realizable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary 

to make a sale. When the net realizable value of inventory is less than cost, inventory is written down to net 

realizable value and expense is included in statement of income/(loss) in the period in which the write-down or 

loss occurred. When circumstances that previously caused inventories discounted to net realizable value no 

longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase in net realizable value because of the changes in 

economic circumstances, the amount of the write-down is reversed. The reversal amount is limited to the amount 

of the initial write-down (Note 12). 

 

3.6 Financial assets 

 

The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets arising from the ownership of publicly traded companies is 

calculated on the stock market raider. If the financial asset is not traded in an active market, the Group 

establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include discounted cash flow 

analyzes that take into account current market conditions or substantially similar other investment instruments 

and taking into account the specific conditions of the company invested in (Note 7). 

 

3.7 Investment properties 

 

Buildings and land held to earn rent or for capital appreciation or both rather than for use in the production or 

supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes or sale in the ordinary course of business are classified as 

investment property (Note 16). Investment properties are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Investment 

properties (except land) are depreciated on a straight-line basis. 

 

In the Kanyon complex, different useful lives are assigned for each part of the complex (includes building, lift, 

escalator, parking lot equipment’s, heat and cooling system and many other property, plant and equipment) and 

each part of the complex is depreciated separately. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

3.7 Investment properties (Continued) 
 

The depreciation periods for investment properties, which approximate the useful lives of the Kanyon complex 

concerned, are as follows: 

 

Buildings 50 years 

Machinery, plant and equipment 4-15 years 

Furniture and fixtures 4-15 years 

 

Investment properties are reviewed for possible impairment losses and when the carrying amount of the investment 

property is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. The 

recoverable amount of the investment property is the higher of the asset’s net selling price or value in use. 

 

3.8 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation 
 

Property, plant and equipment acquired prior to 31 December 2004 are carried at acquisition costs adjusted for 

inflation; whereas those purchased after 2004 are carried at acquisition costs less accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets  

(Note 17). 

 

The depreciation periods for property, plant and equipment, which approximate the useful lives of assets 

concerned, are as follows: 

 

Land improvements 5 - 50 years 

Buildings 10 - 50 years 

Machinery, plant and equipment 3 - 20 years 

Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years 

Furniture and fixtures 3 - 20 years 

Leasehold improvements 5 - 10 years 

Other tangible assets 2 - 20 years 
 

Land is not depreciated due to having infinite useful life. 
 

Gains or losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment determined by comparing proceeds with carrying 

amounts are included in the related income and expense accounts, as appropriate. 
 

Where the carrying amount of the asset is greater than its recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its 

recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recorded in the income statement. 
 

The normal maintenance and repair costs incurred in the tangible asset are accounted as expense. Expenditure on 

property, which increases the future utility of the asset by expanding the capacity of the tangible asset, is added to 

the cost of the property, plant and equipment. 
 

3.9 Intangible assets and amortization 
 

Intangible assets comprise acquired computer software, intellectual property, capitalized development costs and 

other identifiable rights. These are recorded at their acquisition costs and amortized using the straight-line method 

over their estimated useful lives for a period not exceeding 5 years from the date of acquisition. When the carrying 

amount of any intangible asset is greater than its recoverable amount, it is immediately written down to its 

recoverable amount (Note 18). 
 

3.10 Taxes 
 

Tax provision for the period consists of current year tax and deferred tax provisions. Current year tax liability 

includes tax liability calculated over taxable income for the period with the tax rate at the balance sheet date and 

corrections on tax liabilities of previous periods. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

3.10 Taxes (Continued) 
 

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax base of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax rates are 

used to determine deferred taxes at the balance sheet date. 
 

The principal temporary differences result from carried forward tax losses, provision for employment 

termination benefits, the differences between the tax base and the carrying amounts of property, plant and 

equipment, investment properties, inventories and available-for-sale financial assets, deferred finance income 

and expenses on credit sales and purchases. 
 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, whereas deferred tax assets resulting 

from deductible temporary differences are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 

will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized (Note 29). 

 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, related to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority, are 

offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 

 

3.11 Financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. In subsequent 

periods, financial liabilities are stated at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Any difference 

between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements of 

income over the period of the financial liabilities (Note 8). 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has the unconditional right to defer the 

corresponding payment for 12 months since balance sheet date. 

 

3.12 Employment termination benefits 

 

Provision for employment termination benefits is provided as a requirement of Turkish Labor Law to each 

employee who has completed one year of service and retires, whose employment is terminated without due 

cause, who is called up for military service, or who dies; and represents the present value of the estimated total 

reserve of the future probable obligation of the Group (Note 21). 

 

3.13 Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency transactions during the year have been translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 

the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange 

rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation of monetary 

assets and liabilities are reflected in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 29). 

 

Assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are expressed in TL using the exchange rates prevailing at 

the financial statement date on the consolidated financial statements. Income and expense items are translated at the 

average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case 

the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as 

equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss 

in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of. 

 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.14 Revenue recognition 

 

In accordance with TFRS 15 "Revenue Standard from Customer Agreements", which is effective as of  

1 January 2018, Group accounts in the financial statements of the revenue consignment in accordance with the 

following five-tiered model. 

 

• Identification of customer contracts 

• Identification of performance obligations 

• Determination of transaction price in the contract 

• Allocation of price to performance obligations 

• Recognition of revenue 

 

The Group assesses the goods or services undertaken by each contract made with the customers and sets each 

commitment to transfer such goods or services as a separate performance obligation. 

 

For each performance obligation, at the beginning of the contract, the obligation to fulfill the obligation is to be 

delivered in time or at a certain time. When the control of a good or service is over time and the Group fulfills its 

performance obligations related to sales in a timely manner, the Group takes the financial statements in the console 

at the expiration time by measuring the progress towards fulfillment of the fulfillment obligations. 

 

When Group fulfills the obligation to perform the obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the 

customer, it records the transaction value corresponding to the obligation as revenue in the consolidated financial 

statements. When the control of the goods or services is overtaken by the customers (or as they pass) the goods or 

services are transferred. 
 

When Group evaluates the transfer of the customer for the control of the goods or services sold, 
 

a) Group owns the right to collect the goods or services,, 

b) Owns legal ownership of the goods or services,  

c) The transfer of the possession of the goods or services, 

d) Ownership of the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property of the customer, 

e) Takes into consideration the conditions under which the customer accepts goods or services. 
 

Group does not make any adjustments to the effect of a significant financing component at the commitment price  

if the contract at the outset suggests that the period between the transfer date of the goods or services undertaken 

by the customer and the date the customer pays the price of the goods or services is one year or less. If the other 

party has significant financing within the revenue, the revenue value is determined by discounting future 

collections with the interest rate included in the financing element. The difference is recorded in the related 

periods as Other income from the main operations on the accrual basis. 
 

Group recognizes rental income on an accrual basis. The effective interest method is used in accounting of 
interest income. Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive dividends is established. 
 

3.15 Financial assets 
 

Classification and measurement 
 

Group classified its financial assets in three categories; financial assets carried at amortized cost, financial assets 
carried at fair value though profit of loss, financial assets carried at fair value though other comprehensive 
income. Classification is performed in accordance with the business model determined based on the purpose of 
benefits from financial assets and expected cash flows. Management performs the classification of financial 
assets at the acquisition date. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
3.15 Financial assets (Continued) 
 
a) Assets recognized at amortized cost 
 
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest, whose payments are fixed or predetermined, which are not actively traded and which are 
not derivative instruments are measured at amortized cost. They are included in current assets, except for 
maturities more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. Those with maturities more than 12 months are 
classified as non-current assets. The Group’s financial assets carried at amortized cost comprise “trade 
receivables" and "cash and cash equivalents” in the statement of financial position. In addition, with recourse 
factoring receivables classified in trade receivables are classified as financial assets carried at amortized cost 
since collection risk for those receivables are not transferred to counterparty. 
 
Impairment 
 
Group has applied simplified approach and used impairment matrix for the calculation of impairment on its 
receivables carried at amortized cost, since they do not comprise of any significant finance component. In 
accordance with this method, if any provision provided to the trade receivables as a result of a specific events, 
Group measures expected credit loss from these receivables by the life-time expected credit loss. The calculation 
of expected credit loss is performed based on the past experience of the Group and its expectations for the future 
indications. 
 
b) Financial assets carried at fair value 
 
Assets that are held by the management for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial 
assets are measured at their fair value. If the management do not plan to dispose these assets in 12 months after 
the balance sheet date, they are classified as non-current assets. Group make a choice for the equity instruments 
during the initial recognition and elect profit or loss or other comprehensive income for the presentation of fair 
value gain and loss. 
 

i) Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss comprise of “derivative instruments” in the statement 

of financial position. Derivative instruments are recognized as asset when the fair value of the instrument is 

positive, as liability when the fair value of the instrument is negative. Group’s financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss consist of forward contracts, currency swaps and cross currency fixed interest rate swap. 

 

ii) Financial assets carried at value through other comprehensive income 

 

Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income comprise of “financial assets” in the 

statement of financial position. In addition, trade receivables collected from factoring companies due to without 

recourse factoring activities are classified as financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive 

income since the collection risk of these receivables are transferred to the factoring companies and 

management’s business plan for them is “hold to sell”. When the financial assets carried at fair value through 

other comprehensive income are sold, fair value gain or loss classified in other comprehensive income is 

classified to retained earnings. 
 

3.16 Share capital and dividends 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as capital. Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognized as an 

appropriation of the profit in the period in which they are declared. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.17 Borrowing costs 
 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, one 

that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale, are capitalized as part of the cost of 

that asset in the period in which the asset is prepared for its intended use or sale. Borrowing costs that are not in this 

scope are recognized directly in the income statement (Note 29). 
 

3.18 Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities 
 

Provisions are recognized at the present value of the obligation when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that on outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation, and of the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. 
 

Possible assets or obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company 

are not included in financial statements and treated as contingent assets or liabilities (Note 20). 
 

3.19 Government grants 
 

Investment incentives can only be utilized when the Group’s application for incentives is approved by the related 

authorities. 
 

3.20 Segment reporting 
 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the reporting provided to the chief operating 

decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments. The category “Undistributed” generally consists of assets like cash and 

cash equivalents, financial investments, which are attributable to the parent and utilizable for all segments, and 

assets and liabilities of the other sectors, which do not meet the required quantitative thresholds to be a reportable 

segment. 
 

For an operating segment to be identified as a reportable segment, its reported revenue, including both sales to 

external customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue, internal and 

external, of all operating segments; the absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the 

combined profit or loss or its assets are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating segments. Operating 

segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered reportable, and separately 

disclosed, if the management believes that information regarding the segment would be useful to users of the 

financial statements (Note 5). 
 

3.21 Earnings per share 
 

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated statements of income are determined by dividing net profit for 

the period by the weighted average number of shares that have been outstanding during the period. In Turkey, 

companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus shares”) to 

existing shareholders from retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share computations, such bonus 

shares are regarded as issued shares. Accordingly, when calculating the weighted average number of shares to be 

used in earnings per share computations, the retroactive effect of such bonus shares is taken into consideration 

for comparative purposes (Note 31). 
 

3.22 Events after the balance sheet date 
 

Events after the balance sheet date represent events that have occurred in favor or in opposition of the Group 

between the balance sheet date and the date financial statements were approved. The Group adjusts the 

consolidated financial statements when there is evidence of events existing at or after the balance sheet date that 

necessitate the adjusting of the consolidated financial statements. If events after the balance sheet date do not 

necessitate the adjusting of the consolidated financial statements, the Group explains the events in a 

corresponding note to the consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.23 Derivative financial instruments 
 

Derivatives, primarily options and foreign currency forward contracts, are initially recognized at acquisition cost 

including the transaction fees on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at 

their fair value. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined based on the comparison of 

the original forward rate with the forward rate calculated in reference to the market interest rates of the related 

currency for the remaining period of the contract. All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is 

positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives at fair value 

through profit or loss are included in the consolidated income statement (Note 16). 
 

3.24 Impairment of assets 
 

The Group reviews assets, except goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by 

which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount in the consolidated statements of income. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of 

assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 

flows (cash generating units). Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated income statements (Note 28). 

 

3.25 TFRS 16 “Leases” standard 
 

The Group as the lessee 
 

At inception of a contract, the Group assess whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration. The Group considers the following matters when assessing whether the agreement 

transfers the right to control the use of an identified asset for a limited period of time: 
 

a) the contract contains an identified asset: – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly. 

b) the asset should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically 

distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, the asset is not identified. 

c) the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of an asset 

throughout the period of use; 

d) the Group has the right to direct use of the asset. The Group concludes to have the right of use, when it 

is predetermined how and for what purpose the Group will use the asset. The Group has the right to 

direct use of asset if either: 
 

 i. the Group has the right to operate the asset (or to direct others to operate the asset in a manner that it

    determines) throughout the period of use, without the supplier having the right to change those  

   operating instructions; or  

 ii. the customer designed the asset (or specific aspects of the asset) in a way that predetermines how and

     for what purpose the asset will be used throughout the period of use.  
 

At the commencement date, the Group recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in financial statements. 
 

Right of use asset 
 

The cost of the right-of-use asset shall comprise: 
 

a) the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability, 

b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received,  

c) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee., and  

To apply a cost model, the Group measure the right-of-use asset at cost: 
 

a) less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses; and  

b) adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

3.25 TFRS 16 “Leases” standard (Continued) 
 

The Group as the lessee (Continued) 
 

The Group apply the depreciation requirements in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment in depreciating the 

right-of-use asset, subject to the requirements. If the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the 

lessee by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the lessee will exercise a 

purchase option, the Group depreciate the right-of-use asset from the commencement date to the end of the 

useful life of the underlying asset. Otherwise, The Group depreciate the right-of-use asset from the 

commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease 

term. 
 

The Group apply IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether the right-of-use asset is impaired and to 

account for any impairment loss identified. 
 

Lease liability 
 

At the commencement date, The Group measure the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that 

are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate 

can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group use the lessee’s incremental 

borrowing rate. 
 

At the commencement date, the lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the 

following payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the 

commencement date: 
 

a) fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable; 

b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at

 the commencement date; 

c) the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and 

d) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

 terminate the lease. 
 

After the commencement date, the Group measure the lease liability by: 
 

a) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; 

b) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and 

c) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect revised in-

substance fixed lease payments. 
 

Interest on the lease liability in each period during the lease term is the amount that produces a constant periodic 

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability. The Group determine the revised discount rate as 

the interest rate implicit in the lease for the remainder of the lease term, if that rate can be readily determined, or 

the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of reassessment, if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot 

be readily determined. After the commencement date, The Group remeasure the lease liability to reflect changes 

to the lease payments. The Group recognize the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an 

adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 
 

The Group shall remeasure the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 

rate, if either: 
 

a) There is a change in the lease term. The Group determine the revised lease payments on the basis of the

 revised lease term; or 

b) There is a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. The Group determine

 the revised lease payments to reflect the change in amounts payable under the purchase option. 
 

The Group determine the revised discount rate as the interest rate implicit in the lease for the remainder of the 

lease term, if that rate can be readily determined, or the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of 

reassessment, if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
3.25 TFRS 16 “Leases” standard (Continued) 
 

Lease liability (Continued) 
 

The Group remeasure the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments, if either: 
 

a) There is a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee. The Group

 determine the revised lease payments to reflect the change in amounts expected to be payable under the

 residual value guarantee. 

b) there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate used to determine

 those payments. The Group remeasure the lease liability to reflect those revised lease payments only when

 there is a change in the cash flows. 
 

The Group determine the revised lease payments for the remainder of the lease term based on the revised 

contractual payments. In that case, the Group use an unchanged discount rate. 
 

The Group account for a lease modification as a separate lease if both: 
 

The Group determines its revised lease payments related to the remaining leasing period considering its 

payments related to the revised agreement. Under these circumstances, the Group uses an unadjusted interest 

rate. 
 
The Group recognizes the restructuring of the lease as a separate leasing if both of the following are met: 
 

a) The restructuring extends the scope of the leasing by including the right of use of one or more underlying
 assets, and 
b) The lease payment amount increases as much as the appropriate adjustments to the price mentioned

 individually so that the increase in scope reflects the individual price and the terms of the relevant

 agreement. 
 

Variable lease payments 
 

Lease payments arising from a portion of the Group's lease agreements consist of variable lease payments. These 

variable lease payments, which are not covered by the TFRS 16 standard, are recorded as rent expense in the 

income statement in the relevant period. 
 

The Group’s leasing activities  
 

All the leasings of the Group as lessor are operational leasings. For operational leasings, leased assets are 

classified under investment properties, tangible assets or other current assets in the consolidated balance sheet 

and rental income is accounted in the consolidated income statement in equal amounts for the leasing period. 

Rental income is accounted in the consolidated income statement for the leasing period on a straight-line basis.  

 

3.26 Management’s estimates 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions regarding the amounts 

for the assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date, explanations for the contingent assets and liabilities as well 

as the amounts of income and expenses realized in the reporting period. Although these estimates and 

assumptions are based on the best information held by the Group management, actual results may differ from 

these. 
 

In the next financial reporting period, the predictions and assumptions likely to cause significant adjustments on the 

recorded values on the assets and liabilities are stated below: 

 

Fair values of the available for sale financial assets 

 

The Group estimates the fair values of financial assets which are not traded in an active market by referencing to 

similar undisputed transactions, fair values of similar financial instruments and using discounted cash flow analysis. 

As a result, the estimates used in the analysis, may not be indicative for the value that the Group may obtain in a 

current market transaction and actual values may significantly deviate from those estimates (Notes 3.6 and 7). 
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NOTE 4 - SHARES IN OTHER COMPANIES  
 

Shares in associates and joint ventures  

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Associates 
 

Vitra Karo - - 

Ekom 44,023 33,708 

ESH - - 

 

Joint Ventures 
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol - - 

EBX 40,385 39,639 
 

 84,408 73,347 

 

The movement of the shares of associates and joint ventures during the period is as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 
 

As of 1 January 73,347 123,873 

Capital payments  - 75,000 

Differences from actuarial gain 5 2 

The Group’s share in the profits of investments accounted 

   for using equity method 5,536 2,907 

Change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 6,371 2,810 

Dividends paid (-) (851) (3,483) 

Disposal of an associate - (52,762) 

Capital payments to impaired joint ventures - (75,000) 
 

As of 31 December, net 84,408 73,347 

 

Cumulative share of loss of an associate that not included in consolidated financial statements 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Vitra Karo (254,150) (177,325) 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (22,130) (50,912) 

ESH - (831) 
 

 (276,280) (229,068) 

 

The Group's share of net profit from investments accounted for using the equity method for the period ended  

31 December is as follows: 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Ekom 4,790 3,946 

EBX 746 1,110 

Eczacıbaşı Shire (*) - (2,149) 
 

 5,536 2,907 
 
(*) The transfer of the Company's shares in Eczacıbaşı Shire to Baxalta GmbH has been completed as of 29 March 2019 

and Eczacıbaşı Shire’s total loss for the period end amounting to TL 2,149 reflected in consolidated income 
statement. 

 

 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020  
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

29 

NOTE 4 - SHARES IN OTHER COMPANIES (Continued) 

 

Shares in associates and joint ventures (Continued) 
 

Assets and liabilities of the Group's associates and joint ventures in its consolidated financial statements as at  

31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 and net sales for the years ended 31 December are as follows: 

 
  31 December 2020  

    Net Total 

  Goodwill  profit/(loss) proportion of 

  attributable to  for the ownership 

 Assets Liabilities equity holders Net sales period interests (%) 

 

Ekom 4,465,346 4,298,354 - 26,849 4,790 26.36 

Vitra Karo 2,706,600 3,723,200 - 2,152,151 (53,601) 25.00 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol 308,124 335,446 - 234,907 8,483 81.00 

EBX 84,327 3,551 - - 746 50.00 

ESH (Note 2.1.4) - - - - - - 

 

     (39,582)  

  
 

  31 December 2019  

    Net Total 

  Goodwill  profit/(loss) proportion of 

  attributable to  for the ownership 

 Assets Liabilities equity holders Net sales period interests (%) 

 

Ekom 3,746,203 3,618,339 - 21,644 3,946 26.36 

Vitra Karo 2,218,946 2,928,247 - 1,490,278 (88,686) 25.00 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol 234,838 292,113 - 187,522 (22,371) 84.00 

EBX 81,309 2,025 - - 1,110 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı Shire (*) - - - 113,126 (2,149) 50.00 

ESH 4,548 6,381 - 19,223 (921) 45.35 
 

     (109,071)  

 

(*) The transfer of the Company's shares in Eczacıbaşı Shire to Baxalta GmbH has been completed as of 29 March 
2019and Eczacıbaşı Shire’s total loss for the period end amounting to TL 2,149 reflected in consolidated income 
statement. 

 

 

NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING 
 

The Group determined its operating segments based upon the reports reviewed and used by the Board of 

Directors while giving strategic decisions. 

 

During evaluations made for the requirements of TFRS 8 “Operating Segments” effective as of 1 January 2009, 

the Group decided that operating segments shown below in the disclosures prepared in line with CMB 

requirements are compatible with the reports presented to Decision Making Authorities related to current 

operations and that there is no new reportable segment. 

 

The Group continues to operate primarily in two reportable segments as of 31 December 2020  

(2019: Two segments). 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 

1. Health: 
 

Production and sale of human health and veterinary medicine. 
 

2. Real estate development: 
 

Kanyon 
 

The sale and lease of the real estate constructed with a 50% - 50% partnership with İş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 

Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“İŞ GYO”) located on Büyükdere Caddesi, in the Şişli district of Istanbul. The lease regards to 

half of the shopping mall and whole of the office building. 
 

Ormanada 
 

The Company acquired 50% and Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. acquired 50% of the 22 pieces of land with a total area 

of 196,409.74 m² in Yorgancı Çiftliği Mevkii, Uskumru Mahallesi, Sarıyer district in Istanbul. The size of unsold 

houses varies between 368 and 479 square meters with sales price range from TL 10.7 million to TL 14.5 million 

in Ormanada. 
 

Ayazağa facility 
 

Lease is related to serum facilities located in Ayazağa, Sarıyer district of Istanbul. 
 

Lands 
 

In addition to the aforementioned lands of Ayazağa facilities, in 2015, the Company acquired all the shares of 

Yeni Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. who owns a land plot in Ayazağa Cendere Valley, Urban Transformation Area as well 

as merged with it by facilitated merging transaction method on 7 December 2015. 

 

The summary table of the Company’s other investments in real estate is as follows: 
 

Purchase date                           Locations  Parcel Surface area (m²) Purchasing cost (TL)  
 

29 June 2015                                     Silivri   21 plantation 265,930 16,425 

1 December 2015                              Silivri  No. 308 8,500 765 

1 March 2016                                    Silivri  No. 1985 5,250 484 

7 June 2016                                       Silivri  No. 2007 685,026 67,995 
 

   964,706 85,669 

 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul 
 

Providing consulting services regarding land development and project management to Eczacıbaşı Group 

companies which are operating in real estate development sector. 
 

Undistributed 
 

Segment assets consist of cash and cash equivalents (except the cash and cash equivalents of the parent 

company), trade and other receivables, inventories, tangible and intangible assets and other current and non-

current assets. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets available for sale and deferred 

tax assets are excluded from segment assets. 
 

Segment liabilities consist of liabilities related to operations. Current and deferred tax liabilities, financial 

liabilities and financial liabilities provided by related parties are excluded from segment liabilities. 
 

Capital expenditures consist of purchases of tangible and intangible assets, investment property and goodwill 

arisen as a result of acquisitions in the current year. 
 

Financial information has not been reported in geographical segments since primary sales and purchases of the 

Group are performed in Turkey and the majority of the assets of the Group are in Turkey. 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 

 

Segment assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019: 

 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  
 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 
 

Health 504,716 (444,009) 376,322 (345,979) 

Real estate development 362,792 (36,490) 379,447 (30,986) 

Undistributed 5,102,723 (207,424) 4,082,568 (184,114) 
 

Total 5,970,231 (687,923) 4,838,337 (561,079) 

 

Capital expenditures and non-cash expenses of segments as of 31 December: 
 
  Real estate  
1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Capital expenditures (Note 14, 17, 18 and 19) 22,985 3,754 - 26,739 

 

Non-cash expenses: 
 

- Depreciation and amortization  
     (Note 14, 17, 18, 19 and 26) 16,418 6,868 - 23,286 
- Provision for employment termination benefits 
   and actuarial gain/loss (Note 21) 3,545 30 56  3,631 
- Expense accruals (Note 10) 663 - 2,202 2,865 
- Provision for diminution in value of  
    inventories (Note 12) 2,363 - - 2,362 
- Provision for accrued vacation (Note 21) (277) (84) (78) (439) 
 

 22,712 6,814 2,180 31,706 

 
As of 31 December 2020, allocation of capital expenditures are as follows: TL 2,136 in property, plant and 
equipment, TL 3,481 in intangible assets, TL 2,968 in investment properties and TL 18,154 in rights of use under 
TFRS 16. 
 
As of 31 December 2020, allocation of capital depreciation and amortization are as follows: TL 2,051 in 
property, plant and equipment, TL 2,899 in intangible assets, TL 5,715 in investment properties and  
TL 12,621 in rights of use under TFRS 16. 
 
  Real estate  
1 January 2019 - 31 December 2019 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Capital expenditures (Note 14, 17, 18 and 19) 27,676 6,214 - 33,890 

 

Non-cash expenses: 
 
- Depreciation and amortisation  14,170 7,187 - 21,357 

    (Note 14, 17, 18, 19 and 26) 
- Provision for employment termination benefits  
  and actuarial gain/loss (Note 21) 1,851 61 40 1,952 
- Provision for diminution in value of   
   inventories (Note 12) 1,047 - - 1,047 
- Provision for accrued vacation (Note 21) 820 39 78 937 
- Expense accruals (Note 10) 267 - 9 276 
- Provision for litigations (Note 20) 65 - - 65 
 

 18,220 7,287 127 25,634 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 

As of 31 December 2019, allocation of capital expenditures are as follows: TL 1,648 in property, plant and 
equipment, TL 3,022 in intangible assets, TL 3,589 in investment properties and TL 25,631 in rights of use under 
TFRS 16. 
 

As of 31 December 2019, allocation of capital depreciation and amortization are as follows: TL 2,205 in 
property, plant and equipment, TL 2,565 in intangible assets, TL 5,829 in investment properties and  
TL 10,758 in rights of use under TFRS 16. 
 

Capital expenditures and non-cash expenses of segments as of 31 December: 
 

  Real estate  

1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Total sales 765,727 146,701 - 912,428 

Elimination of sales within the Group (-) (2) (3,294) - (3,296) 
 

Sales to third parties 765,725 143,407 - 909,132 

Cost of sales (-) (580,686) (27,777) - (608,463) 
 

Gross profit 185,039 115,630 - 300,669 
 

General administrative expenses (-) (54,541) (16,675) (10,098) (81,314) 

Marketing expenses (-) (99,664) (11,461) - (111,125) 

Other operating income 35,651 345 316,863 352,859 

Other operating expenses (-) (43,865) (13) (120,006) (163,884) 
 

Operating profit 22,620 87,826 186,759 297,205 

 

  Real estate   

1 January 2019 - 31 December 2019 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Total sales 741,259 138,762 - 880,021 
Elimination of sales within the Group (-) (5) (2,940) - (2,945) 
 

Sales to third parties 741,254 135,822 - 877,076 
Cost of sales (-) (541,889) (19,373) - (561,262) 
 

Gross profit 199,365 116,449 - 315,814 
 

General administrative expenses (-) (40,647) (14,904) (8,215) (63,766) 
Marketing expenses (-) (112,250) (14,171) - (126,421) 
Other operating income 36,854 244 150,980 188,078 
Other operating expenses (-) (24,752) (293) (63,754) (88,799) 
 

Operating profit 58,570 87,325 79,011 224,906 

 

Reconciliation of operating profits related to operating segments with profit before tax: 
 

 2020 2019 
 

Operating profits related to operating segments 110,446 145,895 
 

Non-distributed income 186,759 79,011 

Income from investing activities 76,960 113,610 

Expenses from investing activities (-) (382) (197) 

Shares from participation profit/(losses) 5,536 (72,093) 

Financial income 55,016 4,346 

Financial expenses (-) (48,369) (77,455) 
 

Profit before tax 385,966 193,117 
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NOTE 6 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 
Cash in hand - 2 
Banks 856,115 672,780 
- Demand deposits 5,048 3,299 
- Time deposits 851,067 669,481 
 

 856,115 672,782 

 

The annual interest rate applied to the Turkish Lira denominated time deposits are between 16.50% and 16.75% (31 

December 2019: 10.25%), and the maturity datea are between 4 January 2021 and 11 January 2021. The annual 

interest rates applied to the foreign currency time deposits are between 1.00% and 3.00% (31 December 2019: 

0.20% to 2.50%), and the maturity dates are between 4 January 2021 and 21 January 2021. The weighted annual 

interest rates of TL, USD and Euro denominated bank deposits are 16.69%, 2.69% and 2.05% respectively (31 

December 2019: 10.25%, 2.33% and 0.29%). 
 

The details of the Group's time deposits are as follows: 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

TL equivalent of EUR denominated time deposits 415,581 252,911 
TL equivalent of USD denominated time deposits 355,761 333,941 
TL time deposits 79,725 82,629 
 

 851,067 669,481 

 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the periods ended  
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 are presented below: 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 856,115 672,782 

Interest accruals (-) (1,339) (488) 
 

 854,776 672,294 

 

 

NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

The details of financial investments included in current assets are as follows: 

 
 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25,074 1,254 
 

Financial investments, current 25,074 1,254 

 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 4,117,911 3,354,559 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 104,211 3,689 
 

Financial investments, non-current 4,222,122 3,358,248  

 

TFRS 13 defines the classifications of valuation techniques. 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

The classification of financial instruments at fair value is shown as following: 

 

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); 
 

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
According to the observability of the data used in fair value measurement, the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s 
financial assets at fair value is shown as follows: 

 

31 December 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 25,074 - 25,074 
 

Financial investments, current - 25,074 - 25,074 

 
Financial assets at fair value through 

   other comprehensive income - 1,441,116 2,676,795 4,117,911 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 104,211 - 104,211 
 

Financial investments, non-current - 1,545,327 2,676,795 4,222,122 

 

 

31 December 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 1,254 - 1,254 
 

Financial investments, current - 1,254 - 1,254 

 
Financial assets at fair value through 

   other comprehensive income 59,721 1,347,761 1,947,077 3,354,559 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 3,689 - 3,689 
 

Financial investments, non-current 59,721 1,351,450 1,947,077 3,358,248 

 

Reconciliation of period beginning and period end for the assets measured at fair value based on 3rd level is as 

follows: 

 

 2020 2019 

 

As of 1 January 1,947,077 1,788,936 

Total income accounted in other comprehensive income 730,389 208,615 

Disposals for the period (-) (671) (50,474) 
 

 Long-term financial assets 2,676,795 1,947,077 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

 

Financial assets at fair value related to income statements portfolio consist of international financial investment 

instruments and fixed income securities that are valued domestically. 

 

The total fair value of financial assets valued domestically and abroad as of December 31, 2020 is TL 129,285 

(31 December 2019: TL 4,943). 

 

Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income 

 

Long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income 

 

The list of long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income as of 31 December 2020 and  

31 December 2019 is as follows: 

 

The reconciliation between the balance at the beginning of the period and the balance at the end of the period of 

financial assets whose long-term fair value difference is reflected in other comprehensive income is presented 

below: 

 

 2020 2019 

 

As of 1 January 3,354,559 3,019,743 

Total income accounted in other comprehensive income 763,352 334,909 

Disposals during the period (-) - (93) 
 

 Long-term financial assets 4,117,911 3,354,559 

 

  

 31 December 2020 (%) 31 December 2019 (%) 
 

Not publicly traded 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (**) 4,114,600 37 3,352,455 37 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (**)                                3.285 13 2,078 13 

Other (*) 26 <1 26 <1 
 

 4,117,911  3,354,559 
 

Long-term financial assets 4,117,911  3,354,559 

 

(*) These financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are carried at their acquisition costs since 

they are not listed and fair values cannot be reliably measured. 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (Continued) 

 

Long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (Continued) 
 
(**) For financial assets in unlisted companies, the Group determines fair values using valuation techniques. These 

valuation techniques include the use of recent arm’s length transactions or references to other instruments that are 

substantially the same and discounted cash flow analysis considering the specific conditions of the company invested 

in. Adjustments to fair values are accounted for in “Financial assets fair value reserve” under shareholders’ equity.. In 

fair value determination (Fair Value Measurement Methods (I)); 
 

i) Rent income; discounted cash flows (Level 3), 

ii) Real estates; current transaction cost, arm’s length price and expertise values (Level 2 and 3), 

iii) Net asset values of remaining assets and liabilities in cash (Level 3), 

iv) The multiplication of ownership interest rates of Eczacıbaşı Holding with the fair values of all subsidiaries, 

joint ventures and associates.  

 
 Proportion of    

 power held by Fair value  

 Eczacıbaşı Holding  measurement 

 (%) (*) method  
 

Name 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 100.00 100.00 (I) (I) (I) (I) 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 74.84 74.82 (I) (I) (I) (I) 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malz. Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 77.38 77.38 (III) (II) Level 3 Level 1 

Eczacıbaşı Yapı Gereçleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 98.10 98.10 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Esan Eczacıbaşı Endüstriyel Hammaddeler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 99.66 99.69 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Vitra Karo San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 92.79 92.79 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 100.00 100.00 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 74.84 74.82 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

E-Kart Elektronik Kart Sistemleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 44.23 44.23 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. 4.92 4.92 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Momentum Teknoloji Yatırımları A.Ş. 100.00 100.00 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. (**) - 88.48 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 74.94 74.92 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. 74.85 74.83 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 81.57 81.57 (V) (V) Level 2 Level 2 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 50.00 50.00 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Toplu Konut Holding A.Ş. 27.00 27.00 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 89.74 89.73 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 60.62 62.85 (III) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Villeroy & Boch Fliesen GmbH 90.67 90.66 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Vitra Fliesen GmbH & Co. KG 92.79 92.79 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ür. San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 37.42 37.41 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 96.62 96.62 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Vitra Plitka 92.79 92.79 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 
 

(*) Proportion of ownership interest represents the effective shareholding of Eczacıbaşı Holding directly through the shares 

held in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and indirectly by these companies. 

 

(**) As of 2 March 2020, the Company has been sold. 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (Continued) 
 

Long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (Continued) 
 

The methods used in fair value measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding are as follows: 
 

Fair Value Measurement Methods Code 
 

Market price (II) 

Discounted cash flows (III) 

Net book value (IV) 

Net asset value (V) 
 

(I) In the fair value measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding, for the stand-alone fair value of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, 

Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., the effect of the cross ownership with Eczacıbaşı 

Holding has been taken into consideration. The following have been taken into account in the related 

stand-alone fair value determination: 
 

i) Kanyon Shopping Mall and Office Building; discounted cash flows of rent income (Level 3), 

ii) Financial assets; current transaction cost (Level 2) and current market prices (Level 1),  

iii) Real estates; current transaction cost, imputed cost and expertise values (Level 2 and 3), 

iv) Net asset value of remaining assets in cash (Level 2) and liabilities in cash (Level 3). 
 

In this context, the fair value has been calculated as TL 2,378,814 as of 31 December 2020  

(31 December 2019: TL 2,215,724). As of 31 December 2020, market/stock value of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, 

Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. amounts to TL 5,112,040 (31 December 2019: TL 

2,542,315). 
 

(II) The securities measured at market values are valued by the strike prices as at 31 December 2020 and  
31 December 2019 on BIST. As of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 there are no financial 
instruments listed in another stock exchange market 

 

(III) The discount rates used in discounted cash-flow method are determined for each entity separately taking 
into consideration the following factors: 

 

i) The countries in which each entity is located and the risk premiums of these countries, 

ii) The market risk premiums for each entity and 

iii) The industry risk premiums for the sectors in which each entity operates 
 

Comparable risk premiums (in line with observable market data) are used in the determination of 

discount rates. 
 

 For the calculation of discount rates used for companies valuated with discounted cash flow method cost 
of equity and cost of capital have been evaluated considering to risk free return rate and risk premiums. 
Accordingly weighted average capital cost (WACC) rates are calculated with regards to sustainable debt 
to equity ratios of each industry of related company. As of 31 December 2020 if WACC would be 100 
base point higher/lower, fair value of asset held for sale would be TL 379,239 lower and TL 465,665 
higher. 

 

 In this context, the WACCs used in companies with functional currency TL in the baseline scenario 
vary between 16.6% - 19% (31 December 2019: 15% - 18%) while the discount rate used in companies 
with functional currencies in EUR it is 7.4% (31 December 2019: 6.9%) and in companies with 
functional currencies in GBP it is 7.5% (31. December 2019: 7.2%). 

 

(IV) Current transaction price consists of the financial instruments of which fair values are measured by 

comparable costs of current transactions as of the balance sheet date. 
 

(V,VI) The fair values of these companies are determined by net asset values and net book values. The net asset 

value is calculated by deducting liabilities from monetary assets, whereas net book values are calculated 

by their cost values. 
 

(VII) In the discounted cash flow method used within the scope of the valuation, the long-term growth rate for 
TL was used as 5%. If this rate would be 50 base point higher/lower the valuation would be  
TL 101,995 and TL 93,648 (31 December 2019: TL 65,592 and TL 60,265). 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (Continued) 
 

Long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (Continued) 
 

The fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding has been calculated by multiplying the proportion of ownership interest of 

Eczacıbaşı Holding with the fair values calculated, using the methods explained above, for each company.  

The calculation summary of the amount shown in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December is as 

follows: 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Total fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding (*) 9,947,927 8,105,278 

The share of the Group within the total 

   fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding (**) 3,708,691 3,021,732 

The effect of cross ownership 1,434,559 1,168,837 
 

Fair value before minority discount 5,143,250 4,190,569 
 

Minority discount (-) (1,028,650) (838,114) 
 

Fair value of the Group in consolidated financials 4,114,600 3,352,455 
 

(*) Reflects the amount multiplied with the total proportion of ownership interests 
 

(**) As of 31 December 2020, the Company has been taken into consideration in the share of the Company's shares in 

Eczacıbaşı Holding. 
 

As presented in the table above, the share of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret 
A.Ş. in the fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding before minority discount amounting to TL 9,947,927 
(31 December 2019: TL 8,105,278) has been calculated by using the fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding amounting 
to TL 3,708,691 (31 December 2019: TL 3,021,732) by multiplying this fair value with  
EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’s proportion of ownership interest in 
Eczacıbaşı Holding equaling 37.28% and amounting to 31 December 2020 TL 1,434,559  
(31 December 2019: TL 1,168,837) and adding the effect of cross ownership between EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai 
ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı Holding amounting to TL 5,143,250  
(31 December 2019: TL 4,190,569). The fair value presented in consolidated financial statements amounting to 
TL 4,114,600 (31 December 2019: TL 3,352,455) has been calculated by deducting the minority discount at the 
rate of 20% (2019: 20%) from this amount. 
 

The effect of a 100 base point change in minority discount rate on the fair value of the financial instruments 

valued by discounted cash-flow method is calculated as TL 51,432 as of 31 December 2020  

(31 December 2019: TL 41,906). 
 

 

NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  
 Effective  Effective  

 interest rate  interest rate  

  per annum (%) (*) TL per annum (%) (*) TL 
 

TL denominated bank borrowings 8.75 - 11.00 102,882 11.25 - 19.90 70,650 
Finance lease payables  14,497  9,400 
 

Short-term bank borrowings  117,379  80,050 
 

TL denominated bank borrowings 8.75 - 9.55 40,000 12.00 10,000 
Finance lease payables  10,090  7,764 
 

Long-term bank borrowings  50,090  17,764 
 

Total financial liabilities  167,469  97,814 
 

(*) Annual weighted average interest rate of TL denominated short-term bank borrowings is 9.46%  
(31 December 2019: 16.06%). 
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NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
The redemption schedule of  borrowings at are as follows: 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 
Less than 1 year 117,379 80,050 
1 - 2 years 50,090 17,764 
 

Total 167,469 97,814 
 

The details of borrowings as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 and are as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 

 

As of 1 January 97,814 83,978 

Borrowings received 189,799 163,835 

Cash outflows on debt payments (-) (127,511) (167,131) 

Foreign exchange losses 4,953 15,039 

Faiz tahakkuklarındaki değişim 2,414 2,093 
 

As of 31 December 167,469 97,814 

 
 
NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 
a) Balances with related parties at 31 December: 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
Short-term trade receivables from related parties 
 
Due from shareholders 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 704 679 
 

 704 679 

 
Due from Joint Ventures   
 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 2 - 
Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 11 - 
 

 13 - 

 
Due from associates   
 

Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 169 - 
Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 1 1 
Other - 6 
 

 170 7 

 
Due from other related parties   
 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 721 23 
Eczacıbaşı Yapı Gereçleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 149 3 
Esan Eczacıbaşı Endüstriyel Hammaddeler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 111 - 
İntema Yaşam Ev ve Mutfak Ürünleri Pazarlama Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 46 350 
İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 42 21 
Diğer 12 6 
 

 

 1,081 403 
 

Total short-term due from related parties 1,968 1,089 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 
 
a) Balances with related parties at 31 December (Continued): 
 

Average maturity of the Group’s receivables from related parties is 30 days (31 December 2019: 30 days) and is 

amortized at 14.76% per annum (31 December 2019: 10.18%). 

 
 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Short-term other payables from related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 160 - 
 

Short-term other payables from related parties 160 - 

 

Long-term other payables from related parties   
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 265 - 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 15 361 
 

Long-term other payables from related parties 280 361 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Short-term trade payables to related parties 
 

Due to shareholders 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 9,213 6,403 
 

 9,213 6,403 
 

Due to Joint Ventures 
 

EczacıbaşıMonrol Nükleer Ürünler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 2 3 
 

 2 3 

 

Due to other related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 3,419 21 
Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 875 1,397 

Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü Derneği 869 860 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 613 516 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. 394 270 

Other 389 126 
 

 6,559 3,190 
 

 15,775 9,596 
 

Deferred credit finance expenses (-) (23) (2) 
 

Total short-term due to related parties 15,752 9,594 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s payables to related parties is 30 days (31 December 2019: 30 days) and is 

amortised at 14.76% per annum (31 December 2019: 10.18%). 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 
 

a) Balances with related parties at 31 December (Continued): 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Deferred income from related parties   
 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (*) 19,498 19,498 
 

Deferred income from related parties 19,498 19,498 

 

(*) EBX has decided the distribution of advance on liquidation to the shareholders at the extraordinary general assembly 

meeting dated 18 June 2018 in the court decision of 8 May 2018. Since the liquidation process of EBX has not completed 

yet, the distributed advance on liquidation has shown under deferred revenue. 

 

Short term lease due to related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 3,309 2,684 
 

Short term lease due to related parties 3,309 2,684 

 

Long term lease due to related parties   
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - 3,242 
 

Long term lease due to related parties - 3,242 

 

b) Other transactions with related parties for the periods ended 31 December: 
 

 2020 2019 

Product sales 
 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 703 81 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 680 12 

Eczacibaşi Yapi Gereçleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 320 11 

Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 156 2 

Diğer 137 36 
 

 1,996 142 

 

Service sales 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 5,001 3,875 
 

 5,001 3,875 

 

Product purchases 
 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 2,286 - 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. - 14 
 

 2,286 14 
 

Service purchases 
 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 8,890 9,071 

Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü Derneği 3,105 3,120 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,405 1,198 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 253 290 

Diğer 1 126 
 

 13,654 13,805 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 
 

b) Other transactions with related parties for the periods ended 31 December (Continued): 

 

The Group, purchases personal cleaning, hygiene and child care products from Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.. 

 

The Group, renders services related to administration of Kanyon complex from Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve 

Pazarlama A.Ş.; advertisement services from Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü; and various other services from other 

group companies. 

 

Within the scope of Ormanada project which is jointly carried out within the scope of real estate activities, the 

Group provides supervision, monitoring and sub-contracting services to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 

 

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group does not have any contingent assets or liabilities arising from 

transactions with related parties. 

  2020  2019 
 

Dividend income from related parties (*) 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 66,902 79,409 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. - 100 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. 2 2 
 

       66,904 79,511 

 

(*) Dividend income is included in income from investment activities. 

 

Copyright and administrative fees paid to related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (*) 11,049 8,688 
 

 11,049 8,688 

 

(*) Management fees paid to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. comprise law, financial corporate identity, budget planning, 

information technologies, audit and human resource services received from Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.. These expenses 

are billed for relevant services in proportion to the time spent by the relevant department of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 

 

Rent income received from related parties   
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 6,075 6,543 

İntema Yaşam Ev ve Mutfak Ürünleri Pazarlama Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 425 512 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. 392 339 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 19 17 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 13 12 

Other 64 55 
 

 6,988 7,478 

  

Rent expenses paid to related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 909 683 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 441 394 
 

 1,350 1,077 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

 
b)  Other transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December (Continued): 
 
   2020  2019 
Other expenses paid to related parties 
 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 547 645 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 422 403 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 93 2 

Other 25 27 
 

 1,087 1,077 

 

Fixed asset purchases from related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 529 591 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 241 - 

Other 35 3 
 

 805 594 

 

Management and royalty fees paid to related parties 
 

The Company has determined key management personnel as board members, group presidents, vice-presidents 

and general manager the Company and its subsidiaries. 

 

Short term benefits provided to key management personnel consists of salaries, premiums, social insurance 

related payments, health insurance and seniority incentive award. Long term benefits provided to key 

management personnel consists of employee termination benefits paid to discharged key management personnel 

due to retirement and/or transfer and service award payments. 

 

Details of compensation provided to key management personnel for the year ending as of 31 December  are as 

follows: 
 

 2020 2019 
 

Short-term benefits provided to key management personnel 8,349 7,437 

Long-term benefits provided to key management personnel - - 
 

 8,349 7,437 

 

 

NOTE 10 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 

 

a) Trade receivables from third parties 

 

Short term trade receivables 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Trade receivables 166,883 175,905 

Notes receivables 61,980 62,641 

Income accruals 446 272 
 

 229,309 238,818 
 

Deferred credit finance income (-) (2,313) (2,958) 

Provision for doubtful receivables (-) (3,460) (3,460) 
 

Short-term trade receivables, net 223,536 232,400 
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NOTE 10 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued) 

 

a) Trade receivables from third parties (Continued) 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s receivables is 76 days (31 December 2019: 82 days) and TL denominated trade 

receivables are amortized at 14.76% per annum (31 December 2019: 10.09%). 

 

Movement of provision for doubtful receivables are presented below: 

 2020 2019 
 

As of 1 January 3,460 3,467 

Reversal of provisions (-) - (7) 
 

As of 31 December 3,460 3,460 

 

Maximum credit risk and aging analysis related to trade receivables are included in Note 32. 

 

b) Trade payables to third parties 

 

Short-term trade payables 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Trade payables 257,599 222,219 

Expense accruals 2,865 276 

Deferred credit finance expenses (-) (1,226) (774) 
 

Short-term trade payables, net 259,238 221,721 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s payables is 138 days (31 December 2019: 127 days) and TL denominated trade 

payables are amortized at 14.94% per annum (31 December 2019: 10.09 and USD denominated payables are 

amortized at 0.11% per annum (31 December 2019: 1.24%). 

 

 

NOTE 11 - OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Other current assets 
 

Other 228 138 
 

Other current assets, net 228 138 

 

Other non-current assets  
 

Deposits and collaterals given 12 12 
 

Other non-current assets, net 12 12 

 

Short-term other liabilities  
 

Deposits and collaterals received 5,874 4,417 

Taxes payable 2,951 4,041 

Other 64 64 
 

Short-term other liabilities, net 8,889 8,522 
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NOTE 12 - INVENTORIES 
 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Raw materials and supplies 22,442 14,548 

Work in progress 32,308 22,242 

Finished goods 59,392 15,883 

Trade goods 32,289 25,652 

Other inventories 3,458 2,533 

Houses (*) 2,363 10,633 
 

 152,252 91,491 
 

Provision for diminution in value of inventories (-) (3,118) (2,924) 
 

 149,134 88,567 
 

(*) Houses contains undelivered houses cost of land of purchased by the Group in Zekeriyaköy as part of real estate 

development activities and project development costs incurred 
 

The movements in the provision for impairment of inventories during the period are as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 

 

As of 1 January 2,924 3,496 

Provisions during the period 2,363 1,047 

Reversal of provisions (-) - (103) 

Inventory Disposals (2,169) (1,516) 
 

As of 31 December 3,118 2,924 

 

 

NOTE 13 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Short-term prepaid expenses 
 

Prepaid expenses 3,080 3,950 

Advances given 944 492 
 

 4,024 4,442 

 

Long-term prepaid expenses 
 

Advances given for tangible fixed assets 7,525 172 

Prepaid expenses 1,408 1,495 
 

 8,933 1,667 

 

Short-term deferred income 
 

Unearned revenue 3,312 467 

Advances received 180 136 
 

 3,492 603 

 

Long-term deferred income 
 

Deferred income from related parties (Note 9) 19,498 19,498 
 

 19,498 19,498  
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NOTE 14 - RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 
 
Significant changes in accounting policies are applied retrospectively and prior period consolidated financial 

statements are restated. The significant accounting policies used by the Group when preparing the condensed 

consolidated financial statements ended on 31 December 2020 are consistent with the accounting policies 

detailed in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 

 Machinery and  

 equipment Vehicle Office Other Total 
 

1 January 2020 - 9,203 5,420 91 14,714 

Additions 157 17,875 -   - 18,032 

Change of lease agreements - - 120   2 122 

Disposals, net (-) - (135) -   - (135) 

Amortizations cost (-) (24) (9,740) (2,774) (83) (12,621) 
 

As of 31 December 2020 133 17,203 2,766 10 20,112 

 

As of 31 December 2020, the Group accounted for rights of use amounting to TL 20,112 and rent obligation 

amounting to TL 24,587. The Group has accounted for depreciation, interest and foreign exchange loss instead of 

operating lease expenses in relation to the lease agreements within the scope of TFRS 16. For the period ended 

31 December 2020, the Group recognized TL 12,621 of depreciation expense, TL 2,584 of interest expense and 

TL 2,631 of foreign exchange loss instead of TL 16,253 operating lease expenses. 

 
 Machinery and 
 equipment Vehicle Office Other Total 
 

1 January 2019 24 17,235 8,127 168 25,554 
Additions - 62 - 15 77 
Disposals, net (-) - (159) - - (159) 
Amortizations cost (-) (24) (7,935) (2,707) (92) (10,758) 
 

31 December 2019 - 9,203 5,420 91 14,714 

 
Right of use assets amounting to TL 68 is due to the classification of prepaid rent expenses which are accounted 
under prepaid expenses before TFRS 16 application. 
 

The Group has accounted for depreciation and interest expenses instead of operating lease expenses in relation to 

the lease agreements within the scope of TFRS 16. For the period ended 31 December 2020, the Group 

recognized TL 10,758 of depreciation expense, TL 1,858 of interest expense and TL 2,711 of foreign exchange 

loss instead of TL 12,877 of operating lease expenses. 

 

 

NOTE 15 - CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Current income tax assets 
 

Prepaid taxes and withholding taxes 6,978 224 
 

 6,978 224  
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NOTE 16 - DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 

 

The Group utilizes currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows. The Group is party 

to a variety of foreign currency forward contracts and options in the management of its exchange rate exposures. 

The instruments purchased are primarily denominated in the currencies of the Group’s principal markets. At the end 

of the reporting periods, the total notional amount and fair values of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts 

to which the Group is committed are as follows: 

 

  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 
 

Derivatives for trading - 4,254 - 18,033 
 

 - 4,254 - 18,033 

 

  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 Contract  Fair values  Contract  Fair values  

 amount (*) Assets Liabilities  amount (*) Assets Liabilities 
 

Trade purposes: 
 

Forward currency transactions 150,841 - 4,254 94,816 - 18,033 
 

 150,841 - 4,254 94,816 - 18,033 
 

(*) Represents the sum of the purchase and sale contracts of the related derivative instruments. 

 

For trading purposes: 
 
 

Derivative financial instruments provide effective protection against risks for the Group, but are not accounted for 

as trading derivative instruments in the consolidated financial statements when they do not meet the requirements 

for risk accounting, 

 

 

NOTE 17 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

 1 January 2020 Additions Transfers Disposals  31 December 2020 
 

Cost 
Kanyon 239,609 2,948 - - 242,557 

Buildings 45,532 20 - (11,006) 34,546 

Lands and land improvements 154,540 - - - 154,540 
  

 439,681 2,968 - (11,006) 431,643 

 

Accumulated depreciation 
Kanyon 71,512 5,443 - - 76,955 

Buildings 21,591 272 - (623) 21,240 

Lands and land improvements 440 - - - 440 
 

 93,543 5,715 - (623) 98,635 
 

Net book value 346,138   333,008  
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NOTE 17 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 
 

 1 January 2019 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2019 
 

Cost 
Kanyon 237,568 2,041 - - 239,609 

Buildings (*) 54,853 102 1,013 (10,436) 45,532 

Lands and land improvements 153,094 1,446 - - 154,540 
  

 445,515 3,589 1,013 (10,436) 439,681 

 

Accumulated depreciation 
Kanyon 66,160 5,352 - - 71,512 

Buildings 21,732 477 - (618) 21,591 

Lands and land improvements 440 - - - 440 
 

 88,332 5,829 - (618) 93,543 
 

Net book value 357,183   346,138  

 

(*) The rented properties  amounting to TL 1,013 are classified from inventories to investment properties. 

 

For the periods ending at 31 December 2020, total rent income of Kanyon shopping centre and office complex is 

amounted to TL 78,977 (31 December 2019: TL 92,746) and repair and maintenance expense of the related 

period is amounted to TL 81 (31 December 2019: TL 87). 

 

Total rent income from other investment properties is amounting to TL 6,020 (31 December 2019: TL 6,169) for 

the year ended at 31 December 2020. 

 

As of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, there are no pledges or liens on Group’s investment property. 

 

Fair Value 

 

Kanyon 
 

As of 31 December 2020, fair value of Kanyon is approximately TL 377 million (31 December 2019:  

TL 360 million) which consist of fair value of Kanyon shopping center amounting TL 627  

(31 December 2019: TL 611 million) and fair value of Kanyon Office complex amounting TL 1,004 million (31 

December 2019: TL 971 million) which is calculated from net present value of estimated rent income of Kanyon 

shopping center and office complex by the Group Management. 

 

Other 
 

As of 31 December 2020, fair value of other investment properties is amounting to TL 593,998  

(31 December 2019: TL 585,653). Aforementioned fair values are determined for properties that generating rent 

income from the net present value “of anticipated rent income by the Company Management, whereas they are 

estimated for lands, which are purchased in current period by an independent evaluation company. This 

evaluation company that authorized by CMB, provides real estate valuation services pursuant to capital market 

legislation and has adequate experience and demonstrable knowledge in valuation of relevant areas. Upon 

valuation report, fair value of acquired properties is determined by comparing the imputed values that is reflected 

the actual transaction values of similar properties. 
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NOTE 18 - TANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

 1 January 2020 Additions Disposals 31 December 2020 
 

Cost 
Machinery, plant and equipment 9,938 33 (4) 9,967 

Motor vehicles  560 - - 560 

Furniture and fixtures  5,698 471 (1,183) 4,986 

Construction in progress 90 133 - 223 

Leasehold improvements 2,336 244 - 2,580 

Other tangible assets 12,556 1,255 (4) 13,807 
 

 31,178 2,136 (1,191) 32,123 

 

Accumulated depreciation 
Machinery, plant and equipment 9,764 38 (4) 9,798 

Motor vehicles 161 25 - 186 

Furniture and fixtures 3,880 641 (1,238) 3,283 

Leasehold improvements 2,095 170 - 2,265 

Other tangible assets 10,076 1,177 (6) 11,247 
 

 25,976 2,051 (1,248) 26,779 
 

Net book value 5,202   5,344 

 

Allocation of depreciation and amortization expenses for quarter period 31 December 2020 relating with tangible 

and intangible assets, investment properties and right of usage assets under TFRS 16 as follows; TL 5,782 

included in cost of goods sold, TL 5,220 included in general and administrative expenses, TL 12,284 included in 

marketing.  

 

 1 January 2019 Additions Disposals 31 December 2019 
 

Cost 
Machinery, plant and equipment  9,920 18 - 9,938 

Motor vehicles 612 - (52) 560 

Furniture and fixtures 4,922 991 (215) 5,698  

Construction in progress 90 - - 90 

Leasehold improvements 2,060 276 - 2,336 

Other tangible assets 12,826 363 (633) 12,556 
 

 30,430 1,648 (900) 31,178 

 

Accumulated depreciation 

Machinery, plant and equipment  9,732 32 - 9,764 

Motor vehicles 187 25 (51) 161 

Furniture and fixtures 3,160 912 (192) 3,880 

Leasehold improvements 1,888 207 - 2,095 

Other tangible assets 9,415 1,029 (368) 10,076 
 

 24,382 2,205 (611) 25,976 
 

Net book value 6,048   5,202 

 

Allocation of depreciation and amortization expenses for quarter period 31 December 2019 relating with tangible 

and intangible assets, investment properties and right of usage assets under TFRS 16 as follows; TL 5,982 

included in cost of goods sold, TL 5,312 included in general and administrative expenses, TL 10,063 included in 

marketing.  
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NOTE 19 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

 1 January 2020 Additions Disposals Transfers 31 December 2020 
 

Cost 

Rights 9,510 87 (335) 97 9,359 

Computer software 8,550 1,736 (3) 168 10,451 

Construction in progress 9,637 1,160 (4,802) (265) 5,730 

Other intangible assets 501 498 - - 999 
 

 28,198 3,481 (5,140) - 26,539 

 

Accumulated amortization 

Rights 6,064 1,387 (131) - 7,320 

Computer software 6,987 1,324 (3) - 8,308 

Other intangible assets 294 188 - - 482 
 

 13,345 2,899 (134) - 16,110 
 

Net book value 14,853    10,429 

 

 

 1 January 2019 Additions Disposals Transfers 31 December 2019 
 

Cost 

Rights 8,232 514 - 764 9,510 

Computer software 7,175 1,146 - 229 8,550 

Construction in progress 9,487 1,143 - (993) 9,637 

Other intangible assets 282 219 - - 501 
 

 25,176 3,022 - - 28,198 

 

Accumulated amortization 

Rights 4,594 1,470 - - 6,064 

Computer software 5,955 1,032 - - 6,987 

Other intangible assets 231 63 - - 294 
 

 10,780 2,565 - - 13,345 
 

Net book value 14,396    14,853 

 

 

NOTE 20 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

a) Provisions 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Provision for litigations 1,117 1,371 
 

 1,117 1,371 
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NOTE 20 -  PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

(Continued) 

 

a) Provision (Continued) 

 

Provision for litigations 

 

The Group has provided provision for the lawsuits filed against the Group in the amount of TL 1,117  

(31 December 2019: TL 1,371) based on the legal opinions taken on juridical, labor, commercial and 

administrative litigations and the assessment of similar litigations’ consequences in the past. Movement of the 

provision for litigations are stated below: 
 

 2020 2019 

 

As of 1 January 1,371 1,453 

Charge for the period (Note 27) - 65 

Provisions related to discontinuous operations (-) (254) (147) 
 

As of 31 December 1,117 1,371 

 

b) Contingent assets 

 

Appeal for return of tax penalty paid: 

 

The Competition Authority decided to conduct an inquiry for 8 companies, including EİP, regarding tender of the 

Training Hospitals. As a result of the inquiry, a decision was made by the Competition Board at 19 January 2007 

and announced to the parties. With this decision, an administrative penalty amounting to TL 1,211 equivalent of 7.5 

per thousand  of the net sales of 2001, has been imposed on EİP. Regarding the penalty mentioned a reduced 

payment of TL 908 has been made for early payment; there are no additional liabilities attributable to the penalty. 

The Group has applied to the Council of State for the refund of the penalty. 

 

Appeal for return of tax penalty paid: 

 

On 20 August 2014, as a result of an investigation initiated by the Competition Board, 2 companies, including  

EİP were fined amounting to TL 930, based on the grounds that the Company violated competition rules. The 

Company benefited from the early payment option in 2015 and paid TL 698. 

 

There are no additional liabilities attributable to the penalty. The Company filed a lawsuit for the cancellation of the 

Competition Board’s decision and the reimbursement of the aforementioned amount. 

 

c) Guarantees given and taken 

 

    31 December 2020  

  USD EUR TL Total 
 

Guarantees given 
 

Letters of guarantee - - 35,828 35,828 
 

 - - 35,828 35,828 

 

Guarantees received 
 

Letters of guarantee 10,420 3,603 52,905 66,928 

Guarantee bill 1,079 - 381 1,460 
 

 11,499 3,603 53,286 68,388 
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NOTE 20 -  PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

(Continued) 
 

c) Guarantees given and taken (Continued) 
 

    31 December 2019  

  USD EUR TL Total 
 

Guarantees given 
 

Letters of guarantee - - 41,389 41,389 
 

 - - 41,389 41,389 

 

Guarantees received 
 

Letters of guarantee 9,297 - 45,322 54,619 

Guarantee bill 873 - 319 1,192 
 

 10,170 - 45,641 55,811 

 

Letters and guaranteed bills of exchange were given to suppliers and government institutions. Mortgages, cheques 

and guaranteed bills of exchange were taken from customer for trade receivables of the Group. 
 

Collateral/pledge/mortgage (“CPM”) position of the Group. as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 
 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

A.  CPMs given for Company’s own legal personality  188 188 
- Collateral (Fully denominated in TL) 188 188 
- Pledge - - 
- Mortgage - - 

B.  CPMs given on behalf of fully consolidated companies - - 
- Collateral - - 
- Pledge - - 
- Mortgage - - 

C.  CPMs given in the normal course of business activities on behalf of   
     Third parties - - 
D.  Total amount of other CPMs - - 

i.  Total amount of CPMs given on behalf of the parent - - 
- Collateral - - 
- Pledge - - 
- Mortgage - - 
ii.  Total amount of CPMs given to on behalf of other Group companies   
      which are not in scope of B and C - - 

 iii. Total amount of CPMs given on behalf of third parties   
       which are not in scope of C - - 
 

 188 188 

 
Proportion of other CPMs given to the Group’s equity as of 31 December 2020 is 0% (31 December 2019: 0%). 
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NOTE 21 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Employee benefit obligations 
 

Social security premiums payable 999 1,162 

Wages payable to employees 12 602 
 

 1,011 1,764 

 

Short term provisions for employee benefits 
 

Provision for unused vacations 2,835 3,415 
 

 2,835 3,415 

 
Provision for unused vacations 
 

Movements in the provision for unused vacation are as follows as of 31 December: 
 

 2020 2019 
 

As of 1 January 3,415 2,956 

(Decrease)/increase within the period (439) 937 

Payments during the period (-) (141) (478) 
 

As of 31 December 2,835 3,415 

 

Long term provisions for employee benefits 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Provision for employment termination benefit 7,091 4,118 
 

 7,091 4,118 

 

Provision for employment termination benefits: 
 
Under Turkish Labor Law, the Company and its Turkish Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures are required to pay 
termination benefits to each employee who has completed one year of service and whose employment is 
terminated without due cause, who is called up for military service, dies or retires after completing 25 years of 
service (20 years for women) and reaches the retirement age (58 for women and 60 for men). Some transition 
provisions related to the pre-retirement service term were excluded from the law since the related law was 
amended as of 23 May 2002. 

 
As of 31 December 2020, the amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of  
TL 7,117.17 (31 December 2019: TL 6,379.86) for each year of service. As of 31 December 2020, calculation of 
provision for employee termination benefit has been performed considering one month’s salary limited to a 
maximum of TL 7,638.96  which is valid from 1 January 2021 (1 January 2020: TL 6,730.15). 
 
The liability is not funded as there is no funding requirement. The provision has been calculated by estimating 
the present value of the future probable obligation of the Company and its subsidiaries and joint ventures 
registered in Turkey arising from the retirement of employees. 

 
TAS 19 “Employee Benefits” published by POA require actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate 
the enterprise’s obligation under defined benefit plans.  
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NOTE 21 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
Provision for employment termination benefits: (Continued) 
 
Accordingly the following actuarial assumptions were used in the calculation of the total liability: 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Discount rate (%) 3.03 3.72 

Turnover rate to estimate the probability of retirement (%) (*) 93 - 98 93 - 98 
 

(*) For the estimation of the probability of retirement, the turnover rate was used for employees with services up to 15 
years, and for employees with 16 years of service and over, it was taken as 100%. 

 
The principal assumption is that the maximum liability for each year of service will increase in line with 
inflation. The discount rate thus applied represents the expected rate of actual inflation.  
 
Movements in the provision for employment termination benefits are as follows as of 31 December: 
 

 2020 2019 

 

As of 1 January 4,118 4,079 

Charge for the period (Note 26) 3,631 1,952 

Payments during the period (-) (658) (1,913) 
 

As of 31 December 7,091 4,118 

 

 

NOTE 22 - OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Other current assets 
 

VAT receivables 188 424 

Advances given to personnel 30 25 

Other 1 - 
 

 219 449 

 

Other non-current assets   
 

VAT receivables 12,095 9,349 
 

 12,095 9,349 
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NOTE 23 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS 
 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. adopted the registered share capital system 

available to companies registered with the CMB and set a limit on its registered share capital representing registered 

type shares with a nominal value of Kr 1. There are no privileged shares, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’s 

subscribed, historical and authorized share capital for the years ended at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Limit on registered share capital (historical value) 1,920,000 1,920,000 

Authorized share capital approved with nominal value 685,260 685,260 

 

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the shareholders of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. and their proportion of ownership interests in historical share capital are as follows: 

 

Shareholders (%)  31 December 2020 (%) 31 December 2019 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 50.62 346,845 50.62 346,845 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 29.69 203,485 29.67 203,295 

Other (public) (*) 19.69 134,930 19.71 135,120 
 

Total 100.00 685,260 100.00 685,260 
 

Adjustment to share capital  105,777  105,777 
 

Total authorised share capital  791,037  791,037 

 

(*) Within the framework of Capital Markets Board’s decision, dated 23 July 2010 and numbered 21/655, actual rates of 

the shares in circulation of the listed companies in BIST are announced on a weekly basis starting from the period 

ended 30 September 2010, became effective as of 1 October 2010 by the Central Registry Agency (“CRA”). 

According to the report published by CRA on 31 December 2020 19.68% (31 December 2019: 19.70%) of the 

Group’s shares in circulation are presented in the other group. 

 

Adjustment to share capital represents the difference between the cash contributions adjusted for inflation and the cash 

contributions prior to adjustment for inflation. 

 

Retained earnings in statutory accounts can be distributed except jurisdiction stated below related to legal reserves. 

 

The legal reserves consist of first and second reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code 

(“TCC”). The TCC stipulates that the first legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory profits at the rate of 5% per 

annum, until the total reserve reaches 20% of the Company’s paid-in/authorized share capital. The second legal reserve 

is appropriated at the rate of 10% per annum of all cash distributions in excess of 5% of the paid-in/authorized share 

capital. Under the TCC, the legal reserves can only be used to offset losses and are not available for any other usage 

unless they exceed 50% of paid-in/authorized share capital. Total amount of the restricted reserves of the Group isTL 

284.078 (31 December 2019: TL 231.153). 

 

The aforementioned legal reserves and special reserves shall be classified in “Restricted reserves” in accordance with 

POA Financial Reporting Standards. Details of the restricted reserves as of  31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 

are as follows: 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Legal reserves 192,662 180,110 

Gain on sale of shares of associates 87,816 48,843 

Corporate tax deduction 3,600 2,200 
 

 284,078 231,153 
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NOTE 24 - REVENUE 

 2020 2019 

 

Domestic sales 1,179,249 1,086,087 

Exports 775 1,107 
 

Gross profit 1,180,024 1,087,194 
 

Sales returns (-) (18,327) (6,249) 

Sales discounts (-) (252,565) (203,869) 
 

Net sales 909,132 877,076 
 

Cost of sales (-) (608,463) (561,262) 
 

Gross profit 300,669 315,814 

 

 

NOTE 25 - GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND MARKETING EXPENSES 

 

 2020 2019 

General administrative expenses 
 

Personnel expenses 29,182 22,875 

Consultancy expenses 15,442 11,917 

Tax, duties and charges 6,901 5,897 

Depreciation and amortization expenses (Note 14, 17, 18 ve 19) 5,220 5,312 

Provision for employement termination benefits (Note 21) 3,631 1,952 

Advertisement, presentation expenses 3,151 3,362 

Rent expenses 2,537 1,657 

Market research expenses 1,773 1,431 

Maintenance expenses 1,348 1,259 

Contribution and office expenses 1,169 1,039 

Other 10,960 7,065 
 

 81,314 63,766 

 

Marketing expenses   
 

Personnel expenses 46,742 54,142 

Advertisement, presentation and promotion expenses 31,282 37,540 

Depreciation and amortization expenses (Note 14, 17, 18 ve 19) 12,284 10,063 

Transportation, distribution and warehousing expenses 10,107 10,516 

Technical support, license and know-how expenses 3,567 3,192 

Fuel, energy and water expenses 1,618 3,132 

Travelling expenses 1,111 2,495 

Consultancy expenses 726 441 

Education expenses 515 1,492 

Rent expenses 408 324 

Outsourcing services expenses  219 535 

Other 2,546 2,549 
 

 111,125 126,421 
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NOTE 26 - EXPENSES BY NATURE 

 

 2020 2019 

 

Purchase and consumption of inventories 576,923 534,876 

Personnel expenses 75,924 77,017 

Advertisement and promotion expenses 34,433 40,902 

Depreciation and amortization expenses (Note 14, 17, 18 and 19) 23,286 21,357 

Consultancy expenses 16,168 12,358 

Transportation, distribution and warehousing expenses 10,107 10,516 

Changes in commercial inventories 5,694 8,380 

Provision for employment termination benefits (Note 21) 3,631 1,952 

Rent expenses 2,945 1,981 

Research expenses 1,773 1,431 

Office expenses 1,169 1,039 

Contract manufacturing expense 219 535 

Other 48,630 39,105 
 

 800,902 751,449 

 
 
NOTE 27 - OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 

 2020 2019 

Other operating income 
 

Foreign exchange gains from bank deposits 291,668 126,188 

Interest income from bank deposits 25,659 24,842 

Foreign exchange gains from trade receivables and payables 17,415 32,128 

Credit finance income 11,156 3,371 

Other 6,961 1,549 
 

 352,859 188,078 

  

Other operating expenses 
 

Foreign exchange losses from bank deposits 115,057 61,594 

Foreign exchange losses from trade receivables and payables 39,492 15,688 

Credit finance expenses 5,891 9,563 

Donation expenses 317 658 

Provision expense for legal case (Note 20) - 65 

Other 3,127 1,231 
 

 163,884 88,799 
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NOTE 28 - INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 

 2020 2019 

Income from investing activities 
 

Dividend income (Note 9) 66,904 79,511 

Earnings from disposal of subsidiaries 7,491 33,217 

Earnings from disposal of fixed assets 1,289 302 

Other 1,276 580 
 

 76,960 113,610 

 

Expenses from investing activities  
 

Losses from sales of intangible assets 346 - 

Losses from sales of tangible assets 36 23 

Other - 174 
 

 382 197 

 
 
NOTE 29 - FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 

 2020 2019 

Financial income  
 

Derivative transactions income 33,542 1,579 

Foreign currency differences income 18,873 2,767 

Foreign exchange gains from leasing 2,601 - 
 

 55,016 4,346 

 

Financial expenses  
 

Interest expense from bank borrowings 16,973 19,359 

Derivative transactions expenses 15,050 50,014 

Foreign exchange losses 7,578 2,427 

Foreign exchange gains from leasing 5,232 2,711 

Interest expense from leasing transfers  2,583 1,858 

Commissions of letter of guarantees 538 448 

Other 415 638 
 

 48,369 77,455 
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NOTE 30 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

 

a) Current income tax on profits 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Corporate and income taxes payable (Company) 58,953 38,551 

Prepaid taxes (Company) (61,653) (25,194) 
 

 (2,700) 13,357 
 

Corporate and income taxes payable (Subsidiary) 8 - 

Prepaid taxes (Subsidiary) (4,286) (224) 
 

 (4,278) (224) 
 

Current income tax assets (6,978) 13,133 

 

Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates to file 

a consolidated tax return. Therefore, provisions for taxes, as reflected in these consolidated financial statements, 

have been calculated on a separate-entity basis. 

 

Corporate Tax Law is changed with Law No, 5520 dated 13 June 2006, and most of the articles of mentioned law 

have become effective as of 1 January 2006. Accordingly, corporate tax rate in Turkey is 22% for 2020  

(2019: 22%). Corporation tax is payable on the total income of the Company after adjusting for certain disallowable 

expenses, corporate income tax exemptions (participation exemption, investment incentive allowance, etc.) and 

corporate income tax deductions (like research and development expenditures deduction). No further tax is payable 

unless the profit is distributed except withholding tax at the rate of 19.8% on the investment incentive allowance 

utilized within the scope of the Income Tax Law Transitional Article 61. 

 

Dividends paid to non-resident corporations, which have a place of business in Turkey, or resident corporations are 

not subject to withholding tax. Otherwise, dividends paid are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 15%.  

An increase in capital via issuing bonus shares is not considered as a profit distribution and thus does not incur 

withholding tax. 

 

Corporations are required to pay advance corporation tax quarterly at the rate of 22% on their corporate income by 

preparing tax declaration within the period of two months and 14 days subsequent to the corresponding quarter. 

Advance tax is payable by the 17th of the second month following each calendar quarter end. Advance tax paid by 

corporations is credited against the annual corporation tax liability. The balance of the advance tax paid may be 

refunded or used to set off against other liabilities to the government. 

 

In accordance with Tax Law No, 5024 “Law Related to Changes in Tax Procedural Law, Income Tax Law and 

Corporate Tax Law” that was published on the Official Gazette on 30 December 2003 to amend the tax base for 

non-monetary assets and liabilities, effective from 1 January 2004, income and corporate taxpayers will prepare the 

statutory financial statements by adjusting the non-monetary assets and liabilities for the changes in the general 

purchasing power of Turkish Lira. In accordance with the aforementioned law provisions, in order to apply inflation 

adjustment, cumulative inflation rate (SIS-WPI) over last 36 months and 12 months must exceed 100% and 10%, 

respectively. Inflation adjustment was not applied as these conditions were not fulfilled in the period ended 2020 

and year ended 2019. 

 

Under the Turkish taxation system, tax losses can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income for up 

to five years. Tax losses cannot be carried back to offset profits from previous periods. 
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NOTE 30 -  TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

(Continued) 

 

a) Current income tax on profits (Continued) 

 

Turkish Corporate Tax Law No, 5422 on “Exemption of real estate and investment sales gains” has been amended 

by Law No: 5520 effective from 1 January 2006. A 75% portion of the gains derived from the sale of preferential 

rights, usufruct shares and founding shares from investment equity and real property which has remained in assets 

for more than two full years is exempt from corporate tax. 

 

In accordance with Article 32/A4 added with the New Corporate Tax Law No. 5838 Article 9, the discounted rate is 

applied to the earnings derived from capacity expansion investment, when these earnings could be accounted 

separately in the books of a company. When these earnings could not be accounted separately in the books, the 

earnings, to which the discounted rate will be applied, is determined by using the percentage of the amount of 

capacity expansion investment to the carrying amount of registered total tangible asset (including amounts relating 

to construction in progress) that company at period end. For this calculation, the carrying amount of registered total 

tangible asset in the company assets is taken into consideration with their revalued amounts. The application of the 

discounted rate commences in the advance tax period in which the investment partly or fully starts to its operations. 

 

The taxes on income reflected to the consolidated income statement of the periods ended 31 December 2020 and  

2019 are summarized below: 

 

 2020 2019 
 

Current income tax expenses (-) (58,961) (38,551) 

Deferred tax income/(expenses) (4,891) 8,162 
 

Total tax expenses (-) (63,852) (30,389) 

 

The reconciliation as of 31 December corporation tax expense included in the consolidated statement of income 

to the tax expense calculated with the current tax rate on the consolidated income before taxes are as follows: 

 

 2020 2019 

 

Profit before tax 385,966 193,117 
 

Current year corporation tax expense (22%) (84,913) (42,486) 

Tax effect of disallowable expenses (808) (223) 

Exemption of dividend and other tax-exempt income 14,728 17,492 

Loss not subject to deferred tax calculation 647 720 

Impact of other adjustments tax free 3,807 9,723 

Equity method accounting 1,219 (15,860) 

Other 1,468 245 
 

Total tax expenses (-) (63,852) (30,389) 
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NOTE 30 -  TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

(Continued) 
 

b) Deferred tax 

 

The Group recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between the 

financial statements prepared in accordance with TAS/TFRS and the tax financial statements. Such temporary 

differences generally arise due to revenues and expenses being recognized in different fiscal periods in 

accordance with tax regulations and TAS/TFRS. The tax rate used for deferred tax assets and liabilities is 20%  

(31 December 2019: 22%). 

 

In accordance with the regulation numbered 7061, published in Official Gazette on 5 December 2017," Law on 

the Amendment of Some Tax Acts and Some Other Laws”, corporate tax rate for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020 

has increased from 20% to 22%. Therefore, deferred tax assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2019 are 

calculated with 22% tax rate for the temporary differences which will be realized in 2019 and 2020, and with 

20% tax for those which will be realized after 2021 and onwards, however since the effect of change in tax rate 

on financial statements is immaterial, calculated amount is not accounted in financial statements as of 31 

December 2020. 

 
The breakdown of cumulative temporary differences and the resulting deferred tax assets and liabilities provided 
at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 using the enacted tax rates is as follows: 
 

  Cumulative temporary   Deferred tax assets/  

  differences   (liabilities)  
 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 

Difference between the tax base and 

   carrying amount of investment property 

   plant and equipment and intangible assets (13,019) (15,424) 2,604 3,393 

Provision for employment termination benefits (7,091) (4,118) 1,415 827 

Liabilities from financial lease (4,009) (2,427) 802 534 

Provision for doubtful receivables (2,887) (2,890) 577 631 

Derivative financial instruments (4,254) (18,033) 851 3,967 

Difference between the tax base and carrying 

   amount of inventories (3,118) (2,924) 624 641 

Provision for unused vacation (2,835) (3,415) 567 690 

Deferred revenue (2,321) (2,958) 464 651 

Provision for litigations (1,117) (1,371) 223 302 

Carry forward tax losses - (2,788) - 558 
 

Deferred tax assets (**)   8,127 12,194 
 

Fair value differences of available 

      for-sale financial assets (*) 3,961,939 3,198,587 (198,097) (159,929) 

Deferred credit finance expenses 1,248 775 (250) (170) 

Other 4,415 630 (883) (139) 
 

Deferred tax liabilities (-) (**)   (199,230) (160,238) 
 

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities), net    (191,103) (148,044) 
 

(*)  Difference between fair value and book value amounts to TL 3,961,939 (31 December 2019: TL 3,198,587) and 

based on the 75% exemption from the corporate tax denoted in Article 5, subsection (1), clause (e) of Corporate Tax 

Law No, 5520, deferred tax is calculated by applying 5% effective tax rate. 
 

(**)  Since deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in the schedule above are summarized by nature of the temporary 

differences subject to deferred tax, they express the offset of deferred tax liability amounting to TL 199,230   

(31 December 2019: TL 160,238) and deferred tax asset amounting to TL 8,127 (31 December 2019:  

TL 12,194) presented in the financial statements, which are calculated on a separate entity basis for all companies 

included in the scope of consolidation. 
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NOTE 30 -  TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

(Continued) 

 
b) Deferred tax (Continued) 
 

As a result of the evaluations made, it is probable that the Group will be able to deduct the temporary differences 

that can be deducted from the deductible temporary differences amounting to TL 5,382 (31 December 2019:  

TL 7,763) as of 31 December 2020 from the deductible temporary differences amounting to TL 1,076 (31 

December 2019: TL 1,553) have not been recognized in the deferred tax asset. 
 

The expiry date of the right to use deferred tax assets for which no deferred tax asset is allocated is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Ends in 2021 1,183 1,183 

Ends in 2022 1,634 1,634 

Ends in 2023 2,114 2,114 

Ends in 2024 451 2,832 
 

 5,382 7,763 

 

Since each of the Subsidiaries is taxpayers separately, a net deferred tax asset or liability is calculated for each 

taxpayer, but these amounts are not offset in the statement of financial position. 

 

The movement of deferred tax liabilities in the period is as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 
 

As of 1 January (148,044) (139,461) 

Current year deferred tax income/(expense) (4,891) 8,162 

Deferred tax liability accounted under equity resulting from 

   increase in value of available-for-sale financial assets (*) (38,168) (16,745) 
 

As of 31 December (191,103) (148,044) 

 

(*) It consists of tax that is recognized directly in shareholders' equity. In shareholders' equity, no tax is transferred to the 

profit and loss account. 

 

 

NOTE 31 - EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 

Net gain attributable to equity holders  

   of the Company 322,089 162,728 
 

Profit from continuous operations 322,089 162,728 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary  

   shares with face value of Kr 1 each 68,526,000,000 68,526,000,000 

 

Earnings per share (TL) 0.4700 0.2375 
 

Basic earnings per share from continuous operations 0.4700 0.2375 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Group is exposed to variety of financial risks due to its operations. These risks include credit risk, market 

risk (foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management 

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects 

on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk management is carried out by the Subsidiaries and Joint 

Ventures of the Group under policies approved by their own Boards of Directors. 

 

a) Credit risk 

 

The ownership of financial assets is exposed to the risk that the counterparty complies with contractual terms. 

These risks are managed by credit evaluation and distribution of the total risk of a single counterparty. Credit 

risk is distributed via the number of institutes that form the customer database and their different fields of 

business activities. The Group collects its receivables before their maturity with factoring practices, as may be 

required. This is an application parallel to irreversible risk management. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (Continued) 
 

Details of credit and receivable risk as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

    Receivables  

    Trade receivables   Other receivables  

 Related  Related  Deposits in 

Credit risks exposed by types of financial instruments parties Other parties Other banks Other (*) 
 

Maximum credit risk exposed as of 31 December 2020 

   (A+B+C+D) (**)  1,968 223,557 440 240 856,115 129,285 
 

 -  Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees  - 138,054 - - - - 
  

A.  Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due not impaired 1,968 218,166 440 240 856,115 129,285 

 

B.  Carrying value of financial assets that are past due but not impaired (***) - 5,391 - - - - 

 

C.  Net book value of the impaired assets       

-   Past due (gross carrying amount) - 3,460 - - - - 

-   Impairment (-) - (3,460) - - - - 

-   Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - - - - - - 

-   Not overdue (gross amount) - - - - - - 

-   Impairment (-) - - - - - - 

-   Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - - - - - - 

D.  Off-balance sheet items include credit risk - - - - - - 

 
(*) Item contains the financial assets measured at fair value and attributable to income statements. 

(**) The area implies the sum of A, B, C, and D. Amounts showing the maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date by excluding guarantees in hand and other factors that increase the 

credit quality. 

(***) As of 31 December 2020, the aging explanations related with past due but not impaired assets indicated in the aging table of “Past due but not impaired trade receivables”. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

a) Credit risk (Continued) 
 

    Receivables  

    Trade receivables   Other receivables  

 Related  Related  Deposits in 

Credit risks exposed by types of financial instruments parties Other parties Other banks Other (*) 

 

Maximum credit risk exposed as of 31 December 2019  1,089 232,400 361 150 672,780 4,943 

   (A+B+C+D) (**)       

 

- Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees - 161,999 - - - - 

 

A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due not impaired 1,089 229,470 361 150 672,780 4,943 

 

B. Carrying value of financial assets that are past due but not impaired (***) - 2,930 - - - - 

 

C. Net book value of the impaired assets       

- Past due (gross carrying amount) - 3,460 - - - - 

- Impairment (-) - (3,460) - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees. etc. - - - - - - 

- Not overdue (gross amount) - - - - - - 

- Impairment (-) - - - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees. etc. - - - - - - 

 

D. Off-balance sheet items include credit risk - - - - - - 

 

(*) Item contains the financial assets measured at fair value and attributable to income statements. 

(**) The area implies the sum of A, B, C, and D. Amounts showing the maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date by excluding guarantees in hand and other factors 

that increase the credit quality. 

(***) As of 31 December 2019, the aging explanations related with past due but not impaired assets indicated in the aging table of “Past due but not impaired trade receivables”. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (Continued) 

 

Details of the past due but not impaired receivables for the years ended at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as 

follows: 

 

  Trade receivables  

31 December 2020  Related parties Other 
 

Past due up to 30 days  - 1,702 

Past due 1 - 3 months  - 2,419 

Past due 3 - 12 months  - 1,858 

Past due 1 - 5 year (*)  - 42 
 

   - 5,391 

 

  Trade receivables  

31 December 2019  Related parties Other 
 

Past due up to 30 days  - 1,706 

Past due 1 - 3 months  - 738 

Past due 3 - 12 months  - 285 

Past due 1 - 5 year (*)  - 201 
 

   - 2,930 
 

(*) The most of past due 1 - 5 year receivables consist of the legal authorities and the Group does not expect any 

recoverability risk on receivables. 

 

b) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk management consists of the holding sufficient cash and cash equivalents, funding via loans and 

capability to close short positions. Additionally, the Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining 

the availability of committed credit lines. 

 

The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities is as follows: 

 

  31 December 2020  

   Total    More 

  contractual Up to 3-12 1-5 than 

Non-derivative Carrying cash outflow 3 months months years 5 years 

   financial liabilities value (I+II+III+IV) (I) (II) (III) (IV) 
 

Payables from leases 24,587 25,538 3,781 10,555 11,202 - 

Financial liabilities 142,882 154,465 27,569 85,689 41,207 - 

Trade payables due to  

   related parties 15,752 15,752 15,752 - - - 

Other trade payables 259,238 260,465 62,049 190,033 8,383 - 

Other payables and liabilities 10,043 10,043 1,011 9,032 - - 
 

Total non-derivative 

   financial liabilities 452,502 466,263 110,162 295,309 60,792 - 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) 

 

  31 December 2019  

   Total    More 

  contractual Up to 3-12 1-5 than 

Non-derivative Carrying cash outflow 3 months months years 5 years 

   financial liabilities value (I+II+III+IV) (I) (II) (III) (IV) 
 

Payables from leases 17,164 18,894 3,025 7,235 8,134 - 

Financial liabilities 80,650 94,963 24,227 58,188 12,548 - 

Trade payables due to  

   related parties 9,594 9,596 9,596 - - - 

Other trade payables 221,721 222,493 44,251 171,458 6,784 - 

Other payables and liabilities 10,410 10,410 1,764 8,646 - - 
 

Total non-derivative 

   financial liabilities 339,539 354,356 82,863 246,027 27,466 - 

 

c) Market risk 

 

i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing liabilities and 

assets, these exposures are managed by offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities and using derivative 

instruments when considered necessary. 

 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through floating interest rates bank borrowings. The Group is also 

exposed to fair value interest risk through fixed rate bank borrowings.  

 

Financial instruments with fixed interest rates 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Financial assets   
 

Cash and cash equivalents 856,115 672,782 

 

Financial liabilities   
 

Financial liabilities 167,469 97,814 

 

As disclosed above the Group’s financial instruments have fixed interest rates. However as indicated in Note 6, 8, 

the maturities of cash and cash equivalents are 1 month or less, while the maturity of financial liabilities is 2 years 

or less. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (Continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk 

 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk through conversion of liabilities to functional currency. The risks 

get under control via analyzing foreign exchange positions. 

 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk for EUR and USD, in this context, the exchange risk analysis 

related with main foreign currencies as follows: 

 
  31 December 2020  

  Profit/(loss)   Equity  

 Appreciation Depreciation Appreciation Depreciation 

 of foreign of foreign of foreign of foreign 

 currency currency currency  currency 
 

In case of 20% change in USD against TL: 
 

USD net asset / (liability) 80,987 (80,987) 80,987 (80,987) 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

USD net effect 80,987 (80,987) 80,987 (80,987) 

 
In case of 20% change in EUR against TL: 
 

EUR net asset / (liability) 46,905 (46,905) 46,905 (46,905) 

Secured position (-) (21,619) 21,619 (21,619) 21,619 

 

EUR net effect 25,286 (25,286) 25,286 (25,286) 

 
In case of 20% change in other foreign 

   exchange rates against TL: 
 

Other foreign currency net asset / (liability) (10,649) 10,649 (10,649) 10,649 

Secured position (-) (8,549) 8,549 (8,549) 8,549 

 

Other foreign currencies net effect (19,198) 19,198 (19,198) 19,198 
 

Total 87,075 (87,075) 87,075 (87,075) 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (Continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) 

 
  31 December 2019  

  Profit/(loss)   Equity  

 Appreciation Depreciation Appreciation Depreciation 

 of foreign of foreign of foreign of foreign 

 currency currency currency  currency 
 

In case of 20% change in USD against TL: 
 

USD net asset / (liability) 45,068 (45,068) 45,068 (45,068) 

Secured position (-) (7,128) 7,128 (7,128) 7,128 
 

USD net effect 37,940 (37,940) 37,940 (37,940) 

 

In case of 20% change in EUR against TL: 
 

EUR net asset / (liability) 35,102 (35,102) 35,102 (35,102) 

Secured position (-) (5,986) 5,986 (5,986) 5,986 

 

EUR net effect 29,116 (29,116) 29,116 (29,116) 

 

In case of 20% change in other foreign 

   exchange rates against TL: 
 

Other foreign currency net asset / (liability) 1,833 (1,833) 1,833 (1,833) 

Secured position (-) (1,833) 1,833 (1,833) 1,833 

 

Other foreign currencies net effect - - - - 
 

Total 67,056 (67,056) 67,056 (67,056) 

 

TL equivalents of assets and liabilities held by the Group denominated in foreign currency at 31 December in 

consideration of foreign exchange rates are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

USD 7.3405 5.9402 

EUR 9.0079 6.6506 

GBP 9.9438 7.7765 

CHF 8.2841 6.0932 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (Continued) 

 

The amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in original and foreign currencies and their TL equivalents as 

of 31 December 2020 were as follows:  

 

  31 December 2020  

  Original amounts  

 Total   

 TL equivalent USD EUR CHF (*) 
 

Monetary financial assets 799,758 51,883 46,137 3,314 

Trade receivables 5,569 35 587 25 
 

Current assets 805,327 51,918 46,724 3,339 

 

Monetary financial assets 104,213 14,197 - - 

Other non-current assets 3,763  - 418 - 
 

Non-current assets 107,976 14,197 418 - 
 

Total assets 913,303 66,115 47,142 3,339 

 

Trade payables 126,531 9,790 4,734 12,027 

Financial liabilities 15,299 - 1,497 1,813 

Monetary financial liabilities 4,933 672 - - 
 

Short term liabilities 146,763 10,462 6,231 13,840 

 

Monetary financial liabilities 19,498 489 1,766 - 

Financial liabilities 9,990 - 1,109 - 
 

Long term liabilities 29,488 489 2,875 - 
 

Total liabilities 176,251 10,951 9,106 13,840 

 

Net asset / (liability) position of 

   derivative financial assets (A-B) (150,841) - (12,000) (42,746) 

A.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

   derivative financial assets - - - - 

B.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

   derivative financial liabilities 150,841 - 12,000 42,746 
 

Net foreign currency asset /  

(liability) position 586,211 55,164 26.036 (53,247) 
 

Net foreign currency asset / 

(liability) position 737,052 55,164 38.036 (10,501) 
 

Export - - - - 

Import 342,996 21,438 15.160 49,074 

 

(*) The relevant balance consists of the total TL equivalent of other currencies as of 31 December 2020. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (Continued) 

 

The amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in original and foreign currencies and their TL equivalents as 

of 31 December 2019 were as follows:  

 

  31 December 2019  

  Original amounts  

 Total   

 TL equivalent USD EUR CHF (*) 
 

Monetary financial assets 589,405 56,641 38,034 - 

Trade receivables 1,299 - 195 - 
 

Current assets 590,704 56,641 38,229 - 

 

Monetary financial assets 3,689 621 - - 
 

Non-current assets 3,689 621 - - 
 

Total assets 594,393 57,262 38,229 - 

 

Trade payables 102,524 12,052 3,273 9,166 

Financial liabilities 6,610 - 994 - 

Monetary financial liabilities 3,984 671 - - 
 

Short term liabilities 113,118 12,723 4,267 9,166 

 

Monetary financial liabilities 19,498 604 2,393 - 

Financial liabilities 4,522 - 680 - 
 

Long term liabilities 24,020 604 3,073 - 
 

Total liabilities 137,138 13,327 7,339 9,166 

 

Net asset / (liability) position of 

   derivative financial assets (A-B) (94,816) (6,000) (4,500) (29,247) 

A.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

   derivative financial assets - - - - 

B.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

   derivative financial liabilities (94,816) (6,000) (4,500) (29,247) 
 

Net foreign currency asset /  

(liability) position 362,439 37,935 26,390 (38,413) 
 

Net foreign currency asset / 

(liability) position 457,255 43,935 30,890 (9,166) 
 

Export - - - - 

Import 309,553 27,292 17,177 33,196 

 

(*) The relevant balance consists of the total TL equivalent of other currencies as of 31 December 2019. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

d) Categories and fair values of financial instruments  

      

   Financial assets at   

 Financial assets at  fair value in other   

 fair value through Financial liabilities comprehensive   

31 December 2020 profit or loss stated at amortized cost income     Carrying amount Note 

 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - 856,115 - 856,115 6 

Trade receivables - 223,536 - 223,536 10 

Receivables from related parties - 1,968 - 1,968 9 

Financial investments 129,285 - 4,117,911 4,247,196 7 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities - 142,882 - 142,882 8 

Payables from leases - 24,587 - 24,587 8 

Derivatives financial instruments - 4,254 - 4,254 16 

Trade payables - 259,238 - 259,238 10 

Payables to related parties - 15,752 - 15,752 9 

 

Group Management believes that the carrying amount of financial instruments represent their fair values. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

d) Categories and fair values of financial instruments (Continued) 

      

   Financial assets at   

 Financial assets at  fair value in other   

 fair value through Financial liabilities comprehensive   

31 December 2019 profit or loss stated at amortized cost income Carrying amount Note 

 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - 672,782 - 672,782 6 

Trade receivables - 232,400 - 232,400 10 

Receivables from related parties - 1,089 - 1,089 9 

Financial investments 4,943 - 3,354,559 3,359,502 7 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities - 80,650 - 80,650 8 

Payables from leases - 17,164 - 17,164 8 

Derivatives financial instruments - 18,033 - 18,033 16 

Trade payables - 221,721 - 221,721 10 

Payables to related parties - 9,594 - 9,594 9 

 

Group Management believes that the carrying amount of financial instruments represent their fair values. 
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NOTE 32 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

e) Capital risk management 

 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns 

while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. 

 

The capital structure of the Company consists of debts including the borrowings and other debts disclosed in 

Notes 8, 9 and 10, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in Note 6 and equity attributable to equity holders of the 

parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in Note 23. 

 

The Group Management considers the cost of capital and risks associated with each class of capital. The 

Company Management aims to balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share 

issues and the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. 

 

The Group controls its capital using the net debt/total equity ratio. This ratio is the calculated as net debt divided 

by the total equity amount. Net debt is calculated as total liability amount (comprises of financial liabilities, 

leasing and trade payables as presented in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. 

 

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s net debt/total equity ratio is detailed as follows: 

 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 

Financial liabilities (*) 167,469 97,814 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents and   

    current financial investments (856,115) (672,782) 
 

Net debt (688,646) (574,968) 

 

Total equity 5,282,308 4,277,258 

Total capital 4,593,662 3,702,290 
 

Net debt/total capital 15% 16% 

 

(*) IFRS 16 lease obligation and bank loans total 

 

The general strategy of the Group does not differ from the previous period. 
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NOTE 33 - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 

i) At the Board of Directors meeting of EİP, the subsidiary of the Company, dated 5 February 2021; The 

exclusive Distribution Agreement concluded with Baxter Group in 2016 expired in 2021, and Baxter Group 

conveyed to EİP its request to run the relevant business line within its own organization. In the health sector, 

this demand of Baxter Group and other strategic options have been evaluated within the framework of the 

developments and expectations regarding the development of the sector within the scope of the Covid-19 

pandemic, which has affected the whole world, and within this scope, the distribution of hospital products 

carried out by EIP and the hospital It has been decided to sign an Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement 

between EİP and Baxter on February 5, 2021 for the transfer of certain asset values of its products to Baxter. 

 

 In accordance with the relevant Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, Baxter to EİP: 
 

- On May 3, 2021, the first business day after May 1, 2021 ("Transfer Date"), which is the transfer date of 

the amount of USD 3.7 million + VAT for the transfer of assets excluding inventory and fixed assets 

included in the relevant line of business, 

- For the transfer of inventory and fixed assets included in the relevant line of business, 180 days after the 

transfer date of the amount calculated by the counting to be made just before the Transfer Date and 

converted into US Dollars at the Turkish Central Bank's US Dollar / TL foreign exchange buying rate 

valid on the date of the count, 

- Until January 31, 2022, of the additional performance fee, which will be determined depending on the net 

turnover to be created by the relevant business line in 2021 and can increase up to a maximum of USD 

550,000, 
 

payment has been stipulated. The employment contracts of the employees within the scope of the business 

line to be transferred will be transferred to Baxter with all their rights and obligations as of the Transfer Date. 

Regarding the transfer, an application for permission will be made to the Competition Authority. 

 

ii) At the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. held on January 20, 2021, it was 

decided to distribute a dividend of TL 130,546 (TL 48,669 per share of the Company) and the said amount 

was paid to the Company on January 21, 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

…………………………. 
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	The proportion of voting power held on joint ventures by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı Family members and the total proportion of ownership interests at 31...
	The subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. are presented below;
	2.1.4  Basis of Consolidation (Continued)
	Significant changes in accounting policies are applied retrospectively and prior period financial statements are restated. Group’s significant accounting policies that are used for the preparation of consolidated financial statements for the period en...
	a) New standards, amendments and interpretations applicable as at 31 December 2020:

	In accordance with TFRS 15 "Revenue Standard from Customer Agreements", which is effective as of  1 January 2018, Group accounts in the financial statements of the revenue consignment in accordance with the following five-tiered model.
	• Identification of customer contracts
	• Identification of performance obligations
	• Determination of transaction price in the contract
	• Allocation of price to performance obligations
	• Recognition of revenue
	The Group assesses the goods or services undertaken by each contract made with the customers and sets each commitment to transfer such goods or services as a separate performance obligation.
	For each performance obligation, at the beginning of the contract, the obligation to fulfill the obligation is to be delivered in time or at a certain time. When the control of a good or service is over time and the Group fulfills its performance obli...
	When Group fulfills the obligation to perform the obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the customer, it records the transaction value corresponding to the obligation as revenue in the consolidated financial statements. When the con...
	When Group evaluates the transfer of the customer for the control of the goods or services sold,
	a) Group owns the right to collect the goods or services,,
	b) Owns legal ownership of the goods or services,
	c) The transfer of the possession of the goods or services,
	d) Ownership of the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property of the customer,
	e) Takes into consideration the conditions under which the customer accepts goods or services.
	Group does not make any adjustments to the effect of a significant financing component at the commitment price
	Classification and measurement
	Group classified its financial assets in three categories; financial assets carried at amortized cost, financial assets carried at fair value though profit of loss, financial assets carried at fair value though other comprehensive income. Classificati...
	NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
	3.15 Financial assets (Continued)
	a) Assets recognized at amortized cost
	Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, whose payments are fixed or predetermined, which are not actively traded and which are not derivative instruments...
	Impairment
	Group has applied simplified approach and used impairment matrix for the calculation of impairment on its receivables carried at amortized cost, since they do not comprise of any significant finance component. In accordance with this method, if any pr...
	b) Financial assets carried at fair value
	Assets that are held by the management for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets are measured at their fair value. If the management do not plan to dispose these assets in 12 months after the balance sheet date, the...
	i) Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss
	Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss comprise of “derivative instruments” in the statement of financial position. Derivative instruments are recognized as asset when the fair value of the instrument is positive, as liability w...
	ii) Financial assets carried at value through other comprehensive income
	Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income comprise of “financial assets” in the statement of financial position. In addition, trade receivables collected from factoring companies due to without recourse factoring activi...
	a) Balances with related parties at 31 December:
	a) Balances with related parties at 31 December (Continued):
	Contract  Fair values  Contract  Fair values
	Liquidity risk management consists of the holding sufficient cash and cash equivalents, funding via loans and capability to close short positions. Additionally, the Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining the availability of commi...
	The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities is as follows:
	As disclosed above the Group’s financial instruments have fixed interest rates. However as indicated in Note 6, 8, the maturities of cash and cash equivalents are 1 month or less, while the maturity of financial liabilities is 2 years or less.
	ii) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)




